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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Group is a long established contractor in Hong Kong and
is principally engaged in the provision of foundation works
(including the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel
H-piles and driven steel H piles, and other civil work, including site
formation works, and road and pavement works) and tunneling
works (including pipe jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-over
tunnel works). We had diversified and expanded our foundation
and other civil works to the Philippines. After the completion of
the acquisition of BGIl Marine, we have further diversified and
expanded to the areas which include conservation and utilization
of aquatic genetic resources, molecular breeding of aquaculture
species, ecological and industrial process of aquatic products,
import and export trade.

The Group has also invested in an associate for the purpose of the
development of the Birmingham Property Project. The Birmingham
Property Project consists of 304 residential apartments situated at
the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the United Kingdom. As at the
date of this annual report, about 61.8% of the apartments have
been pre-sold and the Birmingham Property Project is expected
to be completed by the year 2020.

2020 Financial Year was a year full of challenges to the Group. The
market confidence was generally negatively impacted after the
escalation of the Sino-US trade dispute and the uncertainties have
been reduced subsequently after the China and US Government
signed the “Phase One” initial trade agreement in January 2020.
However, the social unrest in Hong Kong since the third quarter
of 2019 slowed down the local economy and has driven the gross
domestic product growth in 2019 to negative. The outbreak of
the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic in the first quarter of
2020 and the implementation of the quarantine policy in response
to the epidemic delayed the resumption of work and production
all over the world. Despite the above challenges in 2019/2020,
we, together with our dedicated staff, have achieved an increase
in revenue in the 2020 Financial Year.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

RESULT SUMMARY

During the 2020 Financial Year, the Group recorded a
consolidated revenue of approximately HK$980.1 million,
representing an increase of 63.3% from the 2019 Corresponding
Year. Gross Profit of the Group amounted HK$109.6 million,
a decrease of 5.7% from the 2019 Corresponding Year. Profit
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$24.6
million representing a decrease of 40.1% as compared to the
2019 Corresponding Year. Earnings per share were HK$0.05 for
the 2020 Financial Year comparing with HK$0.08 for the 2019
Corresponding Year. The Group maintained healthy financial
position with net current assets of HK$122.8 million and net cash
position at the financial year end.

Despite the challenges and difficulties, with the dedicated support
of our staff and customers, the Group has been successfully
awarded 14 contracts with original contract sums of totaling
HK$752.5 million and the outstanding contract value (based on
the original contract value) as at 31 March 2020 amounted to
approximately HK$918.7 million.

OUTLOOK

As stipulated in the Hong Kong Government’s 2019-2020
Budget, the Government will continue to launch large scale
infrastructure projects and to increase land supply to the public
and the private sectors For infrastructure work, HK$79.1 billion
were budgeted. For public housing supply, the Hong Kong
Government’s 10-year housing supply target is set at 450,000
flats, while the public-private flat ration of 60:40 will be adjusted
to 70:30. All of these government policies will help to create new
projects for the construction industry in Hong Kong, and we are
cautiously optimistic about the construction market in the medium
to the long term.

Through cooperation with coastal provinces and cities, BGI Marine
will further expand its production capacity based on its existing
research on aquatic organism omics (such as Aquatic Giga Data)
and extensive experiences in cultivation (such as Marine Ranch/
Modularized high-efficient recirculating aquaculture system)
and other advantages. The business expansion will focus on (i)
cultivation and sale of seedlings of aquatic organisms with high
economic values, including Chinese mitten crabs (i.e. hairy crab),
sturgeon eggs (used for making caviar), Chinese soft-shelled
turtles and other species; (i) commitment to preparing further
development and verification for marine biological drugs on top of
the existing development of drugs that are still in the process of
scientific research, as well as marine bioengineering tests (such as
biosynthesized animal care preparation Antimicrobial Peptide and
Calcitonin); and (iii) actively developing functional foods extracted
from marine organism.
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ERBE

Looking ahead, the Group will maintain the foundation and
tunneling business in Hong Kong as the core business of the Group
and will continue our strategic strategy to diversify the business
spectrum and to broaden the revenue base of the Group. In addition,
the Group will consolidate and improve the Aquatic Giga Data of BGl
Marine to develop functional food and aquatic biopharmaceuticals
by further utilizing the advantages of massive research of aquatic
organism omics. At the same time, by leveraging the existing
advantages of aquatic biological drugs and aquatic bioengineering
during our industrial expansion, we are looking for opportunities
to conduct research and cooperation with scientists in domestic
and international professional fields on the development of new
industries.

APPRECIATION

I would like to this opportunity to express my heartfelt
appreciation to the board members, management team and staff
for their dedication and their valuable contributions.

I would also like to thank our customers, subcontractors and
suppliers, other business partners and, most importantly, our
Shareholders of their continue support to the Group for the past
years.

Jim Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 July 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the 2020 Financial Year, the revenue of the Group increased
to approximately HK$980.1 million (2019 Corresponding Year:
HK$600.3 million), an increase of 63.3%. The increase in revenue
is the combined effect of the revenue contributed from new
subsidiaries acquired in March 2020 of approximately HK$197.3
million, which are engaged in the breading, sales and trading
of aquatic products, the increase in revenue of the foundation
and other civil works by HK$194.5 million, an increase of 38.5%
and offset by the decrease in revenue of the tunneling works by
HK$3.5 million, a decrease of 4.0%.

During the 2020 Financial Year, the Group has been awarded 14
contracts with original contract sums of approximately HK$752.5
million of which all were for foundation works in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total of 28 major
contracts on hands with the outstanding contract value in
Hong Kong (based on the original contract value) amounted
to approximately HK$918.7 million (as at 31 March 2019:
HK$1,011.3 million) to be completed.

COOPERATION FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS
To expand the production capacity of BGI Marine to increase
sales revenue, the Group has actively promoted and planned
to construct more scientific research service and development
bases and centers by entering into letters of intent for strategic
cooperation/agreements or project investment intention/
cooperation framework agreements with relevant parties which
possess extensive resources in various coastal provinces and cities.
As of March 2020, BGI Marine has executed four letters of intent
or cooperation agreements, including:

(i) a letter of intent for strategic cooperation with Shanghai
Pudong Agricultural Development (Group) Co., Ltd.* (&
BHEREXERE(EE) BRAA)IN respect of the
collaboration on scientific research, industry and brand for
aquatic species, jointly carry out breeding research, species
cultivation and breeding of aquatic species with high
economic values;

(i) a letter of intent for project investment with the Dagushan
sub-district office of the Jin Pu New Area of Dalian in
respect of the investment in projects in the Jin Pu New Area
of Dalian, which will be primarily engaged in the research,
development, protection and utilization of northern marine
organisms;

Annual Report 2019/20 “F %R
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRR DM

(i) a cooperation framework agreement with Guangxi Beihai
National (Marine) Agricultural Science and Technology
Park* (BEFEIL/BBIK (O8F) R E R HER) and Guangxi
Beihai National (Marine) Industrial Science and Technology
Park* (BFEILBRK CEF)EXERHER) in respect of
investments in the construction of a marine organism omics
research center in the park, which will be primarily engaged
in high-end marine organism omics service industry and
marine molecular breeding projects; and

(iv) a cooperation agreement with the Bureau of Agquatic
Products of the Pengze County in lJiangxi on the
establishment of Pengze County Fishery Science and
Technology Innovation Center to carry out research and
development of key aquatic technologies.

The Group will publish an announcement to disclose more
information to all shareholders after further implementation of
the projects covered by of the above letters of intent for strategic
cooperation/project investment intention agreement/cooperation
framework agreement pursuant to the Listing Rules.

SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT

The Group has placed strong emphasis on quality assurance
systems and it has strong commitment to works’ quality, safety,
occupational health and environmental management to ensure
delivering of quality works to the customers on a timely basis.

The Group has implemented a stringent management system to
regulate its works’ quality, safety and environmental management
standards, which complies with international standards. The
Group has met the requirements of ISO 9001, ISO 14001, ISO
45001, I1SO 50001 and OHSAS 18001 accreditation for our
quality management system, environmental management system,
energy management system and occupational safety and health
management system respectively.

Same as previous years, the Group has maintained accident rates
at the construction sites lower than the industry average.

During the 2020 Financial Year, the Group received the following
awards from Government departments, public utility companies
and industry organizations on recognizing our Group's effort on
promoting and maintaining our site safety:

. Merit in Non-Public Works Sites — New Works & RMAA
Works CCSA by 25th Development Bureau Considerate
Contractors Site Award Scheme
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AEE+HEREERFEEARERS
HTRESE %2 BEEREREREE
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BEIR-
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B - AEBEDFFEAEEETIERER IR
REERRE RHREEBEARBELR
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. Merit in Non-Public Works Sites — New Works & RMAA
Works CCSA and OEMPGA by 25th Development Bureau
Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme

o Certificate of Appreciation for Safety, Health and
Environmental Performance Achiever Award by the
Hongkong Electric Co., Ltd.

o Certificate of Appreciation for Safety, Health and
Environmental Most Supportive Contractor Award by the
Hongkong Electric Co., Ltd.

o Certificate of Participation for the Support to the CIC
carbon Assessment Tool by Construction Industry Council

o Certificate of Participation in West Rail Kam Sheung Road
Station Property Development by Good Housekeeping 2019

o Merit in Joyful@Healthy Workplace best Practices Award by
Occupational Health Award 2019-2020

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the 2020 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$980.1 million, an increase
of approximately 63.3% comparing with the revenue of
approximately HK$600.3 million for the 2019 Corresponding Year.
The increase in revenue was primarily due to the combined effect
of increase in revenue from the breeding, sales and trading of
aquatic products sector, and foundation sector and net off by the
decrease in revenue from the tunneling sector during the 2020
Financial Year.

Revenue from the foundation and other civil works segment
increased from approximately HK$504.8 million for the 2019
Corresponding Year to approximately HK$699.3 million for the
2020 Financial Year, an increase of approximately 38.5%. The
increase in the revenue of the foundation works was primarily
due to the increase in the number of sizable projects tendered
and commenced during the 2020 Financial Year.

Revenue from the tunneling works segment for the 2020 Financial
Year amounted to approximately HK$83.5 million representing a
decrease of approximately 4.0% from the 2019 Corresponding
Year. The decrease in revenue from the tunneling works was due
to the completion of significant tunneling projects during the
2020 Financial Year.
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Revenue from the breeding, sale and trading of aquatic products
segment increased from approximately HK$8.6 million for the
2019 Corresponding Year (after the completion of the acquisition
of BGI Marine in March 2019) to approximately HK$197.3
million for the 2020 Financial Year, an increase of approximately
2,191.8%. The increase in the revenue was primarily due to the
increase in demand of live and frozen aquatic products in the PRC
during the 2020 Financial Year, especially after the cooperation
with several reputable local supermarkets and wholesaler.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The overall gross profit of the Group decreased from
approximately HK$116.3 million for the 2019 Corresponding Year
to approximately HK$109.6 million for the 2020 Financial Year,
representing a decrease of approximately 5.7%.

Gross profit in relation to foundation and other civil works
decreased by approximately HK$8.6 million from approximately
HK$85.1 million for 2019 Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$76.5 million for the 2020 Financial Year. The gross profit
margin in relation to the foundation and other civil works segment
was 10.9% for the 2020 Financial Year, a decrease from 16.9%
for the 2019 Corresponding Year. The decrease in the gross
profit and gross profit margin was largely attributable to the
keen competition of the market, the gross profit margin for the
2020 Financial Year is lower comparing with that for the 2019
Corresponding Year, and the increase in the costs during the 2020
Financial Year as a result of the social unrest in Hong Kong since
the third quarter of 2019 and the outbreak of the COVID-19 in
the first quarter of 2020.

Gross profit in relation to tunneling works slightly decreased by
approximately HK$2.3 million from approximately HK$31.0 million
for the 2019 Corresponding Year to approximately HK$28.7
million for the 2020 Financial Year. The gross profit margin for the
tunneling works segment slightly decreased from approximately
35.7% for the 2019 Corresponding Year to approximately 34.4%
for the 2020 Financial Year.

Gross profit in relation to breeding, sale and trading of aquatic
products increased by approximately HK$3.5 million from
approximately HK$0.1 million for the 2019 Corresponding Year to
approximately HK$4.5 million for the 2020 Financial Year (both
before taken into account of the gain from changes in fair value
of biological assets less costs to sell). The gross profit margin
for the breeding, sale and trading of aquatic products increased
from approximately 1.3% for the 2019 Corresponding Year to
approximately 2.3% for the 2020 Financial Year. The increase in
gross profit and gross profit margin were mainly due to the net
combined effect of the increase in the overall revenue of aquatic
products as mentioned above and the increased in the death
rate of live aquatic products which lower the gross profit margin
during the 2020 Financial Year.
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Other income and gain

Other income and gain for the 2020 Financial Year amounted to
HK$45.8 million, comparing with that of HK$1.9 million for the
2019 Corresponding Year. The increase in other income and gain
was due to the sales of technical know-how, gain on fair value
on property, plant and equipment in exchange for loan receivable;
and the Government subsidy of approximately HK$22.4 million,
HK$5.0 million and HK$9.6 million recognised during the year
respectively.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the 2020 Financial Year
amounted to HK$21.2 million, comparing with that of HK$1.3
million for the 2019 Corresponding Year. The increase in selling
and distribution expenses was due to the full year effect
contributed from BGI Marine which was acquired in March 2019.
The selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised of wages
and salaries, storage expenses and transportation fee.

Administrative and other expenses

Administrative and other expenses for the 2020 Financial Year
amounted to HK$110.4 million, comparing with that of HK$65.6
million for the 2019 Corresponding Year. The increase in
administrative and other expenses was due to the full year effect
contributed from BGI Marine which was acquired in March 2019,
and the increase in staff costs and motor vehicles expenses of
our core business.

Gain from changes in fair value of biological assets
less costs to sell

It represented changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological
assets as at 31 March 2020 which are determined with reference
to the market-determined prices of items with similar age, breed
and genetic merit.

Finance costs

Finance cost of the Group for the 2020 Financial Year was
approximately HK$7.6 million, compared to approximately HK$1.5
million for the 2019 Corresponding Year. The increase in finance
cost was due to the increase in interests on bank and other
borrowings.

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of an associate relates to the Group’s 40% interest
in an associate for the purpose of developing the Birmingham
Property Project. The Group’s share of profit of an associate for
the 2020 Financial Year was approximately HK$1,175,000.
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Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses decreased by approximately HK$4.3 million
from approximately HK$10.5 million for the 2019 Corresponding
Year to approximately HK$6.2 million for the 2020 Financial Year
as a result of the decrease in operating profit.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company
The consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$24.6 million for the
2020 Financial Year as compared to approximately HK$41.1 million
for the 2019 Corresponding Year, a decrease of 40.1%.

Return on total assets for the 2020 Financial Year decreased to
2.8%, from 5.9% for the 2019 Corresponding Year. The decrease
was due to the decrease in profits for the year. Return on equity
for the 2020 Financial Year was 7.4% as compared to 12.9%
for the 2019 Corresponding Year. The decrease was due to the
decrease in profits attributable to the owners of the Company.

Capital expenditure

The Group incurred capital expenditure, primarily on property,
plant and equipment and motor vehicles, of HK$64.5 million
for the 2020 Financial Year, (2019 Corresponding Year: HK$35.0
million) which was financed by internal resources and borrowings.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had bank balances and cash
of approximately HK$31.1 million (as at 31 March 2019: HK$73.2
million).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had bank and other borrowings
of approximately HK$196.0 million (as at 31 March 2019: bank
and other borrowing and obligations under finance lease totaling
approximately HK$51.0 million) which were classified under
current liabilities.

As at 31 March 2020 the Group had lease liabilities of HK$8.4
million.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$122.8 million (as at 31 March 2019:
approximately HK$134.9 million).

The Group's current ratio (which is calculated on the basis of
current assets over current liabilities) as at 31 March 2020 and
31 March 2019 was approximately 1.3 times and 1.5 times
respectively. The gearing ratio (which is calculated on the basis of
total debt over total equity. Total debt includes bank and other
borrowings and obligations under finance leases) of the Group as
at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 was approximately 51.0%
and 14.2% respectively.
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Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s capital commitments relating
to the purchase of machinery and equipment was approximately
HK$32.9 million (as at 31 March 2019: HK$23.1 million).

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has pledged to banks and other
financial institutions of plant and equipment, other receivable,
contract assets and trade receivable of approximately in total
HK$26.9 million (31 March 2019: HK$5.6 million) to secure the
banking facilities granted to the Group.

Segmental information
Details of segmental information are set out in the note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Foreign exchange risk management

Apart from the interest in an associate of which the underlining
functional currency is GBP, and the subsidiaries in the Philippines
and the PRC of which the underling functional currencies are PHP
and RMB respectively, the revenue, expenses, monetary assets
and liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollar (which is the presentation currency of the financial
information), same as the functional currency of the Group.

For the 2020 Financial Year, apart from the interest in an associate
and subsidiaries in the Philippines and the PRC, there was no
significant exposure to the foreign currency rate fluctuations from
the operations of the Group. The Group did not maintain any
hedging policy against foreign currency risk. The management will
closely monitor the exposure to the foreign currency risk and will
consider hedging significant currency exposure should the need
arise.

Contingent liabilities

Details of contingent liabilities are set out in the note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has 418 employees in Hong
Kong (as at 31 March 2019: 403), 130 employees in Philippines
(as at 31 March 2019: 71) and 145 employees in PRC (as at 31
March 2019: 162). The remuneration package of the Group for
its employees includes salary, bonuses, other cash subsidies and
allowances. In general, employee salaries are determined based
on each employee’s qualifications, experience and capability and
the market remuneration rate. The Group has an annual review
system to assess the performance of our employees, which
forms the basis with respect to salary adjustments, bonuses and
promotions. Some in-house site staff were employed as daily
workers and their remuneration package includes salary and
overtime allowances. The employee remuneration expense and
Directors’ emoluments (including salaries, other benefits and
retirement benefit costs) amounted to approximately HK$199.8
million (2019 Corresponding Year: HK$165.3 million) for the 2020
Financial Year.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends has been paid by the Group during the 2020
Financial Year (2019 Corresponding Year: nil).

The Board does not recommend a payment of final dividend to
the Shareholders for the 2020 Financial Year (2019 Corresponding
Year: nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and senior management of the Company commit to
achieve a high standard of corporate governance, to formulate
good corporate governance practice for improvement of
accountability and transparency in operations, and to strengthen
the internal control and risk management systems from time to
time so as to ensure to protect the rights of the shareholders
and enhance shareholder value.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
CG code under Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the code provision of the CG Code during the
2020 Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific
enquiries with all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the standards required by the Model Code
during the 2020 Financial Year (the “CG Reporting Period”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging
its corporate accountability. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and the Shareholders and fulfill their fiduciary duties
by applying the required level of skills, care and diligence to a
standard in accordance with the statutory requirements.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating group policies and
business directions, and monitoring internal controls and
performances.

Annual Report 2019/20 4 ¥R

ERERER
ARREFERERERBHNEHE
KEMEEES  HERTNEEER
ERURBHAEREENERE X
7B 138 PO P B 422 I R I 52 1 [ DA
RRFEREES RRAREEE -

ARBEHRM ETRA M40 DEE
YA ST B P 8 ST BI R X o AR A 1R20204F
MBREED BT EERERTAHTAME
o

EZETESFRS
AAEBER A _ETT AR BIHT BR10FT S A2 £
SRl ARRERMEBEESELETESE
# ﬁ%ﬁi%Eﬁmﬁﬁﬁmmiﬁ
BEE(CEERREHM[)) —&E
ZEAESFRR E LR o

Exg

2HBE
EXgAMBERARRETELRESL -
é%ﬁﬂ%iAﬂmM$ 7&%$m
REMBRKE  BREM > AIREE
BRMIBERTE - BEMDBHIZTERETT
HEEXFAEE -

EEENRE
%%QE%%NE%@E&%&%%??W :
WERNAEERKR -

JID./_J_

15



16

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

Composition of the Board

As at 31 March 2020, the Board comprises eight members
including five Executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The current Board members are:

Name Present position
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick
Mr. XU JunMin

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

Chairman of the Board
Vice Chairman

Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director
Executive Director

The composition of the Board has a balance and diverse skill,
experience and professional knowledge in construction business,
as well as finance, accounting and legal expertise appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Group.

The biographies details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management”
in this annual report. There is no family relationship among the
Directors.

As permitted under the Articles, the Company has arranged
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance in respect of any legal
actions which may be taken against Directors and management
in execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirement of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Board is headed by the Chairman Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin,
with the assistance of the Vice-chairman, Mr. Chui Mo Ming. The
roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Yan
Chi Tat, are segregated and not exercised by the same individual.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective
running of the Board and ensuring that all material issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive manner. The
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the management of
the Group’s business and the implementation of the approved
strategies of the Group. In addition, each Executive Director is
responsible for the management of the different functions of the
business of the Group.

Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
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With the support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman
ensures that all the Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
from Board meetings and be provided with adequate information
in a timely manner.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors has entered into a service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company with a fixed term, subject to
retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles of the
Company.

The Articles of the Company provides that any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/
her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting,
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee for
overseeing specific aspects of the Company’s affair under its
defined scope of duties and term of reference. The terms of
reference of each of the Board Committees are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Details of each
committee are discussed below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is currently
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among
other things, to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control and risk management systems of the
Group.

As at 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee consists of three
members who are the Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, Mr. YU Hon Kwan and Mr. WONG Chi
Keung Johnny. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. LEE
Luk Shiu.
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During the CG Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had
held three meetings in relation to, among others, the following
matters:

o the annual and interim financial statements and reports
together with related results announcements, including the
impact of the changes in accounting policies and practice,
major judgement areas and significant adjustments resulting
from audit etc;

o the adequacy and effectiveness of the financial reporting
systems, internal control and risk management systems of
the Group;

o the independence of the external auditors and the re-

appointment of the external auditors; and

o the scope of the audit and the remuneration and terms of
engagement of external auditors;

The members of the Audit Committee have a private meeting
with the Auditors, without the presence of the management, to
discuss matters in relation to the audit of the Group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is currently
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are, among other things, to review and to determine the terms of
remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable
to the Directors and senior management.

As at 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee consists of
four members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan
Jackin, Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
has held two meetings. The major work performed by the
Remuneration Committee included reviewing of the remuneration
of the Directors and senior management with reference to the
remuneration level of comparable companies, responsibilities,
performance and contributions of Directors and senior
management, and the appointment of Directors. No Director is
allowed to take part in any discussion about his own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and the five highest
paid employees are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Details of remuneration of the members of senior management
by band for the 2020 Financial Year are set out below:

R0 BFE S REEEKEN
FNESEFBEMNDNT

Number of

Senior Management

Remuneration band 3 BM 48 B EREEREAE
HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000 7 #500,0007T = 7% #1,000,0007T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 1#1,000,0017T = 78 #1,500,0007C 2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. A
revised term of reference has been adopted on 31 December
2018 to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is currently
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary function of the Nomination Committee is
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the management of the Board
succession. It also oversees the diversity policy of the Group.

As at 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee consists of four
members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Nomination Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
held two meetings. The major work performed by the Nomination
Committee included the appointment of Directors, assessing
the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors,
reviewing the rotation of the Directors for the re-election at the
AGM and reviewing the composition, the size and the diversity of
the Board in accordance with the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company.

Pursuant to the CG Code, a separate ordinary resolution will be

proposed at the AGM for Shareholders to consider and approve
the re-election of the retiring Directors.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognised
and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. While
all Board appointments will continue to the made on a merit
basis, the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
needs of the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be
based on the Company’s Board Nomination Policy and a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), ethnicity, skills and knowledge and length of service.

During the year and as at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprises eight Directors. The following tables further illustrate

ESERESUAEE
RECLEXEATR EFERMNTES
LB R(EEESTAEBE] - K
RAIBEERAAEEEXNEZTILNE
o HEFEMATRBEERTEIA
HEENRNORE  ARAFKERES
SEYAARF R AFTHREE - KB
AR ER 7 EEUS S o RIE AR EUE
BERSRARFNEETGRABELE
k—ZiZrxtdlE BRETRNE
Bl i XEFHBEER - KB (FHE
sHEH M) - TR - REE R AR A B R A% R
fR e

FAMRAFREY EFedh/\BE
FAEK - TRE-SHRABEARNFRA

the diversity of the Board members as of the date of this annual HEZGENZ T
report:
60 and
40-49 50-59 above
Name of Directors EEnE 40-495% 50-595 608K E
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERRLE v
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming BB ELE v
Mr. YAN Chi Tat AR g v
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RIS K E V
Mr. XU JunMin RERKAE V
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu Fukit v
Mr. YU Hon Kwan OB & v
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FEREA v
Professional Experience
BHELXR
Aquatic
Engineering organism
and Accounting genomics
construction Law and Finance research
KEEY
EFREZE
Name of Directors EEHA IBRREE EE EFTRME W R
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERBELAL v
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming HmEBELEE V
Mr. YAN Chi Tat mEELEE J
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick 2 # Yt 5 4 \
Mr. XU JunMin BHERSLAE v
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu Fkkt v
Mr. YU Hon Kwan REMEE V
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny — F 3% %4 J

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and report the Board annually.

REZEEREBESEEZTILREN
Bt XEFANEZSER -
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY
The Company has adopted a Board Nomination Policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations
to Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

1. reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment and experience in the business in which
the Group is engaged in;

3. commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

4. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race,
gender, age (18 years or above), educational background,
professional experience, skills and length of service;

5. qualifications which include professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

6. the number of existing directorships and other
commitments that may demand the attention of the
candidate;

7. requirement for the Board to have Independent Non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in
Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

8. Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for

achieving diversity on the Board; and

9. such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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BEER HEER  RERRS
FR:

5. B BREARRBEBREER
BRAEENEXER XL MBER
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Director Nomination Procedure

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of the Company and the
Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need for an additional
Director or a member of senior management, the following
procedure will be followed:

1.

The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify
potential candidates based on the criteria as set out in the
selection criteria, possibly with assistance from external
agencies and/or advisors;

The Nomination Committee and/or the Company Secretary
of the Company will then provide the Board with the
biographical details and details of the relationship
between the candidate and the Company and/or Directors,
directorships held, skills and experience, other positions
which involve significant time commitment and any other
particulars required by the Listing Rules, the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and other regulatory requirements
for any candidate for appointment to the Board,;

The Nomination Committee would then make
recommendation to the Board on the proposed candidate(s)
and the terms and conditions of the appointment;

The Nomination Committee should ensure that the
proposed candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the
Board;

In the case of the appointment of an Independent Non-
executive Director, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should obtain all information in relation to the
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess
the independence of the Director in accordance with the
factors set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the
Stock Exchange from time to time; and

The Board will then deliberate and decide on the
appointment based upon the recommendation of the
Nomination Committee.

EEREER
REARAERAUMGE R EWHRR
HEFEERIBLZAERIEZTLRIR
BEEEKE A8 TUATRERF:

1. REZEER LEFEHERET
BIREPTEIR R ATREE N AR 18
K/ S EEOHHT Y EBERE
A

2. REBZREGR/RARFNARW
EERERNESERHEREARE
FHE ARIREANBRARRE R
EECHNBERFE METES
BS - REEEKLR  SRRAKE
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Company generally convenes four regular Board meetings per
year or more meetings when necessary. During the CG Reporting
Period, 17 Board meetings were held, inter alia, to consider and
approve the matters recommended by the Board Committees,
including the interim report and annual report, the continuing
connected transactions, subscription of bonds, to review and
discuss the financial operation of the Group and appointment of
an Executive Director. The table below sets out the attendance
of each Director at the AGM and the meetings of the Board and
other Board committees held during the 2020 Financial Year:

EEZEER
ARr—REBFAMNAEHEZES
ZIANEREFEMEZRR - NEX
ERMERE  BTITREFEEHE 0 MU
(R ER)ZR A EEFEELZE SN
ZENEE(BRERTPHBELER FE
MERS RBEF  RILFTWAE
BEHMEEERETERITES - TRH
5| 78 = R2020F B U E 21T
MERBFAEREFERABESS
ZEggZNBR:

Audit Remuneration  Nomination
AGM Board Committee committee committee
RRBEEAE Exe ®nZEg ¥MWzEE REZEE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin EREAE 171 17117 N/A NiE B 2/2 2/2
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming RRARE il 1717 N/ATER  NATEA NATEAR
Mr. YAN Chi Tat mEERE 1" 1717 NAREB  NATEB NATEA
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick 2 ¥ 4 1" 1717 NAREB  NATEB NATEA
Mr. XU JunMin BREREE
(Appointed on 25 October 2019) (420194
10A25HEZ 1) 0/1 9/17 N/AFEA NATER NATEH
Independent Non-executive BYEHTES
Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu ZHKEE 171 17/17 3/3 22 212
Mr. YU Hon Kwan RIEWMEE 171 16/17 2/3 22 212
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FTEBEE 171 1717 3/3 2/2 2/2

Formal notices of Board meeting have been given to all Directors
at least 14 days before the meeting, or reasonable time period
as allowed by the Directors. Notices and agenda of the Board
meeting are prepared by the Company Secretary as delegated by
the Chairman. All Directors are given opportunity to include any
matters which they believe to be appropriate in the agenda of
the Board meetings.

Agenda and relevant information of Board meeting with adequate
background information and supporting analysis are made
available to the Directors at least 3 days before the intended
date of the Board meeting. All Directors are given separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management for
further information and enquiries. The Company Secretary and
senior management will attend all the meetings of the Board and
Board Committees to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance and financial matters.
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Any material matters that would have conflict of interest between
the Directors/substantial shareholders and the Company will
be dealt with in the Board meeting. Pursuant to the Articles,
a Director is not entitled to vote on (nor is counted in the
qguorum) any resolution of the Board in respect of any contract
or arrangement or any other proposal whatsoever in which he or
any of his associates (including any person who would be deemed
to be an “associate” of the Directors under the Listing Rules) has
any material interest, except in certain special circumstances. The
Chairman of the Board meeting is required to ensure that each
Director is aware of such requirement at the commencement of
each Board meeting and declaration of interest is properly made
in the Board meeting where conflicts of interest arise.

Directors have access to advices and services of the Company
Secretary and key officers of the Company in relation to the
Board procedures. Draft minutes of the Board/Board Committee
meetings are recorded in sufficient details. The matters considered
by participants of such meetings and decisions reached are
forwarded to participants for comments within a reasonable
time after the meetings and final versions of minutes of Board
meetings and meetings of Board Committee are kept by the
Company Secretary, which are open for inspection by any
Directors at any reasonable time on reasonable notice.

Board members are provided with complete, adequate and
timely information to allow the Directors to fulfill their duties
properly. Directors may seek independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense, if necessary, with the approval of the
Board.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Chairman has held a private
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to keep abreast of their
responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Company. The Company from
time to time updates the Directors on the latest regulatory and
governance developments.

Directors are encouraged to participate in professional
development courses and seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills relating to the roles, functions and duties of
a Director of a listed company. Directors are regularly updated on
the latest development on the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure their contributions to the Board
remains informed and relevant.
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All the Directors have confirmed they had participated in
continuous professional developments during the CG Reporting
Period as required under the CG Code.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in preparing the
Group's consolidated financial statements for each financial
year which give a true and fair view of the Group's state of
affairs, results and cash flows and in accordance with the
relevant accounting standards and principles and the disclosure
requirements under applicable laws and regulations in Hong
Kong.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2020, the generally accepted accounting
principles in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards are adopted,
with consistent use of appropriate accounting policies, for
making reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 have been prepared on a going concern basis. The reporting
responsibilities of the auditors are set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy, pursuant to which
the Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Memorandum
and Articles of the Company and the applicable laws and
regulations of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands, any other
laws and regulations applicable to the Company and the factors
set out in the Dividend Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the actual and expected
operation and financial performance of the Group; the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company; the expected
working capital requirement and economic outlook for business
strategy and future expansion plan of the Group; the financial
and liquidity position of the Group; the financial covenants and
restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
lenders of the Group; the statutory and regulatory restrictions
and taxation implications; the general economic conditions and
other internal and external factors that may have an impact on
the business of the Group; and other factors that the Board may
consider relevant when considering the declaration and payment
of dividends.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend
Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by
the Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.

Annual Report 2019/20 “F %R

EREFCHERENDEE
BEREEREATAMMAE
TR -

EEVE A
EERAERUAEESEHMBFENE
AMBHE  REAMEERRRA
DA TR 7B 3 PR ) BOR AR TRV B AR
T AEMA T RRAEEERHRR
EERRERE

EREBEEE2020F3A831B L FENEA
PEBREE  CRAEFE—RARNE
SHER - EAVEREEAREE S
R WEBMERABEMNSEER - U
ER A B EENHE R - H=2020
FIANHIUEFENGAPBIRER DS
BEEEAERE - ZHAMOREHES
AR E B I8 BRI RS o

g B BUR
AABEDHEMAREBK B EFE
ARBERAARRRRE IR LRERE
HARBTARB TR XML AR R
FEEMRASESEREZRER BRR
ARB R EAERFEOER AR E
BORFrE A E -

EFEeNBAERASENERRBEHRE
BRYHRER  ARRNRE BN RA D
T et 8+ 7 5% [ 5% 795 3RS Jo R 2R B R R
SMNEMEEESERNEHENR K
SENHBEERBESRAN : AEEE
73 R] BE Bs A0 B9 B 755 2R 49 B IR 5 BB A R
HOEENMEERGIANBETE  ER
RERANAEHASEETELZE
MEMABRIIBEAZ: URESTEHE
ZRE KRR SRR SIEBY
HEZE -

EFEeSHERMREREK  URE
EARR2ERIEREER Bk,
K AER] BB R R AR - B BRI
TERARAGERNEESEREMA
ERORNERR /I T ERAREE
FAREAXTRERRENEME -

25



26

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems and for reviewing
their effectiveness, particularly in respect of controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.

The internal control and risk management systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The systems
aim to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in achieving
the Company’s objectives.

The Company does not establish an internal audit function.
The Group has engaged an external internal control consultant
to review various aspects of the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, has reviewed the result of the work of the external
internal control consultant in relation to the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group,
including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function. The Audit Committee oversees the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group and reports any material
issues to the Board.

Based on the result of the reviews as mentioned above, the Board
considered that proper internal control and risk management
systems are in place and implemented effectively.

The Group has implemented the management and quality
assurance standards in accordance with the standards of
International Organisation for Standardisation in respect of 1SO
9001 (quality management systems), I1SO 14001 (environmental
management system) and ISO 50001 (energy management
system). In addition, the Group has implemented the occupational
health and safety management system in accordance with the
requirements of 1ISO 45001 (Occupational Health and Safety) and
OHSAS 18001 of Occupational Health and Safety Assessment
Specification. The Group has met the requirements of the annual
review conducted by the external consultants.

The Group has engaged Registered Safety Auditors to
conduct independent safety and health audit in relation to
the effectiveness, efficiency and reliability of safety and health
management systems in accordance with the requirements
under the Code of Practice on Safety Management for various
construction sites during the CG Reporting Period. Improvements
had been implemented according to the recommendations of the
Registered Safety Auditors.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to avoid any future competition between the Group and
the Controlling Shareholders, each of the Controlling Shareholders
has executed a deed of non-competition dated 25 November
2015 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the
Company. Pursuant to the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition,
each of the Controlling Shareholders has undertaken, among
others, in favour of the Company that he/it will not and will
procure his/its close associates not to engage in any business
which may be in competition with the business carried on by
the Group from time to time. The Independent Non-executive
Directors have also reviewed the status of compliance by each of
the Controlling Shareholders with the Deed of Non-Competition
and as far as the Independent Non-executive Directors can
ascertain, there is no breach of any of the Deed of Non-
Competition.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid or payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited and its affiliated company in respect of the audit services
and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2020 are as
follows:

FHBRE
AP ABASEHEZERRE ENE
ﬂﬁ%' ERBEREARQRF AT A
FHEA2015F 11 A25BN T3 2 &
UTM¥¥ED BIET 5 F MK
o BEBRBREERAARG EH (KPR
%)&h%ﬁlhﬁﬁﬁzf L8 AN
BREAREEAEETHETHERE
W SERERER - B IERITESN
E%Eﬂx? F& RS B N5 F R EST
E WHERLBILIERNITEEZA
BMEERTANIFFZENBR -

B 2 ET BN £
HE2020F3A3MBIEFEREBEZRB R
FEXRBENKEMNEKRPF(FB)
SHMEBMERARLREBE QAN
B&mT

Fee paid/
payables
B ENEA
HK$'000
Nature of Services i e R =t BT
Audit services EZRB
— consolidated financial statements of the Group — ANEE2020F MK FE 54
for the 2020 Financial Year B 7% R & 1,030
Non-audit services EEZIRTE
— review Internal control and risk management - NEBEE I K B e B 1R 2 B AR 7%
services 140

— Agreed upon procedures on interim report
for the period ended 30 September 2019
under HKFRS 4400

COMPANY SECRETARY

- MEB B SR E R F 440055
5 A BE E2019F9H30H
B R ENERF 180

REME

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is the primary contact person of the Board for all
matters relating to corporate governance and board procedures.
All Directors have access to the Company Secretary to ensure that
Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. During the CG Reporting Period, he had taken relevant
professional trainings as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. The details of the biographical of the Company Secretary
are set out on page 34 of this annual report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Group also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which enables Shareholders and investors to make appropriate
investment decisions.

All' the members of the Board and Board committees and
the external auditor have attended the 2019 AGM to answer
Shareholders’ questions. Circular and notice of the 2019 AGM
have been distributed to all Shareholders before the 2019 AGM
in accordance with the timeline requirement as laid down in the
Listing Rules and the Articles. All the resolutions proposed to be
approved at the 2019 AGM have been taken by poll and poll
voting results have been published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after the 2019 AGM.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website where information on the Company’s
announcements, financial information and other information are
posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with
any enquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an

extraordinary general meeting (“EGM")

Pursuant to the Articles 64 of the Articles of the Company,
an extraordinary general meeting can be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one
tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of the Company or
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders
to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting in accordance with the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns
together with their names and contact information to the
Board by addressing them to the head office in Hong Kong
at Units 1104-1106, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam
Lok Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong by post
or email to info@yee-hop.com.hk for the attention of the
Chairman of the Board. The Board will reply the enquiries
and concerns as soon as possible.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice and
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted an amended and restated Memorandum
and Articles of the Company (the “Constitutional Documents”)
on 25 November 2015 and effective upon the Listing. A copy of
the Company’s updated Constitutional Documents is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the CG Reporting Period, there is no change to the
Constitutional Documents..
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin (& # &), aged 58, an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, a member of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Jim is one of the founders of the Group. He is
also a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Jim has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Jim is responsible for formulating
corporate strategies and planning the business development of
the Group. Mr. Jim graduated from the University of Reading with
a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying and holds a
Master’s Degree of Business Administration in Management from
the Brighton University.

Mr. Chui Mo Ming (& B), aged 67, an Executive Director and
the Vice-chairman of the Board. Mr. Chui is one of the founders
of the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Group.

Mr. Chui has over 45 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Chui is responsible for the formulating
the corporate strategies of the Group. Mr. Chui has been a
construction supervisor member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers since August 2003.

Mr. Yan Chi Tat (alias: Andrew) (BE7&3E), aged 53, an
Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group.
Mr. Yan joined the Group in October 2010. He is also a director
of Yee Hop Engineering.

Mr. Yan has over 25 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Yan is responsible for formulating
corporate and business strategies and operations of the Group.
Mr. Yan graduated from the South Bank University with a
Bachelor's Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He s
an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and
a professional associate of The Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors. He has been a Registered Professional Surveyor since
July 2004.
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Mr. Leung Hung Kwong Derrick (£# %), aged 51, an
Executive Director. Mr. Leung joined the Group in August 2008.
He is also a director of Yee Hop Engineering.

Mr. Leung has been the Technical Director of Yee Hop Engineering
for its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor and
Registered Specialist Contractor in the foundation works category
with the Buildings Department since 2008 and 2011 respectively.
He has over 25 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Leung is responsible for formulating
the corporate business strategies. Mr. Leung graduated from the
National Taiwan University with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in
Engineering. He holds a Master's Degree of Philosophy in Civil &
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
& Technology. He is currently a Registered Professional Engineer
(Geotechnical, Structural). He is a member of the Institution of
Structural Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr. Derrick Leung is an Independent Non-executive Director of
Chi Ho Development Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 8423), the shares
of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. The
principal business of Chi Ho Development Holdings Ltd is the
provision of renovation, maintenance and fitting-out works.

Mr. Xu JunMin (R ER), aged 49, an Executive Director. Mr.
Xu joined the Group in 2019 and was appointed as an Executive
Director on 25 October 2019. He is also a director and legal
representative of the BGI Marine, an indirect subsidiary of the
Group. Mr. Xu joined the BGI Marine Group since February 2015.

Mr. Xu JunMin has over 30 years of experience in aquatic
organism genomics research, conservation and utilization of
aquatic genetic resources, ecological and industrial cultivation,
and aquatic products import and export trade. Mr. Xu JunMin
holds a Master’s Degree in Animal Nutrition from the Shanghai
Ocean University ( /887 K2). He is currently the Vice
Chairman of the China Nutrition and Health Food Association
(FEZERERMBIHE), Member of the State Food Industry
Standardization Commission (£ Bl & fd T Z 12 £ £ i1 £
Bg)and Member of the Yangtze Rare Fish Standardization
Commission of the Fishery Industry in Jiangsu CT & e EE %
RIZPHBERERMNEZES).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lee Luk Shiu (alias: Vincent) (Z=#%Jk), aged 62, an
Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee has about 30 years of experience in commercial
accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known
as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) with a Diploma in Business
Administration. Mr. Lee has worked in the Stock Exchange
for around 15 years where his duties included regulating and
monitoring Hong Kong listed companies in relation to their
compliance with the Listing Rules and processing new listing
applications. His last position with the Stock Exchange was an
Assistant Vice President of the Listing Division. Mr. Lee was also
a senior consultant of an investment bank for 5 years. He is
an Independent Non-executive Director of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 336) and Hin Sang Group
(International) Holding Co. Ltd (stock code: 6893), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yu Hon Kwan (alias: Randy) (R3E3#), aged 57, an
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in the construction
industry. Mr. Yu graduated from the University of Reading with
a Bachelor’'s Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is a
Member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Mr. Yu
is the General Manager (Community Relations) of Henderson
Land Development Company Limited. Mr. Yu was a lecturer (non-
clinical) in the Department of Real Estate and Construction of the
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Yu is a Justice of the Peace of Hong Kong. He has dedicated
a significant proportion of his time in community service. Mr. Yu
is currently the Chairman of the Islands District Council. He was
awarded a Medal of Honour in July 2015 in recognition of his
long and dedicated public and community service.

Mr. Yu is a Director of the Business Environment Council from
April 2016 (formerly also a Director of the same Board from June
2011 to February 2015). He was also a Director of the Hong Kong
Green Building Council from January 2014 to February 2015.
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Mr. Wong Chi Keung Johnny (E738), aged 61, an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of London with a
Bachelor’s Degree of Laws with Honours and holds a Master’s
Degree of Laws from the University of London. He is a solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong, a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of England & Wales and a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme
Court of the Australia Capital Territory, Australia. He is currently
a partner of Messrs. Lo, Wong & Tsui, Solicitors, handling general
and commercial litigations, conveyancing works, land acquisition
and land exchange, real estate development and financing.

Mr. Wong has served as a member of the Provisional Regional
Council from 1997 to 1999, a member of the Tai Po District
Council from 1999 to 2003, a member of the Liquor Licensing
Board from January 2000 to January 2004, and a member of
the Appeal Tribunal Panel under the Buildings Ordinance from
December 2000 to December 2004. He obtained the HKSAR
Medal of Honour in October 2002. Mr. Wong was also an
appointed member of the Yuen Long District Council from
January 2008 to December 2011. He was an Independent Non-
executive Director of SkyOcean International Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Allied Overseas Limited), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 593) for the period from June
1993 to August 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan King Yip (alias: Kelvin) (BR 4k %£) , aged 46, Project
Director of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group in April 2006.
Mr. Chan has over 17 years of experience in handling engineering
and construction projects. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall
project management. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor's Degree of Science.

Ms. Wang Xinwen (E#73), aged 39, the Chief Operating
Officer of BGI Marine, an indirect subsidiary of the Company. Ms.
Wang joined the BGI Marine Group since December 2018.

Ms. Wang has over 15 years of experience in marketing, branding
and project operation in relation to aquatic breeding, processing
and marketing industry. Ms. Wang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Business Administration. She is currently the Vice Chairman of
Shenzhen Science Education Base Association CRII TRl E &
EHag).
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Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (383X ), aged 42, Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr.
Chong joined the Group in November 2019.

Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology with a Bachelor’s Degree of Business
Administration in Accounting and holds a Master’s Degree of
Business Administration from the City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Chong is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chong has over 18 years of experience in audit and finance
and is responsible for the financial management, internal control
and company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Chong is
currently also serving as the company secretary of China Partytime
Culture Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1532) since May 2015 and an
Independent Non-executive Director of several companies listed
on the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong Lok Man Vicko (E#&#), aged 39, Environmental
and Safety Manager of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group
in November 2007.

Ms. Wong has over 17 years of experience in industrial safety
industry. Ms. Wong holds a Professional Diploma of Legal
Executive from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education,
a Diploma in Occupational Health & Safety from the Open
University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor's Degree of Science
in Environmental and Occupational Safety & Health from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a registered safety
officer under the Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety
Officers and Safety Supervisors) Regulations and a safety auditor.
She is currently a chartered building engineer of the Chartered
Association of Building Engineer and a full member of the
International Institute of Risk and Safety Management.
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Ms. Wong has also obtained other relevant certificates such as
the Occupational Health and Safety Council Certificate for Safety
& Health Supervisor (Construction) in July 2002, the Certificate
of Occupational Safety and Health Trainer in February 2004, the
Occupational Health and Safety Council Combined Certificate for
Safety, Health & Environmental Supervisor (Construction) in June
2005, the Certificate of Site Audit Inspection Standards (Safety &
Roadwork Obligations) Course — Highways Department in 2010,
the Certificate of Occupational Health and Safety Council Fire
Prevention (Construction Industry) in March 2010, the Certificate
of Supervision of Tree Works Course in June 2011, the Certificate
of Continuing Professional Development for [1SO14001:2004
Environmental Management System Introduction and Internal
Auditing in October 2012, the Certificate for 1ISO45001:2016 Lead
Auditor.

Mr. Chui Heung Wing (R @ &8), aged 61, Project Director
of the Group. Mr. Chui Heung Wing served the Group from
September 1997 to August 2016 and re-joined the Group in April
2019.

He is currently the Authorised Signatory of Yee Hop Engineering
under its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor
in the foundation works category with the Buildings Department.
He has over 40 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Chui Heung Wing holds a Diploma in Structural Engineering
and a Higher Certificate in Structural Engineering from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic) and a Bachelor’s Degree of Civil Engineering
from the Washington InterContinental University and Master of
Science in Civil Engineering and Construction Management from
the Heriot-Watt University. He is a chartered building engineer
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers. He has also
been one of the Authorised Signatories of the Registered General
Buildings Contractors and the Registered Specialist Contractors in
the foundation works category of the Buildings Department since
May 2008 and March 2013 respectively. He is a follow member
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers, a member of
the Australian Institute of Building, a chartered environmentalist
of the Society for the Environment (The Society winded down on
2019). He has also obtained the ISO 14001:2004 Environmental
Management System Internal Auditor Training at the Hong Kong
Certification Services Ltd from September to December 2005. He
has completed the Lead Assessor course of Quality Assurance
from BSI Quality Assurance in June 1993 and a visiting lecturer
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Institute for Enterprise
in July 2003.
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Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (alias: Douglas) (# X %), aged 63 ' the
Senior Vice President of the Company. Mr. Wu joined the Group
in October 2014 as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
and re-designated as Senior Vice President in November 2019. Mr.
Wu has over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate
finance.

Mr. Wu graduated from the University of Bolton (formerly known
as the Bolton Institute of Higher Education) with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Arts in Accountancy and holds a Master's Degree
of Business Administration from the University of Newcastle,
Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, an associate of the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong, a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and an associate of the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (#38), the Company
Secretary of the Company. Details of his biography are set out in
the paragraph headed “Senior management” in this section. Mr.
Chong was appointed as the Company Secretary in November
2019.
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Report of Directors
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The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries comprise (i) provision of foundation
and other civil works and tunneling works in Hong Kong and
overseas; and (ii) research and development and breeding and
sales and trading of aquatic products in the PRC. The principal
activities of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 45
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND RESERVES

The results of the Group for the 2020 Financial Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 66 in this annual report.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the 2020 Financial Year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 44(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Details of segment information are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends was paid by the Group during the 2020
Financial Year (2019 Corresponding Year: nil).

The Board does not recommend a payment of final dividend to
the shareholders of the Company for the 2020 Financial Year
(2019 Corresponding Year: nil).

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief of taxation available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the 2020 Financial
Year is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 7 to 14 of this annual report.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s operation, financial conditions, business and
prospectus are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties.
The following principal risks and uncertainties are identified by
the Group. In addition, there may be other risks and uncertainties
which are not known to the Group or may not be material now
but could be turned out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

1. The provision of foundation and other civil works and
tunnelling works are on project basis and non-recurring
basis. The future growth in revenue and financial results
depend on, among others, the success to secure new
tenders and contracts awarded.

2. The operations of the Group are mainly focus in Hong
Kong, which are affected by various factors, inter alia,
the general economic conditions in Hong Kong, general
property market in Hong Kong and government policies on
the infrastructure and property development and planning.

3. The demand of tunnelling services in Hong Kong is
dominated by a relatively small number of customers, mainly
Hong Kong SAR Government, public utilities companies
and MTR Corporation Limited. Though the Group has
established long and stable business relationships with the
two electricity supplies in Hong Kong, it is uncertain that
our existing customers will continue to provide us new
contracts and the Group will be able to secure contracts
from new customers.

4. The financial performance of each project is subject to
the risk of underestimation of the project cost and the
complexity as well as the length of the projects.

5. The Group is required to obtain or maintain certain
registration and/or certificates under the laws in jurisdictions
in which it operates in order to carry on the business. It is
uncertain that all the required registrations, certificates or
licences can be maintained or renewed in a timely manner.
Any changes to the existing policies by the government
authorities may have significant impact on the ability of the
Group to carry on the existing business.
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The tenders which were awarded to the Group is based on
the estimated project costs (which include mainly wages
and construction material cost). The financial results of the
Group is subject to the risk of price fluctuation of material
price and the availability of the quality of construction
materials will always meet the required standards.

The construction business by nature is subject to the claims
and disputes with customers, subcontractors, workers
in relation to the substandard of works, completion of
works in time, labour compensations or personal injuries.
The sale of the Group’s aquatic products may be subject
to product liability claims, even though the Group is not
directly responsible for the product safety. Claims, recalls
or actions could be based on allegations that, among
other things, the products sold by the retail operations
are misbranded, contain contaminants or impermissible
ingredients. Regardless of the merits of the claims, the
disputes and litigation will affect the reputation of the
Group in the industry it operates and in turn, adversely
affect the business operations and financial results of the
Group.

The inherent risk of the foundation and tunnelling business
is subject to the unforeseen ground conditions. The actual
ground condition may be different from the information
provided by the customers. The Group may be exposed
to the risk of cost overrun if the customers disagree to
compensate the Group for the additional cost incurred as
a result of the unforeseen ground conditions.

The Group is subject to the environmental regulations and
guidelines in the jurisdictions in which it operates, such as
Hong Kong, the PRC and the Philippines. Any changes in the
such regulations and guidelines may have adverse impact
on the operations and the financial results.

The results of the Group are affected by the trends in the
industries in which it operates, including the construction
(including the foundation and other civil works and
tunnelling works) and the sales and trading of aquatic
products. The change in the government budgets and
spending in infrastructures as well as the changes in
customer tastes and preference for aquatic products may
have adverse impact on the revenue and operation results
of the Group.
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The success and the growth of the Group is, to a large
extent, attributable to the continued commitment of the
Directors and senior management team. Profile of Directors
and senior management is set out on pages 30 to 36 of
this Annual Report. Any unanticipated departure of the
Directors and senior management team without appropriate
replacement may have a material adverse impact on our
business operations and profitability.

The intangible assets of the Group consist of trademarks,
patents and goodwill. The failure to generate financial
results commensurate with the Group’s intangible assets
could adversely affect the valuation of such intangible
assets and in turn result in impairment loss. Any significant
impairment loss charged against our intangible assets
could have an adverse effect on our business and financial
condition and operating results of the Group.

The biological assets of the Group are live aquatic products
at various stages of development, including fish seedlings,
fishes, crab seedlings, crabs, shrimp seedlings and shrimps
as well as those breeding stock used to produce future
live fishes, crabs and shrimps. The biological assets of the
Group are exposed to risks arising from environmental and
climatic changes, commaodity prices and financing risks. The
fair value of the biological assets of the Group at the end
of reporting period was determined by an independent
professional valuer based on the valuation techniques, key
assumptions and inputs adopted in the valuation process
by the independent professional valuer. Any decrease in
fair value of the biological assets of the Group could have
a material adverse effect on the business and financial
condition and operating results of the Group.

The subsidiaries of the Group operating in the PRC are
exposed to the following risks conducting business in the
PRC:

. Changes in economic, political, and social conditions
in the PRC, as well as government policies, laws and
regulations could have a material and adverse effect
our business and financial condition, operating results
and business prospects of the Group;
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. Under the PRC laws and regulations, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to various dividend
policies. Limitations on the ability of the operating
subsidiaries in the PRC to pay dividends to the Group
and/or subject to higher withholding tax rate could
have a material adverse effect on the ability of the
Group to conduct business;

o The PRC government control over foreign currency
conversion and fluctuations in exchange rates may
have restriction on the PRC subsidiaries of the
Group to access foreign currency to pay dividends in
foreign currencies to the Shareholders and to obtain
foreign exchange for capital expenditure for the PRC
subsidiaries.

15.  The outbreak of COVID-19 or any other natural disasters or
infectious diseases may severely affect and restrict the level
of economic activity in Hong Kong and the PRC which may
in turn have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial position and results of operations.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to various financial risks, including interest
rate, liquidity and credit risks. Details of financial risks are set
out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

Joint Venture Partner Risk

The Group conduct some of the business through the associated
company in which it shares control with the joint venture partner.
There are uncertainties that the joint venture partner will continue
the relationship with the Group in the future or their goals or
strategies are in line with the Group. Furthermore, the joint
venture partner in the associated company may undergo a change
of control or financial difficulties which may have adverse impact
on the Group’s financial conditions and operation results of the
Group.

Likely development in the Group’s business

The likely development of the Group is disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Business Outlook” in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators
The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the
business of the Group are set out in the “Business Review” and
“Financial Review"” section in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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Important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the 2020 Financial Year
Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware
of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report.

Environmental policies and performance

Environment protection is critical to the long term development
of the Group. The Group places importance in the management
practice so as to prevent pollution, reduce waste and enhance
waste recycling. The Group has adopted environmental
management practices in accordance to 1S014001:2004
(Environmental management system) and ISO50001:2011 (Energy
management system). The Group promotes environment-friendly
construction worksites and implements appropriate facilities to
improve the environments of the construction worksites.

Relationships with employees, customers, suppliers
and others

The Group maintained a good relationship with its employees and
had not experienced any significant disruptions to the operation
due to labour dispute. The Group is committed to providing a
safe and healthy workplace for the staff and have arranged an
annual safety conference for staff of all levels to enhance their
knowledge on site safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contact with the customers
and has conducted regular reviews of the requirements of the
customers and complaints. The Group will conduct appraisal of
the performance of suppliers on regular basis.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and risks of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group has on-going review of new enacted
laws and regulations which may affect the operations of the
Group. During the 2020 Financial Year, there is no incidence of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the business of the Group.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 201.
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DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the 2020
Financial Year amounted to approximately HK$28,700 (2019
Corresponding Year: approximately HK$109,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the 2020 Financial Year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of in share capital of the Company during the 2020
Financial Year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements. There were no movements in share capital during the
2020 Financial Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the 2020 Financial Year, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed
securities of the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Law amounted to approximately HK$122.2 million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the 2020 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest customers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 61.8% (2019
Corresponding Year: approximately 81.3%) of the total revenue
of the Group and the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 21.3% (2019 Corresponding Year:
approximately 27.2%).

For the 2020 Financial Year, the Group's five largest suppliers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 24.3% (2019
Corresponding Year: approximately 46.2%) of the total costs of
revenue of the Group and the largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 5.8% (2019 Corresponding Year:
approximately 12.9%).
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To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in
the five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the 2020 Financial Year and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick

Mr. XU JunMin (appointed on 25 October 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, Mr. XU JunMin who was
appointed as Director after the 2019 AGM, should retire in the
forthcoming AGM but eligible, offers themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, Mr. CHUI Mo Ming, Mr.
LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick and Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 30 to 36 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors (except for Mr. XU JunMin) has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial
fixed term of three years commencing from the date of Listing
and has renewed for a further three years.
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Mr. XU JunMin has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 25 October
2019, which may be terminated in accordance with the terms of
the letter of appointment.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered
into a service agreement with the Company under which each
of them is appointed for a period of one year commencing from
the date of the Listing and has renewed for a further three years
and shall be automatically renewed for such further period after
expiry of the renewal term.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there is no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company’s
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies was a
party and in which a Director or Controlling Shareholders of
the Company and the Director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the 2020 Financial Year.

REMUNERATION FOR DIRECTORS

In compliance with the CG Code, the Company has established
the Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies.
Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee and the
performance and results of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Company’s Directors are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company has executed a Deed of Non-competition
dated 25 November 2015 in favour of the Company, which
contains certain non-competition undertakings given in favour
of the Group. Particulars of the Deed of Non-competition are
set out in the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling
Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

The controlling shareholders have provided a confirmation to the
Company confirming of their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition during the 2020 Financial Year.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group under the applicable accounting standards during
the 2020 Financial Year are set out in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of the related party transactions disclosed in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable non-
exempted connected transactions or non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Group under the Listing Rules. To
the extent of the related party transactions constituted connected
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had
complied with relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The Group has the following transactions with connected persons
during the year and the Company has fully complied with the
announcement, reporting and/or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
(where applicable):

(i)  The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) entered
into a lease agreement dated 25 July 2018 (the “Lease
Agreement”) with Pioneer National Development Limited
(as landlord) (“Pioneer National”) to lease the premises
at Units 1104-1107, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam
Lok Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for office
use for a term of three years commencing from 25 July
2018 at a monthly rental of HK$90,000 (exclusive of rates,
government rent and management fee payable by the
tenant).

Pioneer National is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50%
by Mr. Chui, both are Executive Directors and Controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules,
Pioneer National is a connected person and transactions
contemplated under the Lease Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions since the Listing.

As the relevant applicable percentage ratios with respect
to the transactions contemplated under the Lease
Agreement on an annual basis are less than 5% and the
annual consideration is less than HK$3 million, the Lease
Agreement constitute an exempt continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rule 14A.76(1) and is exempt
from the reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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(ii)

(iii)

The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) entered
into three lease agreements during the year ended 31
March 2018 (the “Land Lease Agreements”) with
Asia Time Development Limited (“Asia Time”), Hilton
Development Limited (“Hilton Development”) and Land
Treasure Development Limited (“Land Treasure”) (as
landlords) respectively to lease various pieces of land in
the New Territories, Hong Kong for a term of three years
commencing from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 at an
aggregated monthly rental of HK$188,000 (exclusive of
rates, government rent and management fee payable by the
tenant).

Each of Asia Time, Hilton Development and Land Treasure
is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50% by Mr. Chui,
both are Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders
of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, each of Asia
Time, Hilton Development and Land Treasure is a connected
person and transactions contemplated under the Land Lease
Agreements constituted continuing connected transactions.

As the relevant applicable percentage ratios with respect
to the transactions contemplated under the Land Lease
Agreements on an annual basis are less than 5% and the
annual consideration is less than HK$3 million, the Land
Lease Agreements constituted exempt continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rule 14A.76(1) and are
exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 31 December 2019, the Group through YH Global, an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a Master Supply Agreement with BGI Marine, an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
pursuant to which YH Global Group agreed to sell and/
or supply and BGI Marine Group agreed to purchase
aquatic products for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31
March 2022. Please refer to the announcement dated 31
December 2019 published by the Company for details.

BGI Marine was owned as to 70% indirectly by the
Company and 30% directly by Mr. Xu JunMin, an Executive
Director, and pursuant to the Listing Rules, BGI Marine is a
connected subsidiary of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the Master Supply Agreement
constituted continuing connection transaction.
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As the relevant applicable percentage ratios with respect
to the transactions contemplated under the Master Supply
Agreement on an annual basis are more than 0.1% but less
than 5% and the annual consideration is expected to be
more than HK$10 million for the three months ended 31
March 2020 and the two financial years ending 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2022. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Master Supply Agreement are
subject to the reporting and announcement but are exempt
from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The sales to BGI
Marine Group under the Master Supply Agreement are
subject to the annual cap of HK$15 million, HK$25 million
and HK$29 million for the period from 1 January 2020 to
31 March 2020, the financial year ending 31 March 2021
and 2022 respectively.

The aggregate sales to BGI Marine Group for the period
from 1 January 2020 to 31 March 2020 under the Master
Supply Agreement was approximately HK$9.3 million.

ANNUAL REVIEW ON CONTINUING

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
continuing connected transactions set out above have been
reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who
confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions
were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
external auditor, SHINEWING CPA (HK) Limited (“SHINEWING"),
was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions disclosed in the item (iii) above in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. SHINEWING has issued an
unqualified letter containing findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in

ARNBEEREE TRETHRS
SFEBEBES L EYEBIE01%
BIE 5% + & E2020F3H31H
IE=E A REZ=2021F3A318
2022F3A31A L MEGTBFERNF
EREETBEBASEIOEET °
Hit - BIE LT RBIF14AE B H
EREE THETHRZBETH
WMERAEHRTE  WERPETEL
IR R HLfE 2 $TE o 7A20206F1A1H
Z2020%3A31H # M - & E2021
FEN2022F3A3MBIEFBEE © B
BREEERERESFEEED
MEEEDRTBEBBTE ERB
BISEETT  BE2SEE T LB
29B& T °

MN20204F1 A1H £202043 4310 A
M RIEFBEHEDSEERGFE
BIEHMEERENBEKIZE
BT °

REBERZZFEEN

BAE R BISE14A G55 - EXXATE
BRERSHEHRBIIATEETERH
Mk EmR LR ERERSHERT
5| & IHET AL

M AREE-—BEEBEXEHBEFRR]

<%

2 B REFGRREEERTL:
4

B REEEXZZHEBHBHREIFE
BAMAARRR R REEN G %
HETL °

RAE E R B B 14A561& - AR A Z5h
BB EXPM(ER) GTAEHHM
BERAR(MEXFMDERBRETES
AHEI ARG R 2B B EREBHERDE
30005% (RREFT N IEB X KB BEM
BHzEITIE Y2R(EBHHA)E
74057 [R5 & 8 L AR B PRl # 4B B i
32 5 1) 12 BRED BK A | BE L 3T (i) TR P 3
BASEZFHEWRERSHARS - 1R
1B £ AR B E14A 561K - Sk B %
HERBERKMG EhEB2FHAE

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &% %A R A7)



Report of Directors

EEEHRS

the item (iii) above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

DISCLOSURE UNDER LISTING RULE 13.21

On 8 January 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower,
confirmed the acceptance of the facility letter issued by a bank
offering a revolving credit facility up to an aggregate amount of
HK$20 million and later revised to HK$25 million on 13 January
2020. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves
the overriding right to modify and/or cancel the facility and the
terms/conditions thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility
is repayable upon demand made by the bank. Details of the
transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 8 January 2019 and 13 January 2020.

On 18 February 2019, Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop
Construction, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of the
facility letter issued by a bank making available a facility of HK$20
million to both Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop Construction
and an aggregate of HK$250.61 million to Yee Hop Engineering
only. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves
the overriding right to modify and/or cancel the facility and the
terms/conditions thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility
is repayable upon demand made by the bank. Details of the
transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 18 February 2019.

On 27 March 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as the borrower,
confirmed the acceptance of the facility letter issued by a bank
making available a credit facility up to an aggregate amount
not exceeding HK$20.88 million and later revised to HK$37.63
million on 10 February 2020. Pursuant to the terms of the facility,
which has no tenor, the bank reserves the overriding right to
immediately modify, terminate, cancel or suspend the facility and
the terms/conditions thereof at anytime at its discretion. The
facility is repayable upon demand made by the bank. Details of
the transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 27 March 2019 and 10 February 2020.
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On 8 April 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of the facility letter issued by a bank making
available the credit facilities up to an aggregate amount not
exceeding HK$133.4 million and later revised to HK$149.0 million
on 5 December 2019. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, which
has no tenor, the bank shall have an unrestricted discretion to
reduce, cancel or suspend, or determine whether or not to permit
drawings in relation to, the facilities. The facilities are subject
to review at anytime and in any event by 28 February 2020,
and also subject to the bank’s overriding right of repayment on
demand including the right to call for cash cover on demand for
prospective and contingent liabilities. Details of the transaction
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 8 April
2019 and 5 December 2019.

On 7 July 2020, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of the facility letter issued by a bank offering a
term loan facility in an amount up to HK$15 million. Pursuant
to the terms of the facility, the bank shall have the overriding
right at any time and at its sole discretion to terminate all or any
part of, or reduce or decrease, the facility by prior notice to the
borrower. The facility shall be repaid in full within 36 months from
the relevant date of facility drawdown. Details of the transaction
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 7 July
2020.

As one of the conditions of the facilities set out in above, it
has undertaken to the banks, among others that Mr. Jim and
Mr. Chui should, directly or indirectly, own no less than 51%
shareholdings in the Company or the Company shall maintain
ultimately controlled by Mr. Jim and Mr. Chui.

At the date of this report, JJ1318 and Mr. Chui holds 38.25%
and 27.75% in the Shares of the Company respectively. JJ1318 is
100% beneficiary owned by Mr. Jim.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.21 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows:

(@) Long position in Shares

EERFTETHRAERKRAD -
HEROREFTHER R

NN
RE

M2020F3A318  EERETETHAER
RAERBIREBEEZE(EERESH K
EIERFIEXY MG, - BERGKE
5 BMEXRRTERERREZESFR
HEGMEISBTENZLMA - &
RIFZEESTR SITASARNRAE KRB AT
MEZRABIT:

(@ REOHEFE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of Shares interests of our

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company

BHEERN Fris AR ATE

EEpR B g RHEHE BRESAEI

Mr. Jim Interest in a controlled 191,250,000 Shares 38.25%
EXE corporation (Notes 1) 191,250,000/%

REGOREES (L)

Mr. Chui Beneficial owner
®wEAE BEomBEAA
Mr. Xu JunMin Beneficial owner
BRERK%E BEmBEAA
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138,750,000 Shares 27.75%

138,750,0000%

45,000,000 Shares 9%

45,000,0000%
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(b) Long position in JJ1318, an associated

corporation of our Company

Name of Director

Capacity/nature of interest

(b) MAQTHERATNIBISHNEFE

Percentage of
the issued share
capital of JJ1318

FT {11318
EEHE B fEEME ERTRABEDL
Mr. Jim Beneficial owner (Notes 1) 100%
EXE ExnBEBANMNZT
Notes: B it -
1. 1J1318 is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Jim. 1. IBISHELAEERHERE D HEE -

Accordingly, Mr. Jim is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by JJ1318 under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Chief Executives
of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of part XV of the SFO) as at 31 March 2020
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and Chief Executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to
be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

RARB D RBERDOTE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of Shares interests of the

Name Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company
BHEEEN RANETD R
wEEB B EEME BRHHE FAEBLEIH
JJ1318 Beneficial owner 191,250,000 38.25%
11318 EHEARAA
Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any bR EXHIBETEEN  EEHMTMBENR

other persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the registered
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed, at no time during the 2020 Financial Year was
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that Eligible Participants (as defined below) have made or may
make to the Group so as to motivate the Eligible Participants to
optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of the
Group, and attract, retain or otherwise maintain ongoing business
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are,
will or expected to be beneficial to the Group.
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The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on 25 November 2015, after which no
further options will be issued. The total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not in
aggregate exceed 50,000,000 Shares (10% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of Listing), unless approved by the shareholders in
general meeting (the maximum number of Shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue from time to time). No option may be granted to any
Eligible Participant which, if exercised in full, would result in the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options already granted or to be granted to such Eligible
Participant under the Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant exceeding 1% in
aggregate of the Shares in issue as at the date of such grant.
The offer of a grant of share options shall be accepted when the
offer letter has been duly signed and a consideration of HK$1 in
total has been paid by the grantee. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determinable by the Directors and ends
on a date which is not later than ten years from the date of the
offer of share options.

Eligible Participants include: (i) any Eligible Employees. “Eligible
Employees” means any employee (whether full time or part
time, including any Executive Director but excluding any Non-
executive Director) of the Company, any subsidiary or any entity
in which the Group holds at least 20% of its issued share capital
("Invested Entity”); (i) any Non-executive Director (including
Independent Non-executive Directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary or any Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or
services of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv)
any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(v) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vii) any
advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; and (viii) any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group, and, for the purposes
of the Share Option Scheme, options may be granted to any
company wholly owned by one or more Eligible Participants.
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The exercise price of options shares shall not be less than the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the Share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the relevant option, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities (a
“Trading Day"); (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
Trading Days immediately preceding the offer date of the relevant
option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the offer date.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
the Prospectus.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant
options to Directors and employees of the Group and other
eligible participants to subscribe for Shares not exceeding 10%
of the Shares in issue, 50,000,000 Shares.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme and
no option was exercised during 2020 Financial Year. There was
no option under the Share Option Scheme outstanding as of 31
March 2020.

SUFFICIENT OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules since the Listing.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section in this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the 2020 Financial Year.

EQUITY LINK AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to share option
scheme, there is no equity-linked agreement that would or
might result in the Company issuing Shares, or that required the
Company to enter into an agreement that would or might result
in the Company issuing Shares has been entered into by the
Company during or subsisted at end of the 2020 Financial Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
has been entered into or existed during the 2020 Financial Year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
The employees and remuneration policies of the Group during
the 2020 Financial Year is set out in the subsection headed
“Employees and Remuneration Policies” on page 14 of this annual
report. The content is part of the report of the Directors.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming AGM to
re-appoint SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as Auditors of the
Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be
held in September 2020. The closure of the register of members
of the Company for determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM will be set out in the Notice of AGM which will
be despatched to shareholders of the Company in due course.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 July 2020
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ferkPFa
SAZne‘ZOzné;

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YEE HOP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

43/F., Lee Garden One
33 Hysan Avenue

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yee
Hop Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 66
to 200, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Accounting for construction contracts
Refer to notes 7 and 27(a) to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 94 to 95.

BRELZER
REBMOEXHE  BREZEFER
BARANHENGEVBRRTRER
MEBEZER BRMAEEZERSEETH
BEREAHERELSEBENHEFRIA
MIEeEREEFEREFERER -

BESHANETRE
FE2HEUMESBENGA M RERME
TR27@) A & 5T UK -

The key audit matter
HRELEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEPNESNNNEEZSE

For construction companies, there is considerable
judgment in assessing the appropriate contract
revenue and margin which in turn affect the
recognition of contract assets (liabilities). Revenue is
recognised over time. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured
based on input method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation by reference to the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services, which
involves the assessment of the completeness and
accuracy of contract costs incurred and forecast costs

to complete.
REEERAIME - NP HEE ANk E LFBRE

BEREHE  HREMPEENEE (BB NBER -
Wes HHEREER - TRBETENEENERIE
ABRBRAEFE  BEBE EEBEATKE
MBEMELENHIRAEH R B S TKE
WMEENAKRA) Y2EMEENERKARY
RIEETRCA R L DI R W e - BT A RBE
R EEENERERIMBEEGETENELD
B PRAMELESOMARTEHT TR AN
BREERE®REHMEE -

Our audit procedures were designed to test
revenue recognised during the year to ensure
the Group’s accounting policy on construction
contracts is in accordance with the standard.

HAIER AT B AR 7 OB B A i R B9 R & A
ﬁg EEENEEAN SR RERFHER

We assessed whether the construction costs
recognised was in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy and supported by the audit
evidence available through critically challenged
the forecast costs to complete, contract costs,
and the completeness and validity of provisions
arising from customer disputes. We assessed
reliability of management’s assessment in budget
costs by considering the historical actual costs and
estimation of budget costs of completed projects.
BMERABFEERBEHRT IR SHKER
REPUNELNBEN TERE LA RMIN
AR EZENARRERE EEENS
AR KBHAGHEZRE X - BHMEARE
ERAEEERENANE T THEAENEEK AN G
AR EREREER AN EEAASE -

We have assessed progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation under
input method by recalculating the revised estimate
of the progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation of the construction works
based on the latest budgeted costs and the total
actual costs incurred.
BPRBESROPEER AL MELENEBREKAR
HE O BBENAEERTIRTE2ERENE
EHEERENKLERT A RERALFET
PEXNBHNETHENEE -
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Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
Refer to notes 25 and 27(a) to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 107 to 112.

EZEWRERSHNEERE
BELHBI0/EINEMNGAUBEREN
25N 27@ A g R BUK -

The key audit matter
BREXREE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMHEFONNEEZEE

and HK$156,525,000 respectively.
M2020%3A4318 -

JC °

direction of conditions at the reporting date.

REARBREEYZ2E
R AL 8% R B AR B AT A AR R o A A R i

BABROFEELRHE -

significant judgements and estimates.

EFRBEREZEER -

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had trade receivables
and contract assets of approximately HK$150,693,000

BEEBENESEURREREY
& E o R 497 #150,693,0007T & 74 #156,525,000

The expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables
and contract assets are estimated by the management
based on individually significant customer or the
ageing of customers collectively using a provision
matrix by reference to the Group's past default
experience of the debtor, an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
of the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast

BZRMERAWEENTRHMEERR(RME
EREBRDATEERBEENEATPIHAFAELK
EEBEBANBIE

YHREBFANFERR BEHALERETENE
BEBEBREERNRE B HNE[NER KL RE

We have identified the impairment of the trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter
in view of the significance of the carrying amount
of trade receivables and contract assets and the ECL
estimation performed by the management involved

EREFREFEARGNEERAENEEZEIAR
BEEEMETHNRMEEEBRMGEF FREXRHAL
Kfhat  HPIEHEESRUKIARESHNEERR

Our audit procedures were designed to assess
the management estimation on ECL of trade
receivables and contract assets and challenge
the reasonableness of the significant judgements
and estimates, including use of significant
unobservable inputs adopted in the ECL
estimation by the management.

BN EAREFEETEEEBHESRER
BEREHNEENTRAFEEEBMEFHONE I
HEARHEBREFANEEEREER  BEF
AERBEREPEEBRRAATRANEZD
QE- 23PN ¢ &

We have also assessed the appropriateness of
the methodology and reviewed the inputs data
used by the management with reference to the
latest available general economic data and the
cash collection performance against the Group's
historical trends and credit loss experience.
BT ESTEROEZE UEEETRER
AHEARE T2Z5AASHNEBELER
BEAKRYE BEEEELBEIREEBRELR
IR WIKRR -
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e EEEE
FHENENGA M B REM T8
B B -

Valuation of biological assets
Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on page 91.

60

The key audit matter
BREXREE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
AN BET N MNEEZSEE

We identified valuation of biological assets as a
key audit matter due to the significant estimation
uncertainty resulting in determining the fair value.
BASEMEENGHERERBRERER AR
EEAFERFEEANGATEE. -

As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, management estimated the fair value
of the Group’s biological assets at HK$20,722,000
at 31 March 2020. Independent external valuations
were obtained for all biological assets to assist
management’s estimates of the fair value of biological
assets at 31 March 2020. Key assumptions adopted
include estimated market prices and breeding costs.
WANAR A B 7S SRR B FE20FT R BE - B IR JE 702020
FIANBME EXEEVEENRTER/ER
20,722,0007T ° PAEAEYE EH IS B INBIE(E -
LATH Bh & 38 B 2020 F3A3NBEt A M EEN R
FE-EANEIERREEGANMSERLE
TR ©

Our audit procedures were designed to assess
the management estimation on the valuation of
biological assets and challenge the reasonableness
of the key assumptions and inputs adopted in the
valuation.
BPNEZEFEENGERBEHRNEMEE
HENMGARERGEMRBEAREBR @A A
BENSIEIE -

We evaluated the independent external valuer’s
competence, objectivity and qualifications.
BMFEB B EEMNESD  BEMERE
o

We evaluated the appropriateness of the
methodologies used in valuing the biological
assets; and
BAFERARAREMEEN T A2 EE L
K

We evaluated the appropriateness of the key
assumptions and inputs including estimated
market prices and breeding costs, based on
available market data and historical performance
of the Group.

BPBRBEAMANTSHEER BEEENELRX
BIGEEBERINBARENEE L 2F MG
ST TISBRREEKA
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Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible
assets and goodwill in respect of the cash-generating
unit relating to breeding, sales and trading of aquatic

products

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 115 to 116.

Y% - HBERRE EHAEEE - H
ELEEUARREKERE #HE
REZHBRESELBEVUZHERZ
R

BELEFENSENEMGRE VKRR
17N ERTBUR ©

The key audit matter
HEEXSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPNESNAEEZSEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible
assets and goodwill amounting to approximately
HK$114,232,000, HK$4,100,000, HK$2,616,000
and HK$14,810,000 respectively allocated to cash-
generating unit relating to breeding, sales and
trading of aquatic products. The management
performed impairment testing on the property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible
assets and goodwill based on the value-in-use
calculation of the cash-generating unit.
R2020F3A31H: BE &S B 2 Rl B H EK
114,232,0007T - 7 #4,100,0007T - % #2,616,000
7T K B #14,810,000T 2 M % - MBS R -
REE HMEBEVEEMPESRTHKESRE -
HENEZHB R ELEN - EREERES
ErBUEREBEEAEHDE BEIEE &
REEE HtEBEFEELRBEETRENR -

We have identified the impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
other intangible assets and goodwill relating to BGI
Marine Group as a key audit matter because of the
involvement of a significant degree of judgements
and estimates made by the management when
performing impairment testing.

BAEmE  HENRE  EREEE  HMET
BENEEXNSFEEAR 2B NRE G
ERBAREZER DRASREEEETRERS
B BT B B8 K 1 B M ik 5T o

Our audit procedures were designed to review
the management’s assessment, estimation and
judgement applied in the impairment assessment
of goodwill, other intangible assets, right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment relating
to the related cash-generating unit.

BN EZEFECESEREHHRERE R
EXBEURABErEE HtBEVEE F/HAR
BENARYE - #as &R E K RERT G PR A
BT E R R I -

We have discussed with management on the
impairment assessment of the property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible
assets and goodwill.

BPCHEEETWmYE HELRE £
BEE HMELEELBENRENGE -

We have assessed the impairment testing
performed by the management. We also
challenged the appropriateness of the key
management judgements and estimates used in
the profit forecasts and cash flow projections,
including the forecasted sales and gross profit
margins, against latest available information. We
also challenged the discount rate adopted in the
value-in-use calculation by reviewing its basis
of calculation and comparing the input data to
market sources.
BHPEHERBEETHRENRETIME - &
MR EHAIEFEERNEENEARBEREE
AR ERRBRERAEG AT ESHRD
R BERENHEENENX - HARKREB
EEEKE NS A BIRET IS RRET
B ERERAEBEFETPHRANGEAE -

*

Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the

information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Htt &
ERFEZAHHEMENAER - Hitv &
HEREFRANMEEN  ETEEK
EUBHRRREMOZEENRSE -
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T WEMBSZEMLEHBEKE
mER - HPIAREZEE - st -
MEBAFELRS -
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EUBBERARENER

BERAESARERBEBBGMNAE
B BB M S RS ER RE B QR K
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REEEAVBERERE - BERRES
ARENG BEEBERELENRE

VHBEBRBEATHRERSELLHERBN
FE O VERRKELERSFER K
¥ ERFEFEAENR BEEEBRH
FERELRNEBEEBERNBERTR

ERZESRAEE ESENMBH
WEFF o
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chui Yiu Cheong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chui Yiu Cheong

Practising Certificate Number: P07219

Hong Kong
17 July 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ek HMEEK SR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 2020438318 [t FE

66

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7 BT T BT T
Revenue W s 7 980,053 600,288
Cost of revenue W & K AR (870,409) (484,009)
Gross profit E 7 109,644 116,279
Gain from changes in fair value of EMEEQFESE
biological assets less costs to sell 2 M R 8 B A AR 13,196 410
Other income and gain H oAb e A Ry 2= 8 45,803 1,933
Administrative and other expenses TTER B E b S (110,389) (65,583)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAX (21,177) (1,286)
Impairment losses of financial assets & &t & & 5 B & 18 11 (1,996) -
Share of result of an associate Pok (Sl 1 W/NCTE 1,175 (4)
Finance costs & AR 9 (7,576) (1,548)
Profit before taxation Fx %4 A1 v A 28,680 50,201
Income tax expense Fris®im X 10 (6,174) (10,481)
Profit for the year F A 5 ) 11 22,506 39,720
Other comprehensive expense Hih2HEHA X
Items that may be reclassified HERREEF 7 HE
subsequently to profit or loss: HEamoEE -
Share of exchange reserve of an o — & A A
associate ZIERFEE (3,870) (3,379)
Exchange difference arising on REGINEEEER
translation of foreign operations fE R =% (8,146) (700)
(12,016) (4,079)
Total comprehensive income FATEKEBRE
for the year 10,490 35,641
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: LA™ & T8 FE A5 4 P9 )
(E518) :
- Owners of the Company . VNGIEZ F=WN 24,580 41,057
— Non-controlling interests - FEE AR A (2,074) (1,337)
22,506 39,720
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEskAEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 2020438318 [t FE

2020 2019
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Ht &t B¥TR BT T
Total comprehensive income (expense) AT EBEEGFANEME
for the year attributable to: Was (FxX) e :
- Owners of the Company - AREHEAA 14,639 36,978
- Non-controlling interests - JEPE R = (4,149) (1,337)
10,490 35,641
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Earnings per share FR AR
Basic and diluted ERREE 15 0.05 0.08
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e S AR R &R

At 31 March 2020 72202043 H31H

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B BT T ok eI
Non-current assets EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - W REE 16 197,927 155,148
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16A 8,126 -
Goodwill GRS 17 14,810 15,875
Other intangible assets HEfvfmEEE 18 2,616 3,894
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR NER 19 61,476 65,392
Biological assets EMEE 20 12,301 10,416
Financial assets at fair value EAFEFABEN
through profit or loss TREE 21 1,012 892
Other non-current assets HEMIERSEE 22 460 12,821
Deferred tax assets EER IR E E 23 910 425
299,638 264,863
Current assets mENE E
Inventories & 24 19,835 16,125
Biological assets YA E 20 8,421 21,638
Trade receivables =871 & 25 150,693 126,440
Loan receivable JE B X 26 - 18,180
Contract assets BREE 27 156,525 88,782
Deposits, prepayments and e BRAFRER
other receivables H fth pE 5118 28 73,713 58,706
Tax recoverable B EE 6,585 875
Other current assets EMnEEE 22 48,245 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR MRS 29 31,079 73,175
495,096 403,921
Current liabilities meaE
Trade and retention payables B 5 ENFRIE
R EMRESR 30 99,134 59,405
Contract liabilities GHBE 27 21,206 18,963
Accruals and other payables EEtERAREMENRIE 37 44,652 128,644
Lease liabilities HEaEF 16A 5,508 -
Bank and other borrowings RITRHMES 32 196,018 49,843
Obligations under finance leases BmEEESET
- due within one year - —FRNEH 33 - 1175
Tax payable FE 5B 1R 5,793 10,950
372,311 268,980
Net current assets mENE EFE 122,785 134,941
Total assets less current liabilities BERBERRADHEE 422,423 399,804

Yee Hop Holdings Limited #&&1ERAR A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B AR OR &

At 31 March 2020 72202043 H31H

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B BT T ok eI
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Deferred income iR JEUg A 34 25,248 34,637
Long service payment REARR T & A 12
obligations 35 516 470
Lease liabilities HEaE 16A 2,890 -
Deferred tax liabilities B IBBAE 23 8,719 6,205
37,373 41,312
Net assets EEFE 385,050 358,492
Capital and reserves BERR B
Share capital & 7 36 5,000 5,000
Reserves it 1% 327,397 312,758
Equity attributable to owners of KA HEBANELRER
the Company 332,397 317,758
Non-controlling interests I 172 {% = 52,653 40,734
Total equity R 385,050 358,492

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 200 were EO6E200EMGE M BMRIBESS
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on M2020F7R1I7R B A R ETIE - WA

17 July 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: TAHWALTRERESE:
Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin Chui Mo Ming
B ®wE#
Director Director
EZE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 2020438318 [t FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRAEEAES

Share Share  Merger Exchange
capital premium  reserve  reserve
BA RAEE SHHE ELHR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
BETR BT BEWTT B%Tx

Non-
Other Retained controlling
reserve  profits Total interests Total

HitH REEN Bt FERER £
HKS$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000
BETT E®Tn B¥Tn A¥Tn EETn

(Note a) (Note b)
(Hiita) (Htb)

At 1 April 2018 R2018F4A1H 5,000 112,583 14,808 3,792 1124 143,473 280,780 - 280,780
Profit for the year F R i F - - - - - 41,057 41,057 (1,337) 39,720
Share of exchange reserve of  S{E—HBE QA2

an associate ERGHE - - - (3.379) - - (3379) - (3,379)
Exchange difference arising REBNEBELN

on translation of foreign EXZR

operations - - - (700) - - (700) - (700)
Profit and total comprehensive 4 R 7l &

income for the year FAREHLE - - - (4,079) - 41,057 36,978 (1,337) 35,641
Acquisition of subsidiaries W E DA

(Note 42) (i ##42) - - - - - - - 42,071 42,071
At 31 March 2019 #2019%3A31H 5.000 112,583 14,808 (287) 1,124 184,530 317,758 40,734 358,492
Profit for the year F R F - - - - - 24,580 24,580 (2,074) 22,506
Share of exchange reserve of Sk —HBHE A2

an associate &R - - - (3,870) - (3,870) - (3,870)
Exchange difference arising REBNEBELN

on translation of foreign EXZRE

operations - - - (6,071) - (6,071) (2,075) (8,146)

Profit and total comprehensive 4 X3 7l &

income for the year FHARGLE - - - (9,941)
Capital contribution by non- FrERERLE

controlling interests - - - -

- 24,580 14,639 (4,149) 10,490

- - - 16,068 16,068

At 31 March 2020 R20203A31H 5000 112,583 14,808 (10,228)

1124 209,110 332,397 52,653 385,050

Note a: Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal Miita: & OF (#1775 1R 15 55 B 3B 40 AT 4B Y /B

value of the issued capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a
group reorganisation over the consideration paid for acquiring these
subsidiaries.

NS Sy N e
HERRIBIENAES ZFH -

Note b: Other reserve represents the difference between the carrying value Wieth: EHibfaEEeE 2201635315 1FF/Z

of the additional equity interests of the subsidiary acquired and
the consideration paid of HK$116 during the year ended 31 March
20176.

B4 I 188 22 7] 8 S0 % 4 ) o IET 1 £2
ENREERKII6T.2 57 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEHETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 2020438318 [t FE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES L EE)
Profit before taxation B B A0 28,680 50,201
Adjustments for: BUATEBELRE:
Bank interest income RATHE R A (386) (72)
Provision for long service payment KRG € BH 46 90
Finance costs BME KA 7,576 1,548
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREENE 7,166 -
Net exchange loss B X 18 0% 45 1,543
Gain from changes in fair value less cost EMEERTFEEZSZ
to sell of biological assets L& E k-5 (13,196) (410)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair BRATEFAEREN
value through profit or loss TRHEENATFAERZE (182) -
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HEMERFEO W (296) (79)
Government subsidy BT 48 B (9,622) (324)
Share of result of an associate DE—BEERRESR (1,175) 4
Imputed interest income on bonds FRAGBHZZHEENEKRA (2,302) (257)
Loss on write-off of property, plant and MEEmE - HER
equipment HHERE 32 -
Amortisation of intangible assets A E S 896 -
Impairment losses of financial assets CRHEEREER 1,996 -
Sales of technical know-how HE R B X AN (22,448) -
Fair value gain on property, plant and BEERER 2 ME - S
equipment in exchange for loan FENTERE
receivable (4,966) -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - HBER
equipment BEHTE 31,376 23,324
Operating cash flows before movements in ~ &&EE ¢ ZEAIH
working capital REBRERE 23,240 75,568
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEOEm R (4,759) 2,846
Decrease in biological assets EYEER D 22,742 630
Increase in trade receivables B 5 MW R IEE N (28,761) (12,554)
Decrease in deposits, prepayments and e BENRER
other receivables H & W SR IB R 4,262 5,706
Increase in trade and retention payables B oHREMNFIER
JE £ R B & 3 41,684 1,971
Increase (decrease) in accruals and B ERAR
other payables H & A ZIE L 0 O ) 10,213 (3,652)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities EHNBEEENCAD) 3,273 (20,963)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets B4 E E L m) R (67,743) 41,324
Cash generated from operations KETHMERS 4,151 90,876
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREBEBENEH (14,513) (8,825)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING REZYH (M) MEHREFE
ACTIVITIES (10,362) 82,051
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTMER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 2020438318 [t FE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REESY
Settlement of consideration payable of FEELFERENRER
prior year's acquisition of subsidiaries JE 8 K 1B (82,251) -
Purchase of plant and equipment BEHENEE (59,525) (35,012)
Purchase of zero coupon bonds BETEES (34,777) (12,104)
Settlement of construction payable for HEEEFEWR ﬁ%&%a‘%& &1
prior year's acquisition of plant and JE 1< B 3 5
equipment (8,337) -
Interest received S GRS 386 72
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HEMRRREEMERE

equipment 802 99

72

Redemption of debenture BEES - 1,000
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RBMEERRITER - 2,044
Net cash inflow on acquiring subsidiaries WEHBARNR2IRAFE
(note 42) (Kt it42) - 22,095
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES EEESMAEEFE (183,702) (21,806)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEH
New bank and other borrowings raised EEEMBRITRAMBEE 182,263 18,917
Interest paid on bank and other BIRITREM BRI
borrowings /BSN (5,920) (1,433)
Interest paid for lease liabilities/ REEAE RMEHEERME
obligation under finance leases AT B (524) (115)
Capital contribution by non-controlling FEBRERLE
interests 16,068 -
Government subsidy received BEWBEH 2,247 584
Repayment to lease liabilities EEHERE (6,537) -
Advance from a director of rE—HEHERR®H
a subsidiary —REEHBEN 1,014 5,518
Repayment to a director of EBET —HMEAR
a subsidiary —HBERNNE (1,209) (496)
Repayment of obligations under finance EHERERERM
leases - (5,529)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BRRITREMES (34,459) (50,480)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING REZDMEFMAREFHE
ACTIVITIES 152,943 (33,034)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND BReRkBEZEWOLD)
CASH EQUIVALENTS 12 % E (41,121) 27,211
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FNNRELREEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 73,175 46,163
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEERB BN E (975) (199)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRNBEEGRREEEY
END OF THE YEAR, represented by bank (ARITHEBRRBEEET)
balances and cash 31,079 73,175
Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &% %A R A7)



GENERAL

Yee Hop Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands under the Companies
Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands on 12 February 2015 and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 18 December 2015. Its ultimate controlling
parties are Mr. Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin and Mr. Chui Mo Ming
(the “Controlling Shareholders”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is PO Box 1350 Clifton
House, 75 Fort Street, George Town, Cayman Islands, and
its principal place of business is located at Room 1104-06,
11/F., Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company while the
principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of foundation and other civil works and tunneling works in
Hong Kong and research and development and breeding,
sales and trading of aquatic products in the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The principal activities of
the subsidiaries are set out in note 45.

Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC and
the Philippines whose functional currency is Renminbi
(“"RMB"”) and Philippine Peso (“PHP"”) respectively, the
functional currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). For the purpose of presenting
the consolidated financial statements, the Company and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
"Group”) adopted HK$ as its presentation currency.

Annual Report 2019/20 “F %R
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first
time, the following new and amendments to HKFRSs,
which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKAS(s)") and amendments, issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative

HKFRS 9 Compensation

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement

Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and
HKAS 28 Joint Ventures

Amendments to  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2015 = 2017 Cycle

The adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases resulted in changes in
the Group’s accounting policies and adjustments to the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements
as set out below. The directors of the Company consider
that, the application of other new and revised HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material effect on the Group's
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. ERFHIRKEEITEEEH
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BHREEN(EEH KR
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued) & ) s#)

2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases 21 KM ERUMEBEREFERNSE

HKFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements
with respect to lease accounting. It introduces
significant changes to the lessee accounting by
removing the distinction between operating lease
and finance lease and requiring the recognition of
right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases,
except for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets. In contrast to lessee accounting, the
requirements for lessor accounting have remained
largely unchanged. Details of these new accounting
policies are described in note 3. The Group has
applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initial application as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity, where appropriate, at 1
April 2019. Comparative information has not been
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS
17 Leases.

On transition to HKFRS 16, the Group elected to
apply the practical expedient to grandfather the
assessment of which arrangements are, or contain,
leases. It applied HKFRS 16 only to contracts that
were previously identified as leases. Contracts that
were not identified as leases under HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease were not reassessed. Therefore, the
definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied
only to contracts entered into or changed on or after
1 April 2019.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued)
2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases 21

(continued)

The Group as lessee

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised

lease liabilities in relation to leases which had

previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ under

the principles of HKAS 17 (except for lease of low

value assets and lease with remaining lease term of

12 months or less). These liabilities were measured at

the present value of the remaining lease payments,

discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing

rate as of 1 April 2019. The weighted average lessee’s

incremental borrowing rates applied to the lease

liabilities on 1 April 2019 were ranging from 4.01%

to 6.18% per annum.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets and
measures them at an amount equal to the lease
liability.

The Group leases a number of items of motor vehicles
and machinery and equipment. These leases were
classified as finance leases under HKAS 17. For these
finance leases, the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset and the lease liability at 1 April 2019 were
determined at the carrying amount of the lease asset
and lease liability under HKAS 17 immediately before
that date. Accordingly, the obligations under finance
leases are now included within lease liabilities, and the
carrying amount of the corresponding lease asset is
identified as a right-of-use asset. There is no impact
on the opening balance of equity.

FE R FE] RAEMERT B R R
BHREZEN(EBHBR

H28 )

KA EBUKEREERNSE
165 EENEE(E)
KEFEBRHEA
RENE B BEHREERSE
16550 + AEBEB LA E R
BEB G ERFE175 R
DEAMELEHEE INHEE (K
BEEEMELFGESHA
T A A TR ERIN
HREEFHACEERE -
ZEAERFMGEENRNIR
B E - KA E2019F4A
1R HEATE A 2 15 R &8k
I - F2019F 4818 © B B
REEBEMINEFESER
AEBEERFNELETF401%
Z6.18% °

AEBERCAREE X
BEHREFNHEHERBEN SR

=
= °

rEBEHEZAAERIKSE
B BIBEREBSFENSE
7%  ZEHESEARE
HE  AZSMEHEEMS -
FTRAEEEREEBER
2019F4 1B IR E Ty %
BEASHEAFEI7HRIEAT
HELENTHEAERER
ZAMCZAMEEEBEET °
At MEMESETEED
FFAEBEFR W HAEE
HEEEMNERABERETEA
FRAEEE - ItH =B
RN E o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. ERFHIRKEEITEEEH
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BHREEN(EEH KR
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued) 4B ) @)

2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases 21 KM ERUMEBEREFERNSE

(continued)

The Group as lessor

The Group leases some of the machineries. The
accounting policies applicable to the Group as lessor
are not different from those under HKAS 17.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The following table summarises the impact of
transition to HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019. Line items
that were not affected by the adjustments have not
been included.

Carrying amount
previously
reported at

31 March 2019

16 REENTE(E)
KEFEBHAAN
AEBHEESL DS - #E A
AEEBEEALHANE IR
RHEFBGTERNFEI75HE
TEVEER -

KREHENHEHSWANRER
ERBHHEHBARER -

™ & B it R2019F4 818 B
EEBEBUBREERZE16
FoHE RXEBFTEN
HEYARBEEN °

Impact on Carrying amount
adoption of  as restated at
HKFRS 16 1 April 2019

R2019F3A318 HAEHBHH
BEZKRMN MEERF165 R2019F4818
REE HyE BINEEE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Kz BT T BT T BT T
Property, plant and equipment ME  MERHRE (@) 155,148 (3,906) 151,242
Right-of-use assets FREEBE b) - 17,104 17,104
Obligations under finance leases ~ EBVEAEE T (@) 1,175 (1,175) -
Lease liabilities HEAK @)&(b) - 14,373 14,373

Notes: Hyat

(a) The obligations under finance leases of approximately
HK$1,175,000 as at 31 March 2019 are now included
within lease liabilities under HKFRS 16. The carrying
amount of the related assets under finance leases
amounting to approximately HK$3,906,000 is reclassified
to right-of-use assets.

(b) As at 1 April 2019, right-of-use assets were measured at
an amount equal to the lease liability of approximately
HK$13,198,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued)
2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases 2.1

(continued)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the

Group as a lessee is required to split rentals paid

under capitalised leases into their capital element

and interest element. These elements are classified

as financing cash outflows, similar to how leases

previously classified as finance leases under HKAS 17

were treated, rather than as operating cash outflows,

as was the case for operating leases under HKAS 17.

The total cash flows are unaffected.

Differences between operating lease commitments as
at 31 March 2019, the date immediately preceding
the date of initial application, discounted using the
incremental borrowing rate, and the lease liabilities
recognised as at 1 April 2019 are as follow:

PE R8T R RS ST BB B
7 35 25 % B (5 3% 51 75 48
8 )

RMWEBYBHREEDE
16 HENTEE(E)
m%%ﬁfﬁ,i/mii%qj NS
EERAMEARBERH
EFTEMEASOIFKESR
REDRHMNBEES © ZFHD
ENBAMERSRL 8
R LR RIEE L G5 %R
BIU7TREEHEHESERARENR
E mMEMRAEFEGHER
FITFEETKEHERDFR
RIEEFRRE - BRER
ETXTE -

2019434318 (B1E X ER
BHEipi—BzBE)FEAES
f& KA =& ﬁafﬁzi«@a‘ﬂbﬁk
V& B R2019F 418 1 R
HEABZEMEENT:

HK$'000
BT T
Operating lease commitment disclosed as #2019 3H31H 1 & A
at 31 March 2019 RS ERE 16,715
Less: Short-term leases and other leases & : il 82 70 B /202093 A31H
with remaining lease term ended HZ AR REIHE &
on or before 31 March 2020 HEmHEE (2,315)
Less: Total future interest expenses W RN ERE B (1,202)
Discounted using the incremental 720194 H1H
borrowing rate at 1 April 2019 £ g B A MA K/ 13,198
Add: Finance lease liabilities recognised 2019638318 IRIEE H
under HKAS 17 as at 31 March R ERIE17RER D
2019 MEHREAR 1,175
Lease liabilities recognised as at 20194 1B iR )
1 April 2019 HEAE 14,373
Analysed as: PR
Current portion B 6,489
Non-current portion I B 7,884
14,373
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued)
2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

(continued)

Practical expedients applied

On the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the Group has also used the following practical
expedients permitted by the standard:

o reliance on assessments on whether leases are
onerous by applying HKAS 37 immediately
before the date of initial application as an
alternative to performing an impairment review.

o the accounting for operating leases with a
remaining lease term of less than 12 months as
at 1 April 2019 as short-term leases.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued)
2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs and conceptual
framework issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new or
revised HKFRSs and conceptual framework that have
been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Insurance Contracts?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Definition of a Business®

Definition of Material'

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform!'

Revised Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting'

COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions?

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020°

Reference to the conceptual
framework®

Property, plant and equipment:
Proceeds before intended use®

Onerous contracts: cost of fulfilling
a contract®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued)

2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs and conceptual

framework issued but not yet effective
(continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2021.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date

to be determined.

> Effective for business combinations and assets acquisition
for which the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual period beginning on or

after 1 January 2020.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2022.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except
as described below, the application of other new and
revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify that while businesses usually
have outputs, outputs are not required for an
integrated set of activities and assets to qualify as a
business. To be considered a business an acquired set
of activities and assets must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create

outputs.

Additional guidance is provided that helps to
determine whether a substantive process has been

acquired.
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mEMBRRMHE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)") (continued)

2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases 2.1
(continued)
New and revised HKFRSs and conceptual
framework issued but not yet effective
(continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
(continued)
The amendments introduce an optional concentration
test that permits a simplified assessment of whether
an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. Under the optional concentration test, the
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business
if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar assets.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all
business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1
January 2020, with early application permitted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in the principal (or most
advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless
of whether that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares
its financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
appropriate adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s
financial statements in preparing the consolidated
financial statements to ensure conformity with the group’s
accounting policies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use
its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
Group’s returns. When the Group has less than a majority
of the voting rights of an investee, power over the investee
may be obtained through (i) a contractual arrangement with
other vote holders; (ii) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; (iii) the Group’s voting rights and potential
voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, based on
all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs incurred to effect
a business combination are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the business
combination are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes;

- assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee
benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or
the replacement of the acquiree’s share-based
payment transactions with the share-based payment
transactions of the Group are measured in accordance
with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition
date (see the accounting policy below);

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and

- lease liabilities are measured at the present value of
the remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease
was a new lease at the acquisition date, except for
leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are measured
at an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If,
after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another
standards, are measured at acquisition-date fair value except
for non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured either at fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets on a transaction-
by-transaction basis.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the cash-generating
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The Group's interest in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements using the equity
method. Under the equity method, interest in an associate
is initially recognised at cost. The Group’'s share of the
profit or loss and changes in the other comprehensive
income of the associate is recognised in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income respectively after the
date of acquisition. If the Group’s share of losses of an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
which determined using the equity method together
with any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are provided for, and a liability is
recognised, only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, adjustments are made to make the
associate’s accounting policies conform to those of the
Group when the associate’s financial statements are used
by the Group in applying the equity method.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the interest, any excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
is recognised as goodwill and is included in the carrying
amount of the interest.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interest in an associate (continued)

After application of the equity method, including
recognising the associate’s losses (if any), the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
additional impairment loss with respect to its interest in an
associate. The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be impaired.
When an objective evidence exists, the entire carrying
amount of the interest (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the interest in an associate. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the interest ceases to be an associate upon the Group
losing significant influence over the associate, the Group
discontinues to apply equity method.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate are recognised in consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investors’ interests in the associate. The Group’s share in the
associate’s gains or losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are
reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Biological assets

Biological assets are living animals including fishes, crabs
and shrimps involved in the agricultural activities of the
transformation of biological assets into agricultural produce
for sale or into additional biological assets. Biological
assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell at initial
recognition and at the end of each reporting period while
agricultural produce harvested from the biological assets
are measured at fair value less costs to sell at the point of
harvest, which is deemed as the cost at that date when
the agricultural produce becomes inventory or additional
biological assets.

A gain or loss arising on the initial recognition of a
biological asset at fair value less costs to sell and from a
change in fair value less costs to sell of a biological asset is
included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises. A
gain or loss arising on the initial recognition of agricultural
produce at fair value less costs to sell is included in profit
or loss for the period in which it arises.

Subsequent expenditure relating to producing and
harvesting biological assets are charged to expense when
incurred and costs that increase the number of units of
biological assets owned or controlled by the Group are
capitalised in the carrying amount of the biological assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the first-
in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
and enhanced; or

o The Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties, discounts, sales rebate and sales
related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

o Construction contracts
o Sales of aquatic products

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on
an asset under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group’s construction activities create or enhance an
asset under the customer’s control.

Revenue from the contract is recognised over time. The
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation by reference to the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services. When the outcome
of the contract cannot be reasonably measured, revenue
is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred
that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with an onerous contract. An
onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the net cost of continuing with the contract.

The Group’s construction contracts normally include
payment schedules which require stage payments over the
construction period once milestones are reached. These
payment schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets. The Group also typically agrees to a one to
two years retention period for 5% to 10% of the contract
value. This amount is included in contract assets until the
end of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to
this final payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the
service quality by the customers over a certain period as
stipulated in the contracts.

Sales of aquatic products

Revenue from sale of aquatic products is recognised at the
point when the control of the goods is transferred to the
customers (generally on delivery of aquatic products and
acceptance by the customer). The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits ranging from 10%
to 100% of total contract sum as part of its credit risk
management policies and this has resulted in a contract
liability at early stages.

Variable consideration

For the consideration promised in a contract includes sales
rebates, the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised goods to a customer.

The Group estimates an amount of variable consideration by
using either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method, depending on which method the Group
expects to better predict the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing (Accounting policy applicable on or after
1 April 2019)

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which
it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by
using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
condensed consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing (Accounting policy applicable on or after
1 April 2019) (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using revised discount
rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless
the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount
rate is used).

o a lease contract is modified and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs
an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased
asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing (Accounting policy applicable on or after
1 April 2019) (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the Lease term upon exercise
of purchase option, the cost of the relevant right-of-use
assets and the related depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets to
determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor
with respect to some of its machineries. Leases for
which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Leasing (Accounting policy applicable prior to 1
April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing (Accounting policy applicable prior to 1
April 2019) (continued)

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing
costs (see the accounting policy below). Contingent rentals
are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are
incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service
payment to its employees on cessation of employment in
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is the amount of future benefits that the
employees have earned in return for their services in the
current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using
the projected unit credit method, discounted to its present
value and reduced by entitlements accrued under the
Group's retirement plans that are attributed to contributions
made by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
in respect of salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange
for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and interest in an associate, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either (i) the
same taxable entity; or (ii) different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction
as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress as described below), are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
For payments of ownership interest of properties which
includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire property is presented as property, plant and
equipment of the Group when the payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than construction
in progress) less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
(continued)

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 16, assets held under
finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful
lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when
there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will
be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their
useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances
and cash, as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the cost of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. The Group’s financial assets are classified
as financial assets at amortised cost and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

J the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.
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mEMBRRMHE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) excluding expected
credit losses, through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument
on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial assets
other than purchased or originated credit impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit
impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial asset that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") is measured at FVTPL.
Specifically, investment in equity instrument is classified
as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent
consideration arising from a business combination as at
FVTOCI on initial recognition.

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss to the extent it is not part
of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the other
gains and losses line item. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 21.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured
at amortised cost, contract assets as well as financial
guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The expected credit
losses on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised cost,
the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECL, unless when there has a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

J an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when
the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if
an external rating is not available, the asset has an internal
rating of ‘performing’.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or
o information developed internally or obtained from

external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

J significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

J it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. As for the exposure at
default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’
gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any
additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group's understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was
used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another

party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable
is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-
trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are
initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial
asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material). When some or all
of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are
expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets and right-of-use assets (other than
goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets and right-of-use assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or the CGU)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately in profit or loss.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-
based payment transactions and leasing transactions,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics
of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 = Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3 = Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at
fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective
fair value measurement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Accounting for construction contracts

The Group recognises revenue according to the
management’s estimation of the total outcome of the
project as well as the percentage of completion of
construction works under the input method. When
determining the total budgeted costs, management
makes reference to information such as current or recent
offers from subcontractors and suppliers and estimation
on material costs, labour costs and other costs for the
completion of the projects provided by its internal quantity
surveyors. Notwithstanding that the management reviews
and revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs
for the construction contract as the contract progresses, the
actual outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue
and costs may be higher or lower than the estimates and
this will affect the revenue, cost and profit recognised.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Impairment loss on interest in an associate

In determining whether the Group’s interest in an associate
is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount. Impairment assessment had been carried out
at the end of the reporting period on the interest in an
associate with reference to the investee company’s financial
performance, financial position and cash flows of the
underlying investment and comparable industry information.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, no
impairment is considered necessary. As at 31 March 2020,
the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in an associate
is approximately HK$42,252,000 (2019: HK$44,947,000).

Impairment loss on trade receivables, contract
assets and loan to an associate

The impairment provisions for trade receivables, contract
assets and loan to an associate are based on assumptions
about ECL. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the number of days that an individual
receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the result of the assessment and it
may be necessary to make additional impairment charge to
the profit or loss. At 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts
of trade receivables, contract assets and loan to an associate
are approximately HK$150,693,000 (2019: HK$126,440,000),
HK$156,525,000 (2019: HK$88,782,000) and HK$19,224,000
(2019: HK$20,445,000), respectively.

Impairment loss on financial guarantee contracts
The directors of the Company use their judgement in
selecting an appropriate valuation technique for the
guarantee contracts, and assumptions included the
probability of default by the specified counterparty and an
analysis of the counterparty’s current and future financial
position.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment loss on financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

As at 31 March 2020, the contingent liabilities from
the guarantees in respect of zero coupon bond in favor
of holder of the bond issued by the Group’s associate,
joint guarantee in respect of banking facilities in favor
of a subsidiary’s former immediate holding company and
guarantees in respect of performance bonds in favor of
its clients amounted to approximately HK$59,582,000
(2019: HK$18,401,000), nil (2019: HK$280,128,000) and
HK$97,871,000 (2019: HK$93,682,000) respectively. Further
details about the guarantee contracts are set out in note
38.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the
Company review the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$197,927,000
(2019: HK$155,148,000). Where an objective evidence of
impairment exists, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of its property, plant and equipment with reference
to valuation performed by an independent valuer. The
valuation of property, plant and equipment is performed
using the depreciated replacement cost (the “DRC")
approach. The DRC approach requires an estimation of the
new replacement cost of the assets from which deductions
are then made to allow for physical deterioration and all
forms of obsolescence and optimisation. No impairment loss
has been recognised in respect of the property, plant and
equipment for both years.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful life and after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, using the straight line
method. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’
estimate of the periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of the Group's
property, plant and equipment. The residual values reflect
the directors’ estimated amount that the Group would
currently obtain from disposal of the assets, after deducting
the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already
of the age and in the condition expected at the end of
its useful life. As at 31 March 2020, the carrying values
of property, plant and equipment are approximately
HK$197,927,000 (2019: HK$155,148,000).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible
assets

Determining whether goodwill and other intangible assets
are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and
value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
and other intangible assets have been allocated. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31
March 2020, the carrying amounts of goodwill and other
intangible assets are approximately HK$14,810,000 (2019:
HK$15,875,000) and HK$2,616,000 (2019: HK$3,894,000)
respectively, net of accumulated impairment loss of nil.
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed
in note 17.

Fair value of biological assets

As described in note 20, the directors of the Company use
their judgements and estimates in determining the fair value
of biological assets. The fair values are determined with
reference to the market-determined prices of items with
similar age, breed and genetic merit. The carrying amount
of biological assets as at 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$20,722,000 (2019: HK$32,054,000). Details of the
assumptions used are disclosed in note 20. The directors of
the Company believe that the chosen valuation techniques
and assumptions are appropriate in determining the fair
value of biological assets.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and
other borrowings disclosed in note 32, obligations under
finance leases disclosed in note 33, lease liabilities disclosed
in note 16A, bank balances and cash disclosed in note
29, and equity attributable to the owners of Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €@ ITH
Categories of financial instruments TRIANSHE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEETRT BT T
Financial assets ScRMEE
At amortised cost (including LA B 88 B AR 51 TR
pledged bank deposits and bank (BREEEARRT
balances and cash) TR &R ITH 5%
SERD) 374,690 332,477
At fair value through profit or loss BAFEFAER 1,012 892
Financial liabilities EA- =N
Financial liabilities stated at LA B 88 A AN 51 TR Y
amortised cost eHEE 339,804 237,892

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include
unlisted debt security, trade receivables, retention
receivables included in contract assets, deposits and other
receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and retention
payables, accruals and other payables and bank and other
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments included credit risk, market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ma

Bt F5 AR BT AE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. €M TR
Financial risk management objectives and MEEBMEERBEZRBK(E)
policies (continued)
Market risk 5 E B
(i) Currency risk ()  EEEE
Each individual group entity has its own functional BEEENEREEZHEAC
currency. Foreign exchange risk to each individual B E M - ERROEE
group entity arises when future commercial RPHAEEARANEELAR
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are EERBEEEMN TS
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s FH—I CEEBEBEELEIN
functional currency. The Group operates mainly in b e XEBEZEEFS
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the &EP EAREMA(HE]D -
“PRC"). K o
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency RmEBE  NEBE AN
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities AEMEREEREKAE
at the reporting date are as follows: ROERMEE T :
Assets Liabilities
EE =R
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BETR BET
uss$ £ 294 900 - -
GBP R 67,519 32,806 - -
RMB AR 181 - — 84,622
JPY B - - 6,952 -

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

7N £ B B Al 3 £ S 8 R I
KoM  EEESEREI
ERR TEERERFER
HHEKRIINERR
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

R T H e
HERREEEERK

%k ()

R (&)

(1)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to US$, GBP, RMB and
JPY.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2019:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items, and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2019: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates.

A positive (negative) number below indicates an
increase (a decrease) in post-tax profit where HK$
strengthen 5% against the relevant currency. For a
5% weakening of HK$ against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
profit or loss.

() EE@EERE
BURE AT
AREBTEmMEEET - 1E
ARBEERERRE

TRFAVALEEREE LA
78 S #3180 Ko 5% (2019
F:5%)MBURE © 5% (2019
F5%)TIRNEMEEZER A
B IR & INE R R B AT E B Y
BRERELE IBEEELHI
EEZEMNAEAEE(L 2T
He MREDNEBRELRE
BROINETESEEER I
B R 45 B R gt 1 T R (L
5% (2019 :5%)ABEEHmE

THMIE(R)BFRTERR
HEEBAESS KRR
FIE 0 OBk ) - 2078 %5 34 408
ERRESY MeHBEE
ERSHHEARTE -

2020 2019
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Effect on post-tax profit HEBRENOTZE
Us$ 7T (12) (38)
GBP e (2,819) (1,370)
RMB AR (8) 3,533
JPY AE 290 -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate lease liabilities, obligations
under finance leases and bank borrowings (see notes
16A, 32 and 33 for details). The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider other necessary action when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances and variable-rate
bank borrowing (see notes 29 and 32 respectively). It
is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowing at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR").

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 10 basis points (2019: 10 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2019: 10
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 March 2020 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$98,000 (2019: HK$42,000). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
variable-rate bank borrowing.

@I B
HREMEEREERKE (H)

%k ()

(i)

FI 3 27 B
AEEEHEBETEMAESR
B MEAEEETRRITHE
B (1B RKIsE16A ~ 32%33)
WAFEFERR - XEEE
A 8 7 S B 2R - AT
EREEEMNERR Wi
P IEEHE IR & K & & B
EREM N BEE -

AEENER A BRTAER
FERBRTEENHRESRE
=@ (o5l R K E29%
32) e AEEWHEK IR F
BEE ZEREAFEN
e

o

AEERGNESREENX
RBRFHFARAHERDE SR
REEE—f AEENR
ERENEZERIBZEFR
BERTAXFB(EER
TREFEDOKY -

B E DT

AT 8B E 9 T T0 E R iR
HARIESTH T B M ) = &
BE - W BRERE R
HARAMARZNHESRITATL
BREFEHMAI - BRIBMA
FTEEBABREFNNEAR
B A 108 A &5 (20194 ¢ 10
MEZ)EMNSOR D - THiEE
BESHMNENAEREE
EHRIRRAS ©

> OfF

B

o

35

% o

figd F) &= £ FH,7 T FR101E & 26
(20194 : 101 &2 BATEHE
HhEERFAE  AAEH
HZE2020F3831H L FER
B B 1% o R S S8R A 4
78 #98,0007T (20194F : & %
42,00070) c EEERARK
EEAEBEEFRITFER
BITHEBEZERITEEN
IR o
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
and guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the amount of contingent liabilities in relation
to guarantees issued by the Group is disclosed in note 38.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
ECL on an individual basis for customer with significant
balances and/or collectively by using a provision matrix,
estimated based on historical credit loss experience, as well
as the general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate. The credit risk of other financial assets
is managed through an internal process. The Group closely
monitors the outstanding amounts of other financial assets
at amortised costs and identifies any credit risk in a timely
manner in order to reduce the risk of a credit related loss.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

Basis for
recognising
Category Description ECL

Performing For financial assets where 12-month ECL
there has low risk of
default or has not been
a significant increase in
credit risk since initial
recognition and that are
not credit impaired (refer
to as Stage 1)

Doubtful  For financial assets where Lifetime ECL
there has been a — not credit
significant increase in impaired
credit risk since initial
recognition but that are
not credit impaired (refer
to as Stage 2)

Default Financial assets are assessed Lifetime
as credit impaired when ECL — credit
one or more events that  impaired
have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset
have occurred (refer to as
Stage 3)

Write-off ~ There is evidence indicating Amount is
that the debtor is in severe written off
financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, contract
assets and financial guarantee contracts, as well as the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk
grades are disclosed in respective notes.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’'s financial asset at
FVTPL as disclosed in note 21 best represents its respective
maximum exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no
collateral over the balance.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 15% (2019:
19%) and 50% (2019: 67%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's largest debtor and the five largest
debtors respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is in Hong Kong, which accounted for 65% (2019:
76%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2020.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowing and obligations under finance leases and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group had not
breached any of the covenant clauses of its borrowings
(notes 32).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ERMIAw®m
Financial risk management objectives and MEEBMEERBEZRBK(E)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) HEBELEE(E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRHAMAEBEERTEEERD
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities FTECHBERTEHOINEA -
based on the agreed repayment terms. The table has ZRBBEBASETEERTNH&
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of FHHZeMBERBEREERE
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the wmE-REME BRERTEUR
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings BENRRSARE —FRNITHEER
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the Ao M EREREEEERNERTT
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the BENHAZFOFHEE - ZXE
banks choosing to exercise their rights within one year BEHMEREASHEESME - RIEH
after the reporting date. The table includes both interest K WHERERZEHE - BIK
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows BhNIR S BIRBEFEREHE -
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derive from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
Within Total
lyearor 1t02 2to5 Morethan undiscounted  Carrying
on demand years years 5 years cash flows amount
1A% RER
Liquidity table RBESR BER 12268 2%5F BBSE HERELE BHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT BETn
At 31 March 2020 12020%3A31R
Trade and retention payables BHRMFERENRES 99,134 - - - 99,134 99,134
Accruals and other payables EEERREMENTRE 44,652 - - - 44,652 44,652
Bank and other borrowings (note /) $RAT R E A E (42 197,871 - = - 197,871 196,018
Financial guarantee contract HBEREL 59,582 = = = 59,582 -
401,239 - - - 401,239 339,804
Lease liabilities MERE 858 3,600 4,069 396 8,923 8,398
At 31 March 2019 142019434318
Trade and retention payables BHRMNFERENRES 59,405 - - - 59,405 59,405
Accruals and other payables EHERREMENTRE 128,644 - - - 128,644 128,644
Bank and other borrowings (note /) SRAT R E 1t & (42 51,774 - - - 51,774 49,843
Obligations under finance leases ~ REFMEE(T 1184 - - - 1,184 1,175
Financial guarantee contract BHBEREN 298,529 - - - 298,529 -
539,536 - - - 539,536 239,067
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Notes:

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “within one year or on demand” time
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2020,
the aggregate undiscounted principal amount of the bank
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$146,558,000 (2019:
HK$22,594,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the directors of the Company do not believe that
it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of the
Company believe that the bank borrowings will be repaid by
monthly installments after the end of the reporting period in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and
interest cash outflows will amount to HK$150,067,000 (2019:
HK$22,856,000).

ii. The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

The amounts included above for guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required
to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed
amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty
to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of
the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which
are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Fair value measurement objective and policies

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices
or rates from observable current market transactions as
input.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets, and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:
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ARREZRR  REAWB®RE
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Wi Rk BER
W =

REBNFRKESNWAT :

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue from contracts with BERMKHREEREISH
customers within the scope of HEANEFEH KR
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products or EXTZERIRBED
services lines Pakiiy
- Construction revenue under -EREMEARTIE
foundation and other civil works RN = 699,299 504,758
- Construction revenue under -BEIRETZ
tunneling works e gy 83,453 86,921
- Sales of fishes -HEAR 125,968 5,184
- Sales of crabs - HEE 10,101 383
- Sales of shrimps - HER 61,232 3,042
980,053 600,288

TREIIKEEFEFPMAILANLZ

Set out below is the reconciliation of revenue from contracts

with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment WSS BERMBER B Y
information. BR o
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(continued)
Revenue (continued)

i & K 2 =B & )

3¢ /4=
W= (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZE2020F3A31MBHLEFE
Segments
72
Breeding,
sales and
Foundation trading of
and other  Tunneling aquatic
civil works works products Total
#hERH A KEEHE -
tARIRE BEIR #HEKES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Types of goods or service Emk RIS A
Construction revenue under WEREMETARTRET
foundation and other civil works ZEEN S 699,299 - - 699,299
Construction revenue under BETRET 2 EERE
tunneling works = 83,453 = 83,453
Sales of fishes HEA = = 125,968 125,968
Sales of crabs HEE = - 10,101 10,101
Sales of shrimps & IR = = 61,232 61,232
Total revenue from contracts with HEFMIIVEHZ
customers B = 699,299 83,453 197,301 980,053
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE2019F3R831ALFE
Segments
2 E
Breeding,
sales and
Foundation trading of
and other Tunneling aquatic
civil works works products Total
i 2 T H Al KEEHE-
TARIR BETRE HERXES et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT BT T
Types of goods or service Ems R ER
Construction revenue under WEREMETARTRET
foundation and other civil works ZEEWE 504,758 - - 504,758
Construction revenue under BETIRBETEZEWE
tunneling works - 86,921 - 86,921
Sales of fishes HER - - 5,184 5,184
Sales of crabs HEE - - 383 383
Sales of shrimps izl - - 3,042 3,042
Total revenue from contracts with HEFMIIVUEHZ
customers Rl g 504,758 86,921 8,609 600,288
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mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Revenue (continued)

i & K 2 =B & )

3¢ /4=
W= (&)

Disaggregation of revenue by timing of recognition 1205 [ 7B ZE B WK 25 5 B

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

A point in time B2 197,301 8,609

Over time BE B 782,752 591,679
Total revenue from contracts with RPN &R 2 1

customers W %5 980,053 600,288

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of transaction
price allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) is approximately HK$927
million (2019: HK$1,011 million). The amount represents
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
construction contracts. The Group will recognise this
revenue as the relevant performance obligation on the
construction contract is satisfied, which is expected to occur
over the next 12-22 months.

Segment information

Information reported to the chief executive officer
("CEOQ"), being the chief operating decision maker, for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods sold and services
provided. The directors of the Company have chosen
to organise the Group around differences in goods and
services. No operating segments identified by the chief
operating decision maker have been aggregated in arriving
at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:
1. Foundation and other civil works
2. Tunneling works; and

3. Breeding, sales and trading of aquatic products

TEHRERTEANEEZRSZE
%

M2020E3H318 - D B = K E 17
(KEPERITIZBHEEZRS
BERAE AL EE0278 87 (2019
FBEIL0NBET) c RS EIETE
HAZEEESGOERNKE - K
SEHRBEEEEGONBEOERE
ERRGEFTRARKNRE2Z2BE AR
BE)ERZ MR E -

7 #BE H

FITHAR ((TRABR ] IEEL
BRRE)MEAMMEER D B M 7T
B MREBENENEZRLAE
HHEmBBERNOREER - AR
FEFRDRERTRAE MM REA
BAEE  TEEERRECER
AEENAERDBHELEZED
wh R AR R e

Hep REBERE2®RDMHOT:

1. WELRHEMEIATRE

2. BEIRE: X

3. KERE HEREH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(continued)

Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments.

Ko EER @)

TEHBEREE

UNTREA2REEEDF B D

REBKEREBEIN -

For the year ended 31 March 2020 B £2020F3A31BLFE
Breeding,
sales and
Foundation trading of
and other  Tunneling aquatic
civil works works products Total
E R H KEEE
TAIRE BEIR #HERES o
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETT BT BETT BETT
REVENUE W =

External segment revenue SR B Uz 699,299 83,453 197,301 980,053
Segment profit 2 8 A 76,498 28,694 17,648 122,840
Unallocated income KA BEKA 45,803
Unallocated expenses ROBHAX (133,562)
Unallocated finance costs RO BRE KA (7,576)
Share of profit of an associate DME—HEEE AR 1,175
Profit before taxation B % A 4 A 28,680

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE2019F3A31B L FE
Breeding,
sales and
Foundation trading of
and other Tunneling aquatic
civil works works products Total
& R E A KEEHE-
TARIRE BEIE #HEKES Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
REVENUE i &

External segment revenue ANER 7 #B U = 504,758 86,921 8,609 600,288
Segment profit 5 BB % 7 85,146 31,024 519 116,689
Unallocated income Ko BERA 1,933
Unallocated expenses ROBHAZ (66,869)
Unallocated finance costs RO BEEE KA (1,548)
Share of loss of an associate ADME—HEEARER (@)
Profit before taxation B 7% A 4 A 50,201
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mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by
each segment without allocation of administrative and
other expenses, selling and distribution expenses, directors’
salaries, finance costs and other income and gain. This is the
measure reported to the CEO for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

W= &3 BE B )

G SIS E S ACD

%u V& AT ER R E P R 3T A
VAKB G EAR o 2 &b A
Y& D B I o 1T IR K Ho Al
X HERDHEAX EEHE
& AN e B A U A DA R Mz 6 1
SUT P BRER B A o b T3 8 AT
BRD B R KRB FEMAITHRAE
2WOTE -

RO
okt

«

Dﬂ]?

t & @

THMEERERE
NI RAEE R AT 2HEEED B

liabilities by reportable and operating segments: oMEERBESN:
Segment assets TP EHEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok eI
Foundation and other civil works RN HEMEARTE 276,782 215,800
Tunneling works Bk s T 72 32,856 19,243
Breeding, sales and trading of KEERHE  HERKES
aquatic products 255,705 242,250
Total segment assets DEHEEBE 565,343 477,293
Corporate and other unallocated NAIREMKSBELEE
assets 229,391 191,491
Total assets BEBE 794,734 668,784
Segment liabilities B EEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Foundation and other civil works WERHEMEARTE 86,730 47,566
Tunneling works B¥ s T iR 4,438 8,831
Breeding, sales and trading of KERHE  HEKES
aquatic products 90,144 86,567
Total segment liabilities DEEERSE 181,312 142,964
Corporate and other unallocated rEalkHMROEREE
liabilities 228,372 167,328
Total liabilities BEHRS 409,684 310,292
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

1.

All assets are allocated to operating segments, other
than interest in an associate, loan to an associate,
financial asset at FVTPL, certain plant and equipment,
other non-current assets, loan receivable, bank
balance and cash, tax recoverable, certain deposits,
prepayments and other receivables, other current
assets, right-of-use assets and deferred tax assets.
Assets used jointly by reportable segments are
allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by
individual reportable segments; and

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments,
other than certain trade payables, certain accrual
and other payables, bank and other borrowings, tax
payable, long service payment obligations, obligations
under finance leases, lease liabilities and deferred tax
liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable segments are
jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment
assets.

Annual Report 2019/20 “F %R
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PEERBEGE)

RERENBRAER D BB D EE
REMTE

BRI —MBE e s
[ —FE B 8 R RAR A B K
BAFEAABEZNESHE
EAETHILRE Bt
FRBEE BREFR R
TREHERE - AIREBHRE
ETRE AENREREAM
JEWRIE - HtbREEE -
ERAREERECHBAEE
S FTBEEASETHEE
D Eb o A2 D AR E B
MEERBMENATZHRD H
A W DB K

BRETESENFRE ET
FEET B B K H b FE A FRR
RITREMEE - BIHRE
RERBNFAE  BEM
EEE HEABRELR
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RAAENABERRYHEE
H e Bl o Be -

137



138

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEkoHER®E

(continued)

Other segment information Hitn HER
Breeding,
sales and
Foundation trading of
and other  Tunneling aquatic
civil works works  products  Unallocated Total
WEREAM KEEHE
TAIR REIE #EREZ AAE @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BETR EETR BETT  BETR

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z202053A318
LEE
Amounts included in the measure ~ BFEFES HEF
of segment profit or segment FABEEHS
assets: H:
Gain from changes in fair value of EMEELNTE
biological assets less costs to sell 2F oW
HEKA = = (13,196) = (13,196)
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH 10,619 2,435 12,706 13,678 39,438
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 36,308 11,811 29,759 5,033 82,911
Amounts regularly provided to the EHBFELERE
chief operating decision maker ERM|EFERE
but not included in the measure EFHEIBEF
of segment profit or segment FOBEENE
assets: ®:
Bank interest income HBATF B A - - - (386) (386)
Gain on disposal of plant and HEKSEREE
equipment, net W FE - - - (296) (296)
Share of profit of an associate AME—EHEA
1.2 % 7l - - - (1,175) (1,175)
Finance costs BEKAK = = = 1,576 1,576
Income tax expense FEREX = = = 6,174 6,174
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mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WaRkoHER®

(continued)

Other segment information (continued) Hit o 8 EH (&)
Breeding,
sales and
Foundation trading of
and other civil  Tunneling aquatic
works works products Unallocated Total
i B R E A KEEE
TARIR REIR HERESH ROB @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BBt AETT BETT  BETR
Year ended 31 March 2019 B 2201934318
LLEE
Amounts included in the measure ~ BE & E2 HHEF
of segment profit or segment FABEENS
assets: B
Gain from changes in fair value of EMEELNTE
biological assets less costs to sell g liam
iR - - (410) - (410)
Depreciation neE 11,326 3,409 1,557 7,032 23,324
Additions to non-current assets* AEFRBDEE 33,446 - 136,719 1,566 171,731
Amounts regularly provided to the EHEFELE
chief operating decision maker REERMER
but not included in the measure BREEHEDH
of segment profit or segment BN BEE
assets: MeHE:
Bank interest income RITF B HA - - - (72) (72)
Gain on disposal of plant and HEKEREE
equipment, net W RS - - - (79) (79
Share of loss of an associate AE— R E
RRZER - - - 4 4
Finance costs HERK - - - 1,548 1,548
Income tax expense FBREX - - - 10,481 10,481

Non-current assets included those acquired in a business
combination in March 2019 but excluded financial instruments

and deferred tax assets.
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mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WaRkoHER®

(continued)

Other segment information (continued) Hit o 8 EH (&)
Geographical information o B & A
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, the PRC AEEBRES TBERFFEARAFE
and the Philippines. & o
Information about the Group’s revenue from external EEAANEEKREIIFTELAM D
customers is presented based on the location of the BERREEMTEMER - HBER
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current SEERDEENERNEEEN
assets is presented based on the geographical location of BB 2 -
the assets.
Year ended Year ended
31/3/2020 31/3/2019
B Z20205F H Z=2019%F
3A3MBLLEE 3A31HILFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue from external customers REIIBES B =
Hong Kong B 755,821 584,408
The PRC ae 197,301 8,609
The Philippines JFEE 26,931 7,271
Total 45 980,053 600,288

Non-current assets*

IREBEE
31/3/2020 31/3/2019
2020%3H31H 201943 H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok
Hong Kong B 114,498 84,555
The PRC H 149,070 134,786
The Philippines JEEE 33,688 31,384
297,256 250,725
* Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred * IRDEETRESRIARE
tax assets. EBIBEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Other segment information (continued)
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
are as follows:

3R 5 WA R

Hitt 7 &R (&)
FTEEFHEHN
RIEBEFE /RS BRI B RS

BI0%MEFWZOT

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Company A' UNEIVY 208,292 163,139
Company B’ NS N/A?2 7 8 F3? 118,167
Company C' NSl N/A?2 7 8 F3? 87,043
Company D NI 155,249 N/AZ A~ 35 2

! Revenue from both foundation and other civil works and
tunneling works segments.

! KEHERHEMEIARTIEREET
B abm s -

2 The revenue from that customer was less than 10% during the 2 RBEMBREZE PO E DR
reporting period. 10% °
8. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN Hib g A R =
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Government subsidy (note /) R T f8 Bh (A7 7t i) 9,622 324
Rental income from equipment REHEERA
— Lease payments that are fixed -EEBRENR 516 -
Fair value gain on financial asset HFABEEEREED
through profit or loss N ER = 182 -
Exchange gain, net FE I 2= 0F BR 3,986 -
Insurance claim R EEE 461 595
Bank interest income H|ITH B I A 386 72
Gain on disposal of property, plant  HEWE  #ExR
and equipment B 296 79
Imputed interest income on bonds BEEESFZ
mEFNEWA 2,302 257
Sales of technical know-how (note /i) % ¥ iT 22 2 A0 4%
(B &t ii) 22,448 -
Gain on fair value on property, plant ¥EEWE R W% -
and equipment in exchange for HWRERFERTFE
loan receivables (note jii) Ue == (B &t i) 4,966 -
Sundry income MIEMA 638 606
45,803 1,933
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mEMBRRMHE

8.

OTHER INCOME AND GAIN (continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

(iii)

Government grant was received in prior year from the
PRC government authorities for the Group’s construction
on laboratories of which an amount of approximately
HK$7,838,000 (2019: HK$324,000) was transferred from
deferred income to profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2020. For the year ended 31 March 2020, government subsidy
amounting to HK$383,000 (2019: nil) was received under
the “Ex-gratia Payment Scheme for Phasing Out Pre-Euro IV
Diesel Commercial Vehicles” (3 7K BB PH B DA R S m g 6 &
4 = BBt El) upon retirement of certain motor vehicles
and government subsidy amounting to HK$74,000 (2019: nil)
was received from Construction Industry Council as the Anti-
epidemic Fund to support eligible construction company to
overcome the challenge from outbreak of COVID-19. Other
government subsidies of approximately HK$1,327,000 (2019:
nil) were received from the PRC government authorities
for development of agriculture business without unfulfilled
conditions during the year ended 31 March 2020.

In the course of research and development activities relating
to breeding and cultivation of aquatic species, the Group
incidentally discovered certain technical know-how of ¥ &&=
Fr5)&5 32 and f@ B 22 BHAR 5 2R 2 & SR BC 5. Upon obtaining
improved trials and further development in the current financial
year, such technical know-how was sold to an independent third
party for a cash consideration of approximately HK$22,448,000
(equivalent to RMB20,000,000) (2019:nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2020, a number of items of
property, plant and equipment were exchanged for the loan
receivable of approximately HK$18,180,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,576,000) (Please see note 26). The cost of such items
was measured at fair value which is based on valuation using
replacement cost model. The key assumptions of the valuation
included residual ratio which reflect the actual remaining useful
lives of such items. Difference between the fair value of such
items and the amount of the loan receivable of approximately
HK$4,966,000 (equivalent to RMB4,424,000) was recognised
as other income.

8.

Halg A R (4

Bt

()

(i)

(iii)

gk

)
/

BFmH AP EBFEFN E—FF
WHARRNEEERERER - HAP
H E2020F3831B L FEE A IE
WU A B2 A 18 25 49 78 67,838,000
7L (20194 : 7 #324,0007T) ° &
Z2020F3A31H I FF » BT
B 7 #383,0007T (20194F : &) Jh
REETHBERKRERIZNEX
BREAMMH LA EE SR
BB T & UWRER - T BT BY B
74,0007C (2019F : ) A B E ¥ &
CEREANERES  NWEPHLE
& 32 £ A ) 52 fR COVID-19E 3 #5
RE Pk B - b R TR B H0 B
1,327,000 (20194 : ) B F K
JF &6 P92 B A 7 B 202043 A 31
BLEFEEREEER  BUET

Gy

REBKEEYHBEEESED
MEEEHBIEP  NEBBAHE
BHFZESERF R & FE %
MR RREEREFNE TR
MBEENE RATHRFEERE
KEEAdBRE—SLHRERE &
ERMBENBZIANRESAREYD
75 #622,448,000 (FEE R AR
20,000,0007T)(2019%F : &) & F —
BBUEZR o

H E2020F3A831BILFE - #F
M BBERREBEEEARELD
7 118,180,000 (18 & R A R #&
15,576,0007T) &) JE I B 5k (75 2
Mi3E26) - ZEEE MK RNIZATF
BitE MAFEAIREBEFEREE
BRABRKDEHETE - FENEE
BEBEFGLE - IRMBEE
HEMERFGAERFHE - %%
BEMAFERABEKERSEZHE
H) 2 58 4978 154,966,000 7T (M &
ANE#4,424,000) BEHER A H b Uk
Ao
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERAE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
i BT T
Interests on: A
- performance bonds, bank overdraft — B 4J{R (K + SR 1T
and bank borrowings B NIBTEE 5,650 1,296
— other borrowings - HiEE 1,402 137
- lease liabilities HEAR 524 -
- obligations under finance leases BMERESMT - 115
7,576 1,548
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FTIEHREAX
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
i BT T
Current year taxation REEBIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEMEFN 2,929 12,278
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") 1 PTI
([exmEBl) 980
Under/(Over) provision in prior years: THEBEEHETRE
(EBEEE)
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEMEN 95 (78)
Deferred taxation (note 23) IR GE R I8 (A7 5723) 2,170 (1,719)
6,174 10,481

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. For
the year ended 31 March 2020, Hong Kong profits tax of
the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in accordance
with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of
other Group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at the flat rate of 16.5%.
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58.25% -+ HBIBEE2E &L E F
KA 1S F R Bl 516.5% ° & £2020
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25%. Accordingly, provision for PRC EIT for
the PRC subsidiaries is calculated at 25% on the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

Under the Philippines National Tax Law, the tax rate of the
Philippines subsidiary is 30%. Accordingly, provision for the
Philippines Corporate Tax for the Philippines subsidiary is
calculated at 30% on the estimated assessable profit for the
year. No Philippines Corporate Tax has been provided for
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 as the Philippines
subsidiary did not have any assessable profits subject to
Philippines Corporate Tax.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, a
subsidiary of the Group, RINIFEXBFEREBERAF
(Shenzhen BGI Marine Sci & Tech Co., Limited*) (“BGI
Marine”), was recognised as an approved high technology
enterprise and therefore is entitled to a tax concession
period of reduction in EIT rate of 15% from 2019 to 2022.

Subsidiaries of the Group, & % K& F R AR AR
and B ESYIBEEEMR AR, were confirmed to be
recognised as an agricultural enterprise and therefore is
entitled to a tax concession of half reduction in EIT rate of
12.5% during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

EHRBAZ@®

B iErh s A RSB B ¥ F SR %
(% FEBE RO EMBRE
BN PEMBATOBEA
25% > At - AEFBAF/F
B 1 3 BT 15 B6 B 48 4R 4F N i 5t R SR
R 9% Fl H025% 5+ &
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BARIMHEAE30% Btk - 5t IE
BRENBRAAMIEFERE D ERE
TR F N ET ER B E A #930%
FE - ARIFEEEMB AR EE
MAHBNIEERECEROER
st A o A itk 8 2 20204F K& 201943
A3BIFEWETIRIFEE S
i o

#H 20204 M201943A31H IF £
B AEEN—HWBARFYIE
KEFERBEER AR (EXEE]D
ERELESNHIMDSE  WikE
20195 20224 - ARENRMIBER
HEZAECEMBHEREIS% -
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RAREREREFLARELE W
Itk A #E R B 220204 F201943A
BNNEEFEZAEREBEEZER BT
EATEHE12.5% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FTBH B XX (&)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

RAEEHIERAX EEaER REM
2T U 55 2% P 40 BR A0 Al & A 3T BR 40
T

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Profit before taxation b B A i A 28,680 50,201
Tax calculated at the domestic REMATEHE16.5%
income tax rate of 16.5% SFE M FIE 4,732 8,283
Tax effect on share of result of an SME—EEE AT EE
associate 2B E (194) 1
Tax effect of income not taxable for %Rf%ﬁﬁﬂi? R
tax purposes WAZB B E (1,525) (16)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible %t % 75 T 7~ 7] #1J8
for tax purposes s & 886 1,053
Under/(Over)provision in prior years #EFEEETE
(HBRE ) 95 (78)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not ) 33 1 7 #E 52 &Y
recognised i 18 &5 18 (863) (237)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised 7 #& 52 i 18 /&5 18 1Y
M7 & 4,141 2,406
Effect of two-tiers profits tax rates TRFSBBEGE
regime B & (165) -
Income tax on concessionary rates EEHENMEH (37) 15
Tax effect of deductible temporary RIER 2 0] 08 B
difference not recognised ER HIERE 257 -
Effect of different tax rates of REMEEEREE 2
subsidiaries operating in other Y EYNS R 7 )
jurisdictions or subsidiary subject S G 1) WNC]
to statutory tax rate TRAMEz & (1,092) (868)
Effect of tax exemption granted BEBKHEsw 28
(note) (K az) (61) (78)
Income tax expense for the year REE 2GR 6,174 10,481

Note: Tax exemption represents a reduction of Hong Kong Profits
Tax for the years of assessments 2019/2020 and 2018/2019 by
75%, subject to a ceiling of HK$20,000 (2019: HK$20,000).

* Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

1.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR " FEEA
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging: FERMNDEHBRTISIEES:
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Staff costs BT KA
— Salaries and other benefits -He MEMEF 182,117 150,425
— Retirement benefit scheme - RIKEAET S
contributions 8,595 6,418
Provision for long service payment REIRTS @ B 46 90
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ B THAKA(EEME
remuneration (note 12)) BN (BT aE12)) 190,758 156,933
Impairment losses on financial CTREERERBE:
assets:
— trade receivables - B 5 EKFHIE 1,996 -
Total impairment losses on financial & Bt & E i E &8
assets R 1,996 -
Amortisation of intangible assets | EEE
(included in cost of revenue) (5 AU 25 AR AX) 896 -
Depreciation of property, plant and % - #E R R E
equipment e 31,376 23,324
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEEFNE 7,166 -
Total depreciation and amortisation 78 & # {4258 39,438 23,324
Auditor’s remuneration % EEN B & 1,030 1,195
Cost of inventories recognised as an TR AR K
expense ER DN 191,015 8,500
Research and development expenses TR AR MR
recognised as an expense (note (i)) (B &) 5,388 199
Acquisition-related costs Wy i 48 B A R AR - 2,695
Net exchange loss ME N BB F R = 1,543
Loss on write-off of property, plant  Hfi$54% « #2E &
and equipment HEEE 32 -
Minimum lease payment under BT SENKER
operating leases in respect of & EMEERMNK
(note (ii)): (B 22 3i)) -
- office premises, site offices and N
storage area PWAERTFHRE = 5,868
- machinery - B = 7,621
- 13,489

Yee
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (continued) ". FERERN @

Notes: Mt -

(i) The Group's research and development costs are mainly (i) REBNMERMERETEZE R
expenditures incurred for the formulation, design and evaluation B RARGBESEKRKERAES
of various aquatic products. Management assessed that those MY - EREFMZEAIIER
internal projects are in the research and initial development BRI HERER B &
stage, and did not capitalise any of those expenditure as an ERtEMZEZIHREE -
asset.

(iy HE2019F3ANBLEFEFEY

(i) Operating lease rentals in respect of premises for the year ¥NGERNEHSERESRSS
ended 31 March 2019 represent payments made and accounted SPERIEI7TRER R ARSI R -
for under HKAS 17. Details of the lease payments made for the BHE202063A31BEFENEE
year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 16A. RNEFBEHARMF16A ©

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EFRATHA R H M

EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight B S EAARRTNAGL (20195 « +

(2019: seven) directors and the CEO of the Company were MEERTHRAHOFT MO T :

as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2020 HE2020F3A31H L FE

Executive directors CEO  Independent non-executive directors
HTES TREH BUHFES
Mr. Leung
Mr. Jim Hung Mr. Wong

Yin Kwan,  Mr. Chui ~ Kwong, Mr.Xu  Mr.Yan M Lee Mr. Yu Chi Keung,
Jackin - Mo Ming ~ Derrick ~ JunMin'  ChiTat Luk Shiu Hon Kwan  Johnny Total
EABLE REBLE REXEE RERLL BRERE FRAEE REHEE IFHA4L @t
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
E¥Tn RETn BEMTR E¥Tn BMTn ENTn E¥Tn B%Tn EKTn

Emoluments paid or receivable in 5B EATHNARF

respect of a person's services SEMBEARAR

as a director, whether of the EZENTER

Company or its subsidiary 3]

undertaking
Fees fika - - - - - 240 240 240 720
Other emoluments: EhHH:
Salaries £¢ 2,330 1,661 1,204 283 1,312 - - - 6,790
Discretionary bonus BERL 400 400 100 - 400 - - - 1,300
Retirement benefit scheme BB EER

contributions 105 65 49 34 n = = = 324
Total @i 2,835 2,126 1,353 317 1,783 240 240 240 9,134

! Appointed on 25 October 2019. ! HR2019F10A258 EZF -
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mEMBRRMHE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2019

12. EERTHRATGTMH @

HZE2019F3A31BILEE

Executive directors CE0 Independent non-executive directors
BES Tl BUEHTES
Mr. Leung
Hung Mr. Wong
Mr. Jim Yin Mr. Chui Kwong, Mr. Yan Mr. Lee Mr. Yu  Chi Keung,
Kwan, Jackin -~ Mo Ming Derrick Chi Tat Luk Shiu Hon Kwan Johnny Total
ERERE REMEE REXEE BRERE TRKEE REMEE THERA &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT R¥Tr A¥Tn BT BT BETr  A%Tr BETR
Emoluments paid or receivable  FEEBALRALE
in respect of a person’s REMBERAMF
services as a director, BEZEHIE
whether of the Company or W
its subsidiary undertaking
Fees ok - - - - 240 240 240 720
Other emoluments: Ef
Salaries ¥4 2,186 1,550 1179 1,222 - - - 6,137
Discretionary bonus R 400 400 100 400 - - - 1,300
Retirement benefit scheme RIKERIEE
contributions f3x 97 60 48 67 - - - 2
Total B 2,683 2,010 1,327 1,689 240 240 240 8,429

Notes: W&t -

(i) The discretionary bonus is based on the individual performance (i) MIBEATBRIBEEE2EARER
of the directors and the Group’s performance and profitability AEBzRARRBMENRERT
and the prevailing market conditions. MEETE ©

(ii) Mr. Yan Chi Tat is also the CEO of the Company and his (ii) FEEEENDARRANITEHEA
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered HBREXHEENTHEERE
by him as the chief executive. REEZETHRABEMRENZER

& o

(i)  Neither the CEO nor any of the directors waived any iy AWMEFEAN - BETRESRT
emoluments for both years. MEEFRELABE -

(iv)  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors and (iv) HRMEFER - AEELEEAR

CEO of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years.

B {7 2 55 Jo 17 DR AR &R ST (A7) B
B 1E RN 5 B 5 il AR 5 [ B
MRESERBERAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

13. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2019: four) of them were directors or the CEO
of the Company whose emoluments are included in note 12
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2019: one)
individual were as follows:

13. BEEFMAL

TEBRERSHFMA LS Ef
MAQROIIF:HA)BAEARAIES
RITHBE  HENTHEFEER
S EE12 o T #R—B A £ (2019
Fr—A)WFMwT:

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Salaries, allowances and other Fae R K

benefits H fth 1@ FI 1,145 995

Contributions to retirement benefits R K48 F 5T 2l 4 7%
scheme 53 54
1,198 1,049

His emoluments were within the following band:

BzHmM IR IA TS E :

2020 2019
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEHE EE#A
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 11,000,001t &
75 #1,500,0007T 1 1

14. DIVIDENDS
During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
interim and final dividend has been proposed or paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BIREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RAREB NG TIRE AR R
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the SERAMDIRE T EEBEE

following data:

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Earnings B 7
Earnings for the purpose of basic ARETEgRER
earnings per share &N & 2 A 24,580 41,057
Number of shares BB E 000 ‘000
Weighted average number of BRETEGREREF
ordinary shares for the purpose of B hn i 19 3 R AR
basic earnings per share 2 B 500,000 500,000
The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings B & £20204F &201943H31H
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares IEFE I E A EEEE NIRRT
outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2020 and FEmk SRESERINENTR
2019. EREH -
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mEMBRRMHE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. W% - BERRKRE

Ownership
interests in
leasehold Machinery
land and Leasehold and Motor Construction
buildings improvement equipment  vehicles  in progress Total
HELH
REFH HE
FEEER MEHEE BERRE RE HEIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BBTL BETT BBTL
cosT HA
At 1 April 2018 2018547818 - 1,630 169,576 24,353 - 195,559
Acquired on acquisition of WEHEARIZRE

subsidiaries (note 42) (HtiF42) 24,590 15,728 62,213 1,031 2,972 106,534
Additions RE - - 33,460 1,552 - 35,012
Disposals HE - - (260) (541) - (801)
Exchange realignment [E 5 A% (88) (56) (223) (@) (1) (382)
At 31 March 2019 #201943A318 24,502 17,302 264,766 26,391 2,961 335,922
Impact on initial adoption HEREMNE RS BREER

of HKFRS 16 (note 3.1) FIRNTE W #31) - - (1,702) (5.924) - (7,626)
At 1 April 2019 (Restated) R201964 718 (L E5) 24,502 17,302 263,064 20,467 2,961 328,296
Additions RE 15,159 - 62,353 2,187 2,274 81,973
Transfer " 156 - 762 - (918) -
Disposals HE - - (288) (1,515) - (1,803)
Write-off g - (36) (121) (229) - (386)
Transfer from right-of-use assets ~ E B A& E E (M i71)

(note ) - - 1,702 5,924 - 7,626
Exchange realignment EHAR (2,029) (1,067) (3,434) (77) (223) (6,830)
At 31 March 2020 #2020%3A318 37,788 16,199 324,038 26,757 4,094 408,876
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZitHE
At 1 April 2018 201854718 - 1,441 143,304 13,488 - 158,233
Charge for the year ERFA 161 433 18,302 4,428 - 23,324
Eliminated on disposals & R 8 - - (260) (521) - (781)
Exchange realignment [E 5% - - ) - - )
At 31 March 2019 2019434318 161 1,874 161,344 17,395 - 180,774
Impact on initial adoption HEREMBE RS BREED

of HKFRS 16 (note 3.1) FIRNTE M H30) - - (965) (2,755) - (3,720)
At 1 April 2019 (Restated) 201954818 (B E5)) 161 1,874 160,379 14,640 - 177,054
Charge for the year ERFA 1,596 2,722 23,989 3,069 - 31,376
Eliminated on disposals & R 8 - - (288) (1,009) - (1,297)
Eliminated on write-off 8 8 - (22) (115) (217) - (354)
Transfer from right-of-use assets ¥ B {f F# & & (#i71)

(note i) - - 1,305 3,940 - 5,245
Exchange realignment EHAE (250) (156) (634) (35) - (1,075)
At 31 March 2020 72020434318 1,507 4,418 184,636 20,388 - 210,949
NET CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 March 2020 2020437316 36,281 11,781 139,402 6,369 4,094 197,927
At 31 March 2019 2019437318 24,341 15,428 103,422 8,996 2,961 155,148
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mEMBRRMHE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y1 - HBRRB @)

(Continued)

Note: B it -

(i) Certain right-of-use assets were transferred to property, (i) ARAEBERGEE2HHESE
plant and equipment as the Group obtained ownership of BRGHEAREEENMRBRE - 88
the underlying leased assets upon settlement of entire lease FTEREEECDEREDE  #R
liabilities. 5 &

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into
account of their estimated residual values, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Ownership interest in leasehold ~ 4.75% - 10% per annum
land and buildings

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the term of
lease or 3 years

Machinery and equipment 20% - 33.33% per annum

Motor vehicles 20% - 25% per annum

At 31 March 2019, the carrying values of plant and

it - HERREEREBIIER
HAORE - BRI EMB RERE
Bfg  EAERFRNOT:

MELHWREF BFLIS%EI0%

MEBEER
HEMELE RHEEFHI=F2
BRE
& FF20%%233.33%
HE FFE20%Z25%

M2019F3A318 EMEE T

equipment held under finance leases were as follows: MERZBENREBENOT :
2019
HK$'000
BT T
Machinery and equipment W & E 737
Motor vehicles bt 3,169
3,906

The leasehold land and buildings are located in the PRC
under medium-term lease.

REIEANETHEE T BT
REBE -
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e ERRME
16A. LEASES 16A. H &
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FRAEEE
31/3/2020 1/4/2019
202053 H31H 20194 H1H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR T T
Machinery and equipment ek & 3R A = 737
Motor vehicles RE - 3,169
Buildings B3 8,126 13,198
8,126 17,104

The Group has

lease arrangements for office

properties, site offices and storage area. The lease
terms are generally ranged from two to three years.

The lease payments are fixed.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year
ended 31 March 2020 amounted to approximately
HK$938,000, due to new leases of buildings.

(ii) Lease liabilities

REBEHRAEYE R
WMRERTFREEHEELH -
B8N IME=F-H
ENRABEERE °

#H Z2020%43A31H It F E
FREEERNERNBE
938,000t ' HR¥FHEEEF
FT &L »

(i) HERE

31/3/2020 1/4/2019

20203 H31H 20194 A1H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARET T

Non-current JER B 2,890 7,884
Current ) 5,508 6,489
8,398 14,373
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mEMBRRMHE

16A. LEASES (continued)

(ii) Lease liabilities (continued)

16A. ¥ & (&)
(i) HEEEE)

Amounts payable under lease liabilities HEBEENE
31/3/2020
20203 H31H
HK$'000
BET T
Within one year —FR 5,508
After one year but within two years —F A ERMFUR 2,890
8,398
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : 71218 A RN 2 B 30 78 458 /9
12 months (shown under current BN RBEETIR)
liabilities) (5,508)
Amount due for settlement after 12 RIR2E BRI AL THEHE
months 2,890
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) REEHRANSE
Year ended
31/3/2020
B Z2020F
3A31MBLLEE
HK$'000
BET T
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets: fF AEEEMITER X
— Machinery and equipment - R R B 340
- Motor vehicles - #BE 1,185
— Buildings -1&F 5,641
7,166
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEZFERX 524
Expense relating to short-term leases FESHAENRX 8,424
(iv) Others (iv) Hfth
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total B E£2020F3A31H LFE -
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately HMERSRHAERNABE

HK$15,485,000.

15,485,0007T °
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17. GOODWILL 17. B8
HK$'000
7T T
COST |
At 1 April 2018 M2018F4A1H -
Addition through acquisition of subsidiaries FRWEMRBARDRE
(note 42) (B 7#42) 15,875
At 31 March 2019 R201943A31H 15,875
Exchange realignment PE 5 38 % (1,065)
At 31 March 2020 M2020%3A31H 14,810
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT R RE
At 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 and 2020 20184 A1H A 20194 &
202043H31H -
NET CARRYING VALUES EREFE
At 31 March 2020 7202093 A31H 14,810
At 31 March 2019 720193 A31H 15,875

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has
been allocated to an individual cash-generating unit and
representing the operating segment in breeding, sales
and trading of aquatic products. The carrying amount of
goodwill as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 is allocated to this
unit.
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17.

GOODWILL (continued)

As at 31 March 2020, the directors performed an
impairment assessment of this cash generating unit
comprising goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$14,810,000, HK$2,616,000, HK$114,232,000 and
HK$4,100,000 (2019: HK$15,875,000, HK$3,894,000,
HK$104,603,000 and nil) respectively and determined that
these assets were not impaired based on the estimated
recoverable amount with reference to a value-in-use
calculation of the related CGU. That calculation used cash
flow projections based on financial budget approved by
the directors of the Company covering a five-year period,
with discount rate at 10.95% (2019: 10.82%) per annum
respectively. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a 0% growth rate. The key assumptions
for the value-in-use calculation related to the estimation of
cash flow included gross margin and discount rate. Gross
margin represents budgeted gross margin, which is based
on past performance and the management’s expectation for
the market development. The discount rate used is pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the risks
specific to the relevant industry. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the respective
CGUs to exceed its recoverable amount. During the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no impairment loss was
recognised.

17.

B2 W)

M20209F3A318 & = H H &
2. HMWEBREE MWE- B
BEERRBEURERBEEE
B # B ¥14,810,0007T « B ¥
2,616,0007C * & #114,232,0007C
& 7 #4,100,0007T (20194 « 7 #&
15,875,0007T * ##3,894,0007T
75 104,603,0007T M Z) 48 Ak 59 11t
ReEFEBEMETREN G WR
BEstAkEemER2EHER
CELEBNTHAEENERTZ
LEEVERE - ZAEFERAER
AAREEMENAFHFEER
ReERETEE - BRES R AEF
10.95% (20194F : 10.82%) ° #B @5
FHHRERELOERRIEE -
HBEeREMTHEENEREEA
AENTFERRRETFERER
Ko EFERBIBEERE - I HE
RBERENEEBYHMSEREN
TEE - FAMAIRERERRE ST
BEHEBTESTRBONTGEN
Haflx ERERE  EAZF
FERME A EAREERY TS
BEReELBMNNEAESRAR
ATUR 4 8 o B = 20204 K 20194
SABIHLEFE  WEBRARES

18 -
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. EMtEEE

Customer
Patents relationships Total
57 EEBR st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
BETT BETT BETT
COST BN
At 1 April 2018 R201854H1H - - -
Addition through acquisition of BRRENBEARRE
subsidiaries (Note 42) (Bt it42) 2,372 1,522 3,894
At 31 March 2019 20199 3H31H 2,372 1,522 3,894
Exchange realignment (R (240) (153) (393)
At 31 March 2020 720209 3A31H 2,132 1,369 3,501
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND  Z&H# 85 BB
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2018 R20185F4F1H - - -
Charge for the year FARFA - - -
At 31 March 2019 20194 3H31H - - -
Charge for the year FAGFA 167 729 896
Exchange realignment BE B ) ©) (11)
At 31 March 2020 42020463 H31H 165 720 885
NET CARRYING VALUES REHE
At 31 March 2020 20203 A31H 1,967 649 2,616
At 31 March 2019 20194 3H318 2,372 1,522 3,894

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such

biEREENERFHAR -

iz

intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over

the following periods:

Patents 5 — 15 years, shorter of the
remaining contractual life
and estimated useful life

Customer relationships 1 — 2 years

Details of impairment assessment of other intangible assets

are set out in note 17.
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19.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—BBHEQTRAZER
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T 7T T
Cost of investment in an associate R—HEBERARZ
- unlisted BAEKAK - LT 44,462 44,462
Share of post-acquisition profit and 2 1& W B 8% | )z &
other comprehensive income ftb 2 T UK 2= (2,210) 485
42,252 44,947
Loan to an associate (note) m— e AR ER
(K1 at) 19,224 20,445
61,476 65,392
Note: Loan to an associate is deemed capital which is unsecured, non- Hiat: m—EBEARNERABRERER

interest bearing where settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur in the foreseeable future. Further details of impairment

is set out in note 22.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group had interest in

the following material associate:

HEEMR T

FHE R EETBIH R

AIEERKMEE - BEE-FFHE

BRI FE22 -

720209 201943 H31H » A& H
RTINEZBERTHEEER:

Proportion of
ownership interests

Principal or participating Proportion of
Form of Country of place of Class of shares indirectly held  voting power
Name of entity entity registration operation  shares held by the Group indirectly held  Principal activity
rEEREREEAR
FeEkEESS BERE
EREE EEp EMER EEELE FEROER SR AL REELH FTEXH
2020 2019 2020 2019
Perfect View Enterprises Incorporated  Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong ~ Ordinary 40% 40% 40% 40% Investment holding
Limited (“Perfect View") FEffift iz % &% 3ol and its subsidiary,
BRGCEFRAA Windmill Street
(&%) Development

Limited (“Windmill
Street”), is
involved in property
development in
United Kingdom

RELR  AMBA

A Windmill Street
Development Limited
([windmill Street])
NEREMERR
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 19. R—EHERAT 2=
(%)
The summarised financial information prepared using HKFRS EEEAEENEER G RIZER
in respect of the associate of the Group is accounted for EAREZERBAVBRELELR
using equity method is set out below: HNPBERBENT :
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current assets mEBEE 100,326 101,267
Non-current assets ERBEE 529,788 254,660
Current liabilities mEBE (74,120) (40,213)
Non-current liabilities ERBEME (450,364) (203,347)
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
B £20205F #H £2019F
3A31HLFEE 3A3ALFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Revenue I 2% = -
Profit (loss) for the year FRaF (EiE) 2,938 (10)
Other comprehensive expense for REEEME2ERX
the year (9,675) (8,447)
Total comprehensive expense for the ARFE & M X 425
year (6,737) (8,457)
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mEMBRRMHE

19.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
the associate is set out below:

R—EHEARZ2ER
(%)

Fit 25 7 B E5 & BT 2 B 0 B
AT S EEENSES M
T

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T T T

Net assets of the associate BERNa 2 EEFE 105,630 112,367
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEEREBEZNES

interest in Perfect View e 2= Lo ) 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group's REEBRERERN

interest in Perfect View BRMEE 42,252 44,947

As at 31 March 2020, the directors performed an
impairment assessment of the interest in Perfect View
and determined that it is not impaired based on the
estimated recoverable amount with reference to a value-
in-use calculation of Perfect View. That calculation used
cash flow projections based on estimated future cash flows
expected to be generated by the associate and applied a
discount rate at 16.48% (2019: 16.90%) per annum. The
key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation related
to the estimation of cash flow included gross margin and
discount rate. Gross margin represents budgeted gross
margin, which is based on past performance and the
management’s expectation for the market development.
The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the risks specific to the relevant
industry. Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the interest in Perfect View to exceed
its recoverable amount. During the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019, no impairment loss was recognised.

MR2020F3A31H r EE HE R #
HEITRENE  TETET A2
EERFEAEENEREMGA T
Bl e ETRE - ZATEFERAMNIE
SRTER R ERZE L AR TEE
EMGEIARRB SR WHRBR
FF%E16.48% (20194 : 16.90%) °
HIESREGRTEENERER
HAENETEBRREEEFNRKEER
Ko EHRBEHFETHE  HHE
RBEEENEEEYMERRE
ROHAZE - FRE A BRI R R R A1 FI
- RMEATISEEBITERSTE
BB BEEEBRATMZS
BRENTHAEAeEFSHY T eE
MEZEZNEEEBBETKRE
SEE - HE2020F3A31HILFE -
MEERREEIE -
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mEMBRRMHE

20. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 20. £ EE

Nature of the Group’s agricultural activities

The biological assets of the Group are live aquatic products
at various stages of development, including fish seedlings,
fishes, crab seedlings, crabs, shrimp seedlings and shrimps,
which are classified as current assets. Biological assets also
include breeding stock, which are used to produce future
live fishes, crabs and shrimps and classified as non-current
assets of the Group. The quantity of live fishes, crabs,
shrimps and breeding stock owned by the Group at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

AEEEEITHHME
AEEENEERSEARDE
EZRBERSBENERKE
ERHE R EH B BE
B EMAENOEREE  IE
RIEBERREBY S EAKER
BIERBAE - ARERBEEE
BANERABERABENYE
o

As at As at

31 March 2020 31 March 2019
7A2020F3H318 7201943 831H

Kg Kg

F= T

Live fishes EEA 66,420 229,811
Breeding stock REBE 73,890 63,260
140,310 293,071

Live crabs A EEAE 52,713 14,279
Breeding stock REE 5,476 47
58,189 14,326

Live shrimps A B IR 2,695 2,910
Breeding stock REE 59,475 40,848
62,170 43,758

The Group is exposed to risks arising from environmental
and climatic changes, commodity prices and financing risks.
The Group diversified the geographical location of farms to
mitigate the adverse climatic conditions such as droughts
and floods. The Group established effective internal control
procedures and policies to comply with environmental
regulations and relevant laws.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ERRME
20. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 20. £MEE®
Carrying value of the Group’s biological assets AEBEYEENREE
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At the beginning of the financial R BE E )
year 32,054 -
Addition through acquisition of FRWERBRRIAE
subsidiaries (Note 42) (ffi#42) = 32,390
Increase due to purchase and EERBERERD
breeding 30 58,092 1,056
Changes in fair value NEEED 13,196 410
Decrease due to death or defects KETRIBIEBEKD
Ve (7,013) (772)
Decrease due to sale 5 3 KRR (73,821) (909)
Exchange realignment PE 5 58 2 (1,786) (121)
At the end of the financial year R BEFER 20,722 32,054
Analysed for reporting purpose Bt 3R &% AT ES T
As at As at
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
720205 20194
3A31H 3A31H
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Live fishes o= 12,353 26,773
Live crabs e 3,524 1,679
Live shrimps A B IR 4,845 3,602
20,722 32,054
Less: current portion B mBE S (8,421) (21,638)
Non-current portion JEm B EB D 12,301 10,416
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20. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group's biological assets were valued by Shenzhen
Zhongkehua Capital Rating Co., Limited (“Shenzhen
Zhongkehua”), independent qualified professional valuers
not connected with the Group. The address of Shenzhen
Zhongkehua is Tiangong Security Market 9CF029,
Niulangian Industrial Building, Longsheng West Road,
Longhua District, Shenzhen, China. The fair value less costs
to sell of biological assets are determined with reference
to the market-determined prices of items with similar age,
breed and genetic merit.

Changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets
include changes in the fair value of the aquatic products
at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Key assumptions and inputs

The major significant unobservable inputs to the valuation
of the biological assets include estimated market price and
breeding costs.

Set forth below are the valuation techniques, key
assumptions and inputs adopted in the valuation process to
determine the fair values of the Group’s biological assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

20. EYMEE ®)

AFETE

N & B % E & E B Shenzhen
Zhongkehua Capital Rating Co.,
Limited ([Shenzhen Zhongkehual)
ME HRRAEEHERED
BYABREEMER - Shenzhen
Zhongkehua # b 41k & A B R I 5E 3
EEBAKFIHIIIZERNERSL
B3 T 359CF029 - M A EH R F
BEREERAT2ZFH  mEk
EEENMARNERN TS EER
= o

EMEENRAFERLEERAES
£ 5 7220204 KX201943H31H /K
ENATFEEZSD -

TERRERBAYE
EYMEEHENIZERATAER
BWABBEERGMSERLERE
RS

TXH BT BRERFENOGER
fit TEBELRBAZBE  UEE
M20204 & 201943A31H &N &£

as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. EYMEENRTE:

As at As at

31 March 2020 31 March 2019

720205 20194

3A31H 3H31H

HKS$ HK$

it B
Live fishes: e

Per kg market price BT B 14 to 197 18 to 160
Live crabs: E -

Per kg market price BT & 52 to 71 50 to 160
Live shrimps: L3

Per kg market price BFEmisE 43 to 87 52 to 126
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

20. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

21.

Key assumptions and inputs (continued)

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated market price
and the estimated production volume in isolation would
result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of
the biological assets.

The fair values of the Group’s biological assets at 31 March
2020 and 2019 are grouped into Level 2 of fair value
measurement. There were no transfers between any levels
of fair value hierarchy during the year.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements of biological assets:

The fair values of fishes, crabs and shrimps are determined
using market comparison approach by reference to recent
sales price of comparable aquatic products using market
data which is publicly available.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. In
estimating the fair value of the biological assets, the highest
and best use of the biological assets is their current use.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20.

21.

Y EE®
FTERBREABE(E)
EEMS - B mERGEHEEA
BEF, TREEMENEEAT
EAWE LT T -

REE K AEYE EMN20204 %2019
FIANEMAFEREAFE R
NEEFE - RFR - EHAFE
BHzEEERE -

EMEEF _RAVEFEEMRN
CRERSRINSE PN ¢/

B EBRBRNAFELERTISL
BOXETE  ER2ERARASGM
SREBESHOA L EKEMNTIHE

#H 20204 &2019%3A31H 1IF £
EFANMERMEEES o (5T
EMEENAFER  £WEEN
EakxERAEAREEZRAR -

BAVEHFABEZNSH
gE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT ok a
Unlisted equity investment in the PRC R ABEIAR b
Pt 1 & 1,012 892

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the above unlisted equity
investment represents investment in 0.19% unlisted equity
interest in a private entity incorporated in the PRC. The
investment is measured at fair value using cost approach
based on a valuation carried out by Shenzhen Zhongkehua,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. The fair value measurement is categorised
as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

M2020F K 2019438318 » il 3E
ETRAE AR — BEER
BN EYFL A B B20.19% FE T R
RIEE - ZREFRARNNEZATF
Bif2 BERHEASEHERE
K98 LA B 1 B E{HERShenzhen
ZhongkehuaFT#ETTHI G {E © 3% A F
BEAERRFEEBRTPEEE -
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

22. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS/OTHER HMFERBEE HibR

CURRENT ASSETS BHEE
Other non-current assets HMERBEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Zero coupon bond TESFA - 12,361
Club debenture B ES 460 460
460 12,821
Other current assets HReEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Zero coupon bonds TEEEF 48,245 -

The zero coupon bond represented three (2019: one) bonds
issued by Windmill Street, an indirectly held associate of
the Company, with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$48,245,000 (equivalent to principal amount and
imputed interest of GBP4,700,000 and GBP320,000
respectively) (2019: HK$12,361,000 (equivalent to principal
amount and imputed interest of GBP1,200,000 and
GBP25,000 respectively)) for financing the development
costs for the property to be developed by the associate.
The zero coupon bonds carried effective interest rate
ranging from 9.89% to 15.64% (2019: 11.27%) per annum
and is redeemable at specified redemption price from 31
May 2020 until 31 December 2020 pursuant to the bond
agreements.

The Group measures the loss allowance for zero coupon

TEBBEFERLASEHEEREAN
Bt 42 A T Windmill Street 2178 =15
(2019F : — () EH REENA
75 #548,245,0007T (18 & A& & fh
H R BBl A TEE24,700,000T K 5
$5320,000)(20194F : & #12,361,000
THEERAE RE é‘ﬂ S
4 $£1,200,0007T R f%zaooo))
ARABE R rBAEMENR
BRAREES TEBBEHFIK
FFENTF9.89%E15.64% (20194 :
11.27%) NEBRFIXETE - RIEEFH
3% 8202055 A31 B #E B & 20204
RANBEARSEFELEED -

AEBUHEERREARBEES

bonds and loan to an associate in note 18 at an amount B SR ETRRESFRMT 18
equal to 12-month ECL. The management considered that Fr #k M) — Hﬁ?%@jgﬂﬁ'}l@ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
there is no significant increase in credit risk on the zero o BEE /\F%f?%%t\%‘&ﬁ—

coupon bonds and loan to an associate, and thus no
impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31
March 2020 and 2019.

The club debenture represents club membership in a
private club with indefinite useful life in Hong Kong and
is measured at cost less impairment. The directors of the
Company consider no impairment identified with reference
to the second hand market price of the club debenture as
at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 23. EEHRIEEE(AE)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets UNTRELHEEEEBE NS
(liabilities) for the financial reporting purposes: M MEB I SRERE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Deferred tax assets FEEFIBEE 910 425
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE (8.719) (6,205)
(7,809) (5,780)
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) RAFERBEFE  BEBRBNHE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and ERCEHMEBEEE(BR)RAEZHN
prior years: i
Allowance for
Intangible impairment
Revaluation assets  loss of trade
Accelerated of property, arising from receivables
tax plant and acquisition of and other
depreciation Tax Losses equipment  subsidiaries receivables Others Total
g EBHE
WK E LR REfER
mEHE ERT/ES E£M RERE
TE BHEFE HBERRE BIEE FRRE Hitr “E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  AETR BETT BETT BETT AETRT BT
At 1 April 2018 120185418 (5,001) - - - - - (500
Acquisition of subsidiaries R EH B A

(note 42) (Hit42) - - (2,287) (584) 375 - (2,496)
Charged to profit or loss & AB# (Ai£10)

(note 10) 1,615 50 54 - - - 1,719
Exchange realignment ERAR - - (2) - - - )
At 31 March 2019 R2019%3H31H (3,386) 50 (2,235) (584) 375 - (5,780)
Charged to profit or loss &AM (A/##70)

(note 10) (3,070) - 269 134 321 176 (2,170)
Exchange realignment [E 5 A% - - 116 37 9) 3) 141
At 31 March 2020 #202053A318 (6,456) 50 (1,850) (413) 687 173 (7,809)
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23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets for tax losses arising in the PRC of
approximately HK$59,461,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB54,412,000) (2019: HK$47,879,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB40,961,000)) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams that will expire after five years from
the year of assessment to which they relate to. The tax
losses of approximately HK$59,461,000 will expire five years
from the year of origination. As at 31 March 2020, tax
losses of approximately HK$10,751,000, HK$24,750,000,
HK$3,618,000 and HK$20,342,000 will expire in years
ended 31 March 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024. (2019: nil,
HK$13,300,000, HK$30,549,000 and HK$4,030,000 will
expire in years ended 31 March 2020, 2021, 2022 and
2023).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$5,716,000 (2019: HK$4,549,000)
arising in other jurisdictions available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of approximately HK$5,716,000 (2019:
HK$4,549,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax losses of approximately HK$5,716,000
(2019: RMB4,549,000) may be carried forward indefinitely.

Annual Report 2019/20 “F %R

23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

EEBEEE (&

3 f8) &

M2020F3A31H - K & B ¥ *
?ﬁﬁéﬂh@%iﬁﬁré =] %@5’@5%
59,461,000 (M8 & R 4 A R ¥
54,412 00073)(2019¢ s
47,879,000t (45 & W H A B &
40,961,0007T)) i R iE & F 18 &
E-FRARMEENA E%E’Juﬁﬁirg
REET T 12 B HI A9 R R R AR &
TR FER M TRIE BB OB
59,461,000 ¥ A R E £ F E 18
i EF Em o K202063A8318 -
T 78 B 48 49 78 #10,751,0007T &
#24,750,0007T & #3,618,000
7T & 78 #20,342,0007T # 72021
20224 - 20239F K2024437
BB EFEREMmQOFE: T - B
#13,300,0007C + 76 #30,549,000
JC K 884,030,000 #57420204F -
20214 ~ 20224 J&202393H31H
IEFEEm) °

MR2020F3A31H » KEE A H ity
RZEZEREENAEREES
%% 4 % ¥5716,0007T (20194 :
s #4, 549 0007T) A] A A 3K 88 K
Xﬁuﬂ E!aﬁéﬂix/mﬂmﬂ’JTT
TE ORI ME - BE At 4) 7 #65,716,000
70 (20194 & & #4,549,0007T) ##E
RELERIBEE - MIBEBENE
#5,716,0007T (20195 : A R &
4,549,000 T ) A] £ [R H 45
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23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

(continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$8,035,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB7,352,000) (2019: HK$8,247,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB7,066,000)) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

At 31 March 2020, the Group had deductible differences
of approximately HK$4,004,000 (2019: HK$2,201,000).
Deferred tax asset of approximately HK$687,000 (2019:
HK$375,000) had been recognised on temporary difference
of approximately HK$3,171,000 (2019: HK$2,201,000).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the
remaining deductible temporary difference of approximately
HK$833,000 (2019: nil) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

23.
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EEBAEEE(RBR)®

BB EFEMEHE - B2008F1H
1H 5t 5 BB B A R AT B AL A
FAEReEEBEIEMRE - &
Z20206F3A3HMEE 4 Y
BHREWL RGP ENBERE R
% F # 78 #8,035,000T (18 & »
# AN R #7352,0007T) (20194 :
78 18,247,000 (FEE RO AR
7,066,0007T)) 5| Bk 2 E B R VE
EEFBEE AR EE
BB O E R ERE o RE - MERE
AN ERLGRED -

M20209F3A31H » AEEEE A
T 18 Z 7 40 75 %4,004,0007T (2019
0 75 #2,201,0007T) © IE A AR 1A
& E #) B ¥687,0007T (20194 ¢
78 375,0007T) B FE R E B xR
#9 7 #3,171,0007T (20194F : & ¥
2,201,0007T) ° £ 5t T 8 77 108
R = BE 49 78 #833,0007T (2019
FT)RERECHBEE AR
FRE B = RS 0] AR K A] T8
B R 2R S ) SRR BT o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

24. INVENTORIES 2. B8

2020 2019
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Raw materials and supplies FRA B Rt FE G 416 668
Finished goods X & 19,419 15,457
19,835 16,125

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. ESRIWAIE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Trade receivables H 5 W IR 154,697 128,641
Less: allowance for impairment loss 3 : J8 18 /&5 18 B & (4,004) (2,201)
150,693 126,440

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

At 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the trade
receivables which has been pledged as security for the
borrowing, is approximately HK$9,177,000 (2019: nil).
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25.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

For construction services, the Group does not have a
standardised and universal credit period granted to its
customers, and the credit period of individual customer
is considered on a case-by-case basis and stipulated in
the project contract, as appropriate. For sales of aquatic
products, the Group allows an average credit period ranging
from 90 days to 180 days. The following is an aged analysis
of trade receivables, presented based on the certified report
or dates of delivery of goods which approximates revenue
recognition date at the end of each reporting period, and
net of impairment loss recognised:

25.

ESEWREG®S
LRI T S - AN B o
REBMESHETHLES - @R
EEMEEHEE AENERRR
HEAHFRTE(MER) - siye
KERTS - AEE £ ZFN T8
FIS0EMFEHEEH - RiFRAS
AR s R B AR E i B
HEHREAEII0E 5 E YR
E ) B B DT (G0 B B R A0 R B
EE) WM

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

0 to 30 days 0%Z30H 87,746 48,683
31 to 60 days 31%60H 32,580 29,722
61 to 90 days 61Z90H 8,423 22,606
91 to 180 days 91%180H 9,968 13,027
181 to 365 days 181%365H 8,557 6,080
Over 365 days 3658 A + 3,419 6,322
150,693 126,440

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit
losses on trade receivables are estimated by reference
to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis
of the debtor’'s current financial position, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments in the segments of “Foundation and
other civil works”, “Tunneling works” and “Breeding, sales
and trading of aquatic products”, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases in the corresponding
segments.

AEEZESRE2HEREERS
BB EEZRRFANER
Bk BHREFENEREES
BH2EEBANBEROERK
HEBARRITH AR DT
T YMEBANFERSR
BEBARLLMETENERBEEN
R R B S E AT S FEORIIA R
HREFEELTFEE -

HRASENBEEEEFRERY
AMMMEREMEARTE] [
BIRIMDKERE  HERES]
TREPDMBTREATREER
A ERAHARNEREETS
E—FRASEEBED TN TEE
FPREZERD -
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 25. ESEWFRIE &)
The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables REER I E R & KE P IEE R
based on individually significant customer or the ageing of BEAEPZEAERRRAREER
customers collectively that are not individually significant by HRESEWHEN2HBEHREE
using a provision matrix. [Ei=
As at 31 March 2020 202053 831H
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
e Fi9
HEEE REAE FERE KREEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETx BETx
Current (not past due) BIER (R 8 H) 0.07% 147,679 106 147,573
Less than 3 month past due B R31E A 2.42% 890 22 868
More than 3 months but less than 7 Hi #8 i@ 318 A
6 months past due 1B r6fE A 28.68% 3,084 885 2,199
More than 6 months but less than #8232 18618 A
12 months past due BOR1218 A 71.22% 186 133 53
More than 12 months but less than — # HIfB:B121E A
24 months past due BAHm241E A 100% 2,816 2,816 -
More than 24 months but less than L EIfR 82418 A
36 months past due 18 m361E A 100% 42 42 -
154,697 4,004 150,693
As at 31 March 2019 720194 3A31H
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount  allowance amount
N
EHEEEX KHAE BERE KEHEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BETT BETH
Current (not past due) BIER (R #8 H) 0.25% 120,114 305 119,809
Less than 3 month past due B R3ME A 5.89% 3,463 204 3,259
More than 3 months but less than 7% Hi #8 i@ 318 A
6 months past due B R6fE A 32.86% 5,022 1,650 3,372
More than 12 months but less than — # HIfB 81218 A
24 months past due BAHm241E A 100% 42 42 -
128,641 2,201 126,440
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 25. E S EWFRIE®)
The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of trade BoRWHIBREBIEREZESH
receivables is set out below: FIan T
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T 7T T
1 April 4H1H 2,201 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wy 5 B B8 A &) - 2,209
Allowance for impairment loss WEBEREE 1,996 -
Exchange realignment PE & 582 (193) (8)
31 March 3A31H 4,004 2,201
26. LOAN RECEIVABLE 26. ERE R
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T & T T
Loan receivable & B X - 18,180

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has a loan receivable from
the vendor of BGI Marine of HK$18,180,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,576,000), which was unsecured and non-interest
bearing. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the loan
receivable was settled by plant and machinery from the

vendor.

The Group measured the loss allowance for loan receivable
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The management
considered that there was no significant increase in credit
risk on the loan receivable, and thus no impairment losses

recognised during the year ended 31 March 2019.

M201943A31H » AEEEUE X
BEE H R E 38 #18,180,0007T
(FHZE N ARE15,576,0 0 0JT) * %
SEREER R TEE o # %2020
FIAMBALEFE  BREFUAER
O i 25 R A S A o

AREBRBERNRBAESHEES
BHSETERKERNEIE R
H-EEHERAEBREREERR
WEBEEZ LA FARE E201943
B31BIFETEERREESE -
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mEMBRRMHE

27. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 27. SHNEEREGNEE
LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (@) EHEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok eI
Analysed as current: PHBRRE
Retention receivables of BEANEKRRES
construction contracts (note a) (B ita) 72,360 68,516
Unbilled revenue of construction BEEALZ RKEZHE
contracts (note b) pa & ) 84,165 20,266
156,525 88,782

At 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the
retention receivables which have been pledged
as security for the borrowing, is approximately
HK$16,624,000 (2019: nil).

Notes:

(a) Retention receivables included in contract assets
represent the Group's right to receive consideration for
work performed because the rights are conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers
over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The
contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically
at the expiry date of the period for the provision of
assurance by the Group on the service quality of the
construction work performed by the Group. The due
dates for retention receivables are usually one to two
years after the completion of construction work.

(b) Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents
the Group’s right to receive consideration for work
completed but not yet billed because the rights are
conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on
the construction work completed by the Group and the
work is pending for the certification by the customers.
The contract assets are transferred to the trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional, which
is typically at the time the Group obtains the certification
of the completed construction work from the customers.

Contract assets are included in current assets as the
Company expects to realise these within its normal
operating cycle.
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FARHAEZRUKRES
FEAREEF D E X TR YR
REZERN - REZERE#E
MNAREPREHNRE T
HREAERBEERTIME
BITAMEE - B HEBER
PEGHFRB CBERAE
B AKEMERERTRE
MR EERHEERHH
EWmBE) . ANEESEY
E=EFEWR - EYIRE
SZHHRRERELETE
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HAGHEEZRBEREZ
W AR B FE R
AREBEEF2TRUBMAREZ
A - REE AR RN AR
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BRRMERTAEERLS
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1 R 4 A A A6 1R R (2
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27. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

27. EHNEEREGHNERA®

Contract assets (continued) (@) EHEEE)
The recovery or settlement for contract assets 720204 &2019¢3ﬂ 318 -
pursuant to the terms of contracts as at 31 March EREEBREBEAENERBK
2020 and 2019 is as follows: EsAEZEMAT:
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within one year —FR 142,820 81,721
Over one year HiE—F 13,705 7,061
156,525 88,782

The Group measures the loss allowance for contract
assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. At 31
March 2020 and 2019, the Group assessed the
impact of loss allowance for impairment of contract
assets was insignificant.

Contract liabilities

AEBEASEREHESE
BEEENESBITEANEE
&5 18 & o 120204 %2019
F3A31H - AEEFBFTED
EEREBzZEBEEENEZE
BTEK-

(b) EXHERE

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T T T

Construction services (note a) BERS (K ita) - 7,102

Sales of aquatic products (note b)  $8 &EKE (f1i£b) 21,206 11,861

21,206 18,963

Notes: e

(a) The excess of cumulative billings for construction work (a) REZANBERCELETIRER

over the cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss
is recognised as contract liabilities

(b) Contract liabilities include advances received from
customers before delivery of aquatic products.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March
2020 that was included in the contract liabilities as
at 1 April 2019 is HK$18,963,000 (1 April 2018:
HK$24,746,000). There was no revenue recognised
in the current year that related to performance
obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

BENE AE&%#H&&&Z%B%
DER/EHAE

(b) ARNEEEERXNKER
WER & P ) TR R

P2019F481H - RA WA
& A% BR 2 8 22020934
BNHEFERRANKE BB
#18,963,0007T (2018F 4 A1
H: & %24,746,0007T) ° 7
FETEREREHERE—FE

DERNEHE MO -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

28.

29.

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 28. & AANREKRHARE
RECEIVABLES W I
The following is an analysis of deposits, prepayments and REREHR EE  BEIRER
other receivables at the end of each reporting period: HthER KB STUOT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Deposits bi-dcna 24,201 15,149
Prepayments TE FRIE 20,624 24,901
Other receivables H b Y 3R IE 28,888 18,656
73,713 58,706
Included in other receivables of approximately POE b UM R TE A BR A RIE
HK$1,122,000 (2019: HK$1,724,000) are placed with 47 7% #1,122,0007T (20194 « & #&
certain insurance companies for the guarantees in respect 1,724,0000) D7 B2 R B ERB A
of performance bonds in favor of the Group's customers. AERAUAEERFPAZZE AN
Details refer to note 38. BAREBHEIER - FEBELHM
38 °
Included in other receivables is a receivable arising from Hqth i W R TB AR B AR B B A0 B
sales of technical know-how amounting to approximately EE HE ) E W RIE £ 7% 15 21,856,000
HK$21,856,000 (equivalent to RMB20,000,000) (2019: nil). T (8 & ® A R %20,000,0007T)
Details are set out in note 8. In May 2020, the amount was (20194F « #&) o FF 15 & A BT 58 ©
fully settled. R2020F5H - Z K BB & A
&
The Group measures the loss allowance for deposits and AEERBSERREAERREES
other receivables at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The BHSBETER e R EMEIRK
management considered that there is no significant increase BHEEREG BTEERAREER
in credit risk on the deposits and other receivables, and thus HithEWFHIENEERR Y mEE
no impairment losses recognised during the year ended 31 #on - Ak 8 £20204F K£201943
March 2020 and 2019. A3BLEFEY EERREERE -
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 29. RITHEBGRRE

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates which range from0.01% to 1.2%
(2019: 0.01% to 1.2%) per annum.
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BITHEBBESARTERNX
B A RN T EFR001% B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

30. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade and retention payables
at the end of each reporting period:

30.

BEZRNRERENRE

&
REBSHR  EHENREANE

==t
NEREZHIHTWT

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Trade payables H 5N RIE 80,311 46,976
Retention payables FERRE 2 18,823 12,429
99,134 59,405

The average credit period on purchases of goods is from 30
to 180 days (2019: 30 to 180 days). The Group has financial
risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables
are settled within the credit timeframe. The following is
the aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

KEEMNFHEEEA30E180
H (20194 : 30E180H) - K&EEE
FIET B 75 R 6 B B R ARE R FT A
FER IR BRBEERANLES - RN®
SR BESRNRBIREZAY
AEMRROTTIT

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

0 to 90 days 02 90H 69,373 33,708
91 to 180 days 91£180H 4,923 3,323
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 4,087 7,252
Over 365 days 3658 A £ 1,928 2,693
80,311 46,976
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

31. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

31. BsfEAREMENRE

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Accruals fEETB R 25,580 18,375

Payables of litigation claim FFEA R B I

(Note (a)) (Ht it (a) 2,750 2,127
Consideration payable to vendor ERHERESFERN

of BGI Marine (Note (b)) RAE (K72t (b)) - 84,622

Construction fee payable ERREER 2,287 11,339

Other payables (Note (c) H b JE S SR IE (M 72 () 14,035 12,181

44,652 128,644

Notes:

b)

A subsidiary has been named as a defendant in High Court
actions in respect of a dispute of the outstanding legal fee for
amounts of approximately HK$1,914,000 in 2014. The case was
finalised in May 2020. According to the consent order by the
High Court dated 6 May 2020, the Group needs to pay a sum
of HK$2,750,000 to the plaintiff. Approximately HK$2,127,000
payables of litigation claim, represented the original outstanding
amount, had been made in the consolidated financial
statements in 2019. Additional provision of HK$623,000 is
provided during the year ended 31 March 2020. It was fully
settled in May 2020.

It included consideration payable of approximately
HK$35,016,000 (equivalent to RMB30,000,000) which was due
for payment within five business days (and before 15 April
2019) after the completion of the acquisition of BGI Marine
(note 42) and approximately HK$49,606,000 (equivalent to
RMB42,500,000) which was to be settled before 15 October
2019 pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement with the
vendor of BGI Marine. During the year ended 31 March 2020,
the consideration was fully settled.

Included in other payable of approximately HK$5,485,000
(2019: HK$5,680,000) is payable to a director of a subsidiary
of the Company, which is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand as at 31 March 2020.
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b)

Q)

BB FAUDR2014FH R
A2 B B4 7% 1,914,000 — [
NN ISR ATSE 7N Nk
BWs o ZEME R2020F58 5%
B o 1R & = 5 A BT A Hi 8202045
A6EMRAES AEEFTERR
# 3 7% #2,750,0007T © B R 4R
AU BmRPIEL 48 %2,127,000
TLHFARRENREEERARE
ELHE) B E2020F3F318 1L
EASKEEIRENEEEE
623,000 * ER20204F5 A &S 45

=
/B °

BREBEEERESFEHTL
MEEHZENHOREBEHNBE
35,016,000 (8 & B A B #
30,000,0007T) * % 7 T8 1A 5T Ak IR
BEAEE (a2 B REL 2R
(BN20194% 4 A158 A1) 2 B X 4 &
49 75 149,606,000 (FHE R AR
#42,500,0007T) * #% 3 T8 142019
F10A15H B 45 & - B £202043
A3BLEEFE  REEEHEE -

%9 7 #5,485,0007T (20194F : /8 1
5,680,0007T ) /) £ b & (- SR IB B &
20206 3A831H B IKF - T &
REREREZNEMNEAQR—H
MEBARZ —REENHIE -
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32. |RITRHEMEE

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T 7T T

Bank borrowings, guaranteed (note (i) ﬁE;?/;E;% )' B R
oz 20) 171,769 34,594

Bank borrowing, unsecured (note ())  $R{TEE - HEIKIF
(B &) 1,093 -
Total bank borrowings RITEEESE 172,862 34,594

Other borrowings, guaranteed (note (i) H\;ﬂlﬁ[%‘é“ ) BEER
B &% (in) 11,500 11,500

Other borrowings, unsecured (note (i) HEE - &K
(K7 &2 (i) 11,656 3,749
Total other borrowings HEmfgER% 23,156 15,249
196,018 49,843

Notes: Wit -
0) Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan (i) RIEEZRWEMHNTEETERA
agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on demand Y - 0 2B UA TN fRIIR ERE R K
clause as follows: RO E:

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Within 1 year —FR 143,247 33,124
Between 1 and 2 years —EWF 14,420 1,470
Between 2 and 5 years ZERF 15,195 -
172,862 34,594

Carrying amount of bank borrowings that ~ BZERKEHRLE—F A

are not repayable within one year from HEMNRITERETE -

the end of the reporting period but HEEBEREKREEBKK

contain a repayment on demand clause 29,615 1,470
Carrying amount of bank borrowings that ARREHAKRET —FA

are repayable within one year from the BEEREEREREER

end of the reporting period and contain BEREORITER 2 REE

a repayment on demand clause 116,943 21,124
Carrying amount repayable within one year —FREERTE SR BN

and do not contain repayment on demand BREXNEDE

clause 26,304 12,000

Amounts shown under current liabilities MEBEERETIRNERE 172,862 34,594
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mEMBRRMHE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes. (continued)

)

(ii)

(iii)

(continued)

The bank borrowings of approximately HK$146,558,000 (2019:
HK$23,038,000) were denominated in HK$ carrying interest
at variable-rate with an interest rate of 3-month Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 1.5% to 2.75% (2019:
1.5%-2.25%) per annum, guaranteed by the ultimate holding
company and its subsidiaries.

As at 31 March 2019, certain bank borrowings of approximately
HK$11,556,000 (equivalent to RMB9,900,000) (2020: nil) carried
fixed interest rate of 6.175% per annum, guaranteed by the
former shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group was repaid
during the year.

As at 31 March 2020, the secured bank borrowings of
HK$20,840,000 carried fixed interest rate of 4.785% per
annum and HK$4,371,000 carried floating interest rate of Loan
Prime Rate (equivalent to approximate RMB19,070,000 and
RMB4,000,000) (2019: nil), guaranteed by the vice chairman of
the Group and the subsidiaries’ credit were used for oversea
trading and daily operation respectively.

Unsecured bank borrowing of approximately HK$1,093,000
(equivalent to RMB1,000,000) carried floating rate of Loan
Prime Rate (“LPR”) plus 0.6% per annum for financing the
Group's operations.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, other borrowing of
HK$11,500,000 is guaranteed by shareholders of a subsidiary of
the Group and carried fixed interest rate of 10% per annum.

As at 31 March 2020, unsecured other borrowing of
approximately HK$11,656,000, (equivalent to RMB10,667,000)
(2019: HK$3,749,000 (equivalent to RMB3,200,000)), carried
fixed interest rate of 4.79% to 8% (2019: 5.39%) per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group obtained new
borrowings of approximately HK$182,263,000 (2019: HK$18,917,000).
The proceeds were used to finance the Group’s operations and
subscription of associate’s bond.
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32. RITREMEE®
Kt (&)
(i) (&)

(i)

(iii)

%) 75 %146,558,0007T (20194 : &
#:23,038,0007T) A iR 17 f& & LA B
MitE R-EANBEBRITAZE
FE(TEHRITRERED MFF
K1.5% £2.75% (2019F : 1.5% &=
2.25%) K F BN A KETE - I RIE
BABIRENRBARER -

M2019F3A318 4 & &
11,556,0007C (48 & H A R &
9,900,0007T)((20204F : #) M % T
R 1718 B IR E E F F £6.175% &
B BASE— KB AR AT
BREER RERNEEZE -

2020438318 AEEE £ &
EWBERARIEEMERNG KA
R 17 & X 8 #20,840,0007T (3%
FE M EA.785% it B) R B K
4371000 (EERFEEF X
RFBFEFE)HERDARE
19,070,0007T & A E #4,000,000
JC)(2019%F : &) - K RIARE IR
SLHFEE-

AR IRER 1T (B 5405 %51,093,0007T
(FAERAER®1,000,0007T) IRE K
BEEMNER(ERHZEEMNEDH
ZERIRNEFE0.6%E - LA
RAEENEEES -

72020%F &2019F3A31H © H 1
f& & % #11,500,0007T f 7N &2 E —
HKBARMBREER  TIRETE
FEFRI0%ETE ©

2020438318 » H 4 & R
& & 4978 #11,656,0007T (10 & 7
A R #10,667,0007T) (20194 : #
#3,749,0007T (1B & R A9 A R &
3,200,0007T)) & [E £ F 7 £ 4.79%
Z=8% (20194 :5.39%) 5T B

HE2020F3A31BILEFERN  NEFEE
B E S #751182,263,0007T (20194 :
75 1618,917,0007T) ° TS RIBRAERANE
EEERREBRENANESFESE -
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33. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

33. MEHESHE

2019
HK$'000
BET T
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HEmEBNITAT
Current liabilities mEAE 1,175

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. These liabilities have been aggregated with
the brought forward balances relating to leases previously
classified as finance leases and disclosed in note 16A.
Comparative information as at 31 March 2019 has not been
restated and relates solely to leases previously classified
as finance leases. Further details on the impact of the
transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 3.

It is the Group's policy to lease certain of its motor vehicles
and machinery under finance lease. The average lease term
is 1-2 years. The obligation under finance leases carried
interest at fixed rates from 1.28% to 3.16% per annum.

AEEBCRABALEBITEBHETNS
JEREBUERELERBF165R I RN
2019F AR 1H AP &5 AR
RELFIRIESD BT ERE175R
NEAKEHENTHERBNEE
BE ZEEBECHEHEBESE
AMERENHEELEESRA O
B TE16AHE FE - 201943 A
BTEMERERWESE - (EHi15E
FrlEAREHENTEEER - &
FREEEBPIERELEDNF 165
VR ENE—DFBENMES -

AEBRNHRABERERHERE
HEFRBMEW - FHHEE A1
E2F o BEMEETUNT1.28%
E316%MNETFHMEEE °

Minimum Present value
lease of minimum
payments lease payments

RERME REREEE

HENE RERE
31/3/2019 31/3/2019
201943 A31H 201943 H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Amounts payable under finance leases MEREERNEE
Within one year —FR 1,184 1,175
More than one year but less than two years HMB—FEAZHAWE - -
1,184 1,175
Less: future finance charges AR B ER (9) N/A
Present value of obligations under finance lease B & EETIRE 1,175 1,175

Less: amounts due for settlement within
1 year (shown under current liabilities)

AR — FRE B ALK
SEMARBHEMETIIR)

(1,175)

Amounts due for settlement after 1 year

R—FRIBAUREBFTOEE

As at 31 March 2019, the finance leases are secured by
certain plant and equipment with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$8,615,000 of subsidiaries.

R201943A31H @ REHEAKE
Nl BRE{EX) A% 8,615,000 TN #H
T2 MR EIEE -
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34. DEFERRED INCOME

34. JEFEW A

35.

HK$'000
BT T
At 1 April 2018 M2018F4A1H -
Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries FRWEMRBARDRE
(Note 42) (Kt it42) 34,500
Additions during the year FARE 584
Credited to profit or loss FTABE (324)
Exchange realignment PE & 582 (123)
At 31 March 2019 72019 3A31H 34,637
Additions during the year FANRE 463
Credited to profit or loss FFAER (7,838)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 3 B (2,014)
At 31 March 2020 720206 3AH31H 25,248

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019,
subsidiaries in the PRC received subsidies from the
government of the PRC for financing research projects on
aquatic products. Deferred income is credited to profit or
loss (i) when the subsidiaries incurred expenditures and
recognised them as expenses on these projects and (ii) on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
assets related to the government subsidies received.

LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS
Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group
is obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances to certain employees
who have completed at least five years of service with
the Group. The amount payable is dependent on the
employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group's retirement plans
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The Group does not set aside any assets to fund any
remaining obligations.
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35.

#H 20204 &2019%3A318 1k F
& PR B A B U B A BT
MBEKEMRER - BERAR
UTEREFABRORKEB AR
EXRAYTHERRAZSHED
59 S BF ¢ R (i) B B BT UK B A IR T A
MEBMNEENAFERFHNER
GRAEHEEARE -

REBRBEEME

REZEERBGHD  AREALES
THEATHAELEABRSAEET
KREDAFRBOETRERE N —
FFHE - BNFEARTZEFREN
REFELRBEFHME - LR
BAREBERARFTE BN EEHERR
BENEEE - ANEELEFERTMA
BENRETASKTREEREHEES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

35. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)
Movement of present value of provision for long service

35. REIRBEET @

FHRGeEENREREZHN

payment obligations is as follows: D
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At 1 April R4a[18 470 380
Charged to profit or loss SEEERENIGY 46 90
At 31 March M3A31H 516 470

Movement of present value of defined benefit obligations

RERVNEBEENHREZHNOT :

is as follows:
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T & T T
At 1 April R4A1H 470 380
Charged to profit or loss B 18 & Bk 46 90
At 31 March M3A31R 516 470

The provision represents the management’s best estimate
of the Group’s liability at the end of the reporting period.
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the amount is calculated
based on the principal assumptions stated as below:

BEEEEENRERRELAER
BEMSEMEE o KR20204 %2019
F3[3MH - 2EOBRBETRETE

B -

2020 2019
Salary inflation rate FeERXE 5% 5%
Discount rate Frg= 0.59%-0.86% 1.42%-1.72%

The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value
of the defined benefit obligation was carried out as at
31 March 2020 and 2019 by Graval Consulting Limited
and LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited respectively. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group
was measured using the projected unit credit method.

AERMECREMNKOHBEERS
EPRAEECEBEBRERART R
FEE TR 2RI AR A RIR2020F &
2019F3A31H#ETT - AEEMRTE
BANEXRERBEFEMERE

e -
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36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. IR
Number of Share
shares capital
B 17 8B ] A&
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each EREEE.01TH
ZRER
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and  F2018F4/1H ~ 20194
2020 }202093H31H 1,560,000,000 15,600
Issued and fully paid ERITR#HE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 20184 A1H ~ 20194
2020 K 20203431 500,000,000 5,000
37. COMMITMENTS 37. A&
(a) Operating lease commitment (a) REMHEHAE
The Group as lessee AXEFEBAEA

The Group leases its office properties, site offices and
storage area. Leases are negotiated for an original
term of one to three years. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group had future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

AEBHEERAETWE
HMBHAERTHE - &FE
HEREVSAHE—E=F -
REFFEHR  NEER
BAARHEEERERT
BN ENRREEBEN
E /(N

2019

HK$'000

BT T

Within one year —FR 8,424
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEFRF

(BREEREMSF) 8,291

16,715

As at 31 March 2019, operating lease payments
represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of
its offices. Leases are negotiated for an average of
two to three years and rentals are fixed for two years.
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M201943A31H - KA E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

37. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Operating lease commitment (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of
properties which the leases were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group
has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
Group adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019
to recognise lease liabilities relating to these leases
(see note 3). From 1 April 2019 onwards, future
lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with the policies set out in note 3,
and the details regarding the Group's future lease
payments are disclosed in note 16A.

37. AE )

(a)

KREHERE(E)
KEBEBABAE)
AEEBAELEABREE BT
R B AAKERE
MEZWENEABA XE
EDRASETEBBEVN
JERE SR EERE16
e BEZ A E AEEF
FER2019F 418 &9 H1 ] &
% UAEREEZEHEEN
HEaE(RKFE3) - 52019
F4R1A#E - RRBAEKBE
ToAR 3R BT 5 3P 8k &9 B SR A AR
EHBERAERARRAEE
BfE MEBAEEKRKA
EFIERFIBRIR M 16A%K
?g °

Others (b) Hft
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEETRT BT T
Capital commitments contracted Tt 4% 8 1# 28 & 3% 1%
for but not provided in RERE B HE
the consolidated financial EETH B REE
statements in respect of K & A HE
acquisition of plant and
equipment 32,870 23,134
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. IARAME
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had provided RIERR REBEELUATE
the following guarantees: R
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Guarantees in respect of zero REEEEHUREHE
coupon bond in favor of holder Bt REIPFBEITOE
of the bond issued by the Group's FREARE @AY
associate R 59,582 18,401
Joint guarantee given by BGlI #= K8 R2019F3A4
Marine before the completion 52 X U B BT Bt LA B AT
of acquisition in March 2019 in EEERAR AT
respect of banking facilities in ABIERTTEL & 1 (B
favor of its former immediate AER
holding company = 280,128
Guarantees in respect of MEHNEFUNEERRA
performance bonds in favor of its Xz ARPER
clients 97,871 93,682
157,453 392,211

39.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it was not
probable that a claim would be made against the Group
under the relevant financial guarantees. The directors have
performed impairment assessment, and concluded that
there has been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition of these contracts. Accordingly, the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12 month
expected credit loss which is insignificant at the end of the
reporting period.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged
the following assets to banks and other financial institution
to secure the banking facilities (2019: banking and finance

39.

ARREERA REMEMB
ERAAREIRDAROATEED
KeBFRDETRENE  LRS
BIRERZEZANNAR  EERA
B I SR FEE IR N - H Ut - R EH]
R BREERREANEHEES
BeRAENEEBEEEMN -

EERA

RBERK  FERBEEEFUTE
ETRITREMSBEE - ARE
FAEBNIRITRE (20195 : 17

lease facilities) granted to the Group: LREHERME) ERA:
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Plant and equipment MEs R = 3,906
Other receivable H fib g Ug 5118 1,122 1,724
Contract asset EHEE 16,624 -
Trade receivable B 5 W IR 9,177 -
26,923 5,630
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes of the
Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a written resolution of the Company
passed on 25 November 2015 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees,
and will expire on 24 November 2025. Under the Scheme,
the board of directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible employees, including directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant
share options to outside third parties for settlement in
respect of goods or services provided to the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue during
any 12-month period, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

Options may be exercised at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from
the offer date subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof, and provided that the Board may determine the
minimum period for which an option has to be held or
other restrictions before its exercise. The exercise price is
determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Company’s share.

No share option has been granted since the Scheme
has been adopted. As at 31 March 2020, there are no
outstanding share options issued under the Scheme (2019:
nil).

40.
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URGOBERNAR S
ARTMREEEBRET D

RAFMBIREE((ZTED T
BIEARRATR2015FE1MA25A X 2
RAEBRAEEEERESRB
BAMZEARZRETEMATE
R2025F 11 A24H B 8] - iR 4E 5% 5t
g ARREEGRNAERESR
(BEARTIRENBRAAES)E
PEBRENARBARARKRNG - &
it AR R AT AN R SNEREE = 5 R
g R B M AR R IR A
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REEARNARRBLUE - BEBRE
ZETBIATRE R MR M IR () 48
HEBHBB AR R I AE RS %
TR EI10% « REEARNRIBRRE
SHE  REMFEEREMALR
B RATERHMERENE TR
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mEMBRRMHE

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated (a)
financial statements, during the vyear, the Group
entered into transactions with related parties as

1. BEBAERS
B A IS RE N E bt 5
7 g B R R B

BEEN

BT THIR5:

follows:
2020 2019
Related party Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
MR REME BT T BETT
Windmill Street Imputed interest income on bond 2,302 257
Windmill Street BHEmEERN S A
Pioneer National Development  Depreciation of right-of-use asset 1,033 -
Limited (note (i)) CREEENE
HEZBRERRB M Z0) Interest expense of lease liabilities 70 -
HMEGBHNMERX
Rental expenses - 1,050
HeM%
Asia Time Development Rental expenses (classified as short term 540 540
Limited (note (i) leases in year ended 31 March 2020)
BRERBBRARA M Z))  BeAX(BZE2020F3A318 LFEH
BREHES)
Hilton Development Limited Rental expenses (classified as short term 912 912
(note (i) leases in year ended 31 March 2020)
IERBRAERDAWZG)  BeAX(BZE2020F38318 LFEH
BREHES)
Land Treasure Development Rental expenses (classified as short term 804 804

Limited (note (i)
WRERERAR WM

leases in year ended 31 March 2020)
e (BZ202083A31HLFED
BAERBHESE)

Note:

The above transaction was conducted at terms
determined on a basis mutually agreed between the
Group and the related parties. The directors of the
Company have control and direct beneficial interest in
the above mentioned related parties.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

4. BEBEAR S\

(b) Compensation of key management

personnel

The directors of the Company consider that they and
one employee are the key management personnel
of the Group. Other than remuneration paid to the
directors of the Company and debentures held for
the benefits in kind of the director of the Company
as disclosed in notes 12 and 22, the Group paid
significant compensation to one key management
personnel during the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019, details of which are disclosed in note 13.

42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 5 March 2019, the Group acquired 70% of the
issued share capital of BGI Marine for consideration
of RMB85,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$99,127,000). This acquisition had been accounted for
using the acquisition method. The amount of goodwill
arising as a result of the acquisition was approximately
HK$15,875,000. BGI Marine and its subsidiaries were
engaged in the breeding and trading of aquatic products.
BGI Marine was acquired so as to continue the expansion
of the Group’s operation.

(b)

TEEBAENTMH

ARBEBERBFEER—F
BREAAEEMNETEEEA
8 BRI FARRIEEZMT
B K2 5 a0 BT sE12 2 22FT 3 BR
NARBEEEMANETAE
MEHF 2 AEEDFIR
#H £ 20204 X 201943A31H
IEFERM—RETEERAE
S mEEH - FBEEER
B EE13 ©

42. WEEH B F

MR2019F3A5H « A& E W EEE K
HFTOREEHTRA REAA
K #85,000,0007T (18 & R 4 & &
99,127,0007T) - Z W EEIEEF A
WEEAR WBEBEELEND
B & FH #4975 #515,875,0007T © FE KX
HFEREMBARINRBEREEER
BHEW - WHEEXEGFTETEE
BAAEEMNEE -

Consideration transferred CEERE
HK$'000
BT T
Cash R&e 14,200
Consideration payable JERRE 84,927
99,127
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mEMBRRMHE

42. WEEMI B 2 F (&)
R B RINCWBEE

42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the

date of acquisition are as follows: REEMT:

HK$'000
BT
Property, plant and equipment R Y 106,534

Financial assets at FVTPL ERBEBEEAFTETEZ
TREE 895
Other intangible assets HEMEEEE 3,894
Deferred tax assets LRI E E 375
Inventories BE 19,036
Trade receivables B 5 WA 31,005
Loan receivable FE W B 3 18,246

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables & BANZRER

H h & U R IE 48,217
Biological assets EMEE 32,390
Bank balances and cash WITHEH LIRS 36,295
Trade payables B 5 EMNRIE (14,871)
Accruals and other payables JEETB R K EMbER A (29,282)
Contract liability aRAE (15,231)
Tax payable & 7 18 (5,254)
Bank and other borrowings R RHEMEE (69,555)
Deferred income i UGN (34,500)
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIBEAE (2,871)
125,323

RUWEBENE S & H el K8
UREREZFHQAFEED BB
#49,729,0007T & /& #18,246,000
T RKERE  Z2S5EBEREBNE
5N E b fEUR FRIE LA K B U B SR
BEK ST R4 151,781,000
7T N 75 #518,246,0007T » AU EE R
BB TERENEHNESREN
&1EE 48 ¥2,052,0007T °

The fair value of trade and other receivables and
loan receivable at the date of acquisition amounted
to approximately HK$49,729,000 and HK$18,246,000
respectively. The gross contractual amounts of those
trade and other receivables and loan receivable acquired
amounted to approximately HK$51,781,000 and
HK$18,246,000 respectively at the date of acquisition.
The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual
cash flows not expected to be collected amounted to
approximately HK$2,052,000.

U B 48 B8 AR AR 4978 852,695,000 7T
EEEEZREFIBREERZE
EHERABAT Wit AGEBEZR
Hb2mEmBRAROITHRASLIRA -

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately
HK$2,695,000 had been excluded from the consideration
transferred and had been recognised as an expense in that
year, within the administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

42. W EE BB A B ()

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WIBEENEHE:
HK$'000
BT T
Consideration transferred EEERE 99,127
Non-controlling interests FEE AR HE 2 42,071
Less: net assets acquired W BWENEEFE (125,323)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEENEE 15,875

The non-controlling interests recognised at the
acquisition date included (i) an amount of approximately
HK$35,679,000 being the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of net identifiable
assets attributable to the owners of BGIl Marine; and (ii)
an amount of approximately HK$6,392,000 attributable to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries of BGI Marine.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

R H RN IEERERBE
(i) 49 7 #35,679,0007T » Bl EE K&
FHEANEGLUEZNFEEAT
BERIEERR = BN 0 58 (i)
RNEBFWNBRABIEIERERELE
B4 #4975 #6,392,0007T °

MEZSWBFHREENEHERY
A AR AE BB AR ©

Net cash inflow on acquisition of BGI Marine KMBERXRESFENFRERA
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration transferred BEZERESNE 14,200

Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired Jil: BEWHE KR & KR $

(36,295)

(22,095)

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2019
was loss of approximately HK$4,182,000 attributable to
the additional business generated by BGI Marine. Revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2019 included approximately
HK$8,609,000 generated from BGI Marine.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2018, total
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019
would have been approximately HK$740,075,000, and
profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 would have been
approximately HK$56,777,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 April 2018, nor is it intended to be
a projection of future results.

#H £2019F3A318 1k F E 8% 7
Bt AEREGIEENEMELDN
JEIRESE 478 854,182,0007T ° E &
20019F3A3IHIEFEM KR ZBIE
=R OE F E A R %78 8,609,000
5T e

fi] 2 & £ 15 B %2018 4H1H %
B ANEEEE2019F3A31HILE
€ /) #8427 # 78 ¥ 740,075,000
T REE2019F3A31HILEFER
S5 F 18 #4978 56,777,000 © HE
BREHZ2Z  THBEAMNKES
THE R2018F481HEK » A& H
AEEEMEE T R EEEZR
M EIERRIREENTEN -
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43,

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 per month, to
the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is matched by
employees.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this country participate
in respective government retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement benefits
of the eligible employees. Contribution made to the
Schemes is calculated based on the certain percentages
of the applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the
requirements in the PRC. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contribution under the Schemes.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities
in the Philippines, the subsidiary of the Group in this
country participates in respective Social Security System
(the “System”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to
contribute to the System to fund the social security benefits
of the eligible employees. Contribution made to the System
is calculated based on the certain percentages of the
applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements
in the Philippines. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the System is to pay the ongoing required
contribution under the System.

The total cost charged to profit or loss amounted to
approximately HK$8,919,000 (2019: HK$6,690,000) for
the year ended 31 March 2020. The payment represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in
respect of the current accounting period.
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AEBANREBHABARERERR
VohTESETE c rEEEHALE
BESARZE  BAXTAZHBHE
SEIE  c AEEZREBIERAN
5% (_EBR & & A% #1,50070) M58
BaorralfEb 3 mEBSMHER
b IR ARR o

RETEEHEERNRTE AKH
FAZN B B Y 8 1 7] 2 B AR B R AT AR
Ra M & (TEHE1)) - &t - MBS
REIAREIHK  REERER
MR ENEHES - S8R
AR5 P B B SR P AR TE A I AR T B A
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(20194 : B #6,690,0007T) ° %%
REAAEBEGA S M ENZ

SRR

191



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 44. KA TN AR R &«
THE COMPANY

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T 7T T
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RERARHIEE 14,808 14,808
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B A R 5B
(note a) (Kiita) 112,159 112,787
Prepayments IEENE 162 183
Tax recoverable GRS =R 120 23
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRR S 469 78
112,910 113,071
Current liability REEE
Other payables and accruals E b JE T RRIE K
fEstE A 561 733
Net current assets RBEEFE 112,349 112,338
Net assets EEFE 127,157 127,146
Capital and reserve EARGEE
Share capital g AR 5,000 5,000
Reserves (note b) 1% (B it h) 122,157 122,146
Total equity DB 127,157 127,146
Notes: & -
(a) The amounts are unsecured, non-interesting bearing and (a) %EHAEEWR TERERE
repayable on demand. K& -
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44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

44, 7T B B RS AR R 3R (@)

Notes: (continued) BiaE - (&)
(b) Movements in reserves (b) fEESH
Share Merger Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RAGE &OHEE AitkE8 st
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BETT BEFTT BETT
As at 1 April 2018 R2018F 4718 112,583 14,808 (5,381) 122,010
Profit and total comprehensive 4 A% F & 2 Uk 25 42 58
income for the year - - 136 136
As at 31 March 2019 M2019F3A31H 112,583 14,808 (5,245) 122,146
Profit and total comprehensive & A3 Fl| & 2 ] UK 25 48 58
income for the year - - 1 1
As at 31 March 2020 20205 3A31H 112,583 14,808 (5,234) 122,157
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mEMBRRMHE

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 45. KRR EEKHE AT
COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 K 201943 A31H » &AAF]
2020 and 2019 are as follows: MEBARFBEEINNT
Place of
incorporation/ Place of Issued and fully paid share capital/ Percentage of equity interest/voting
Name of subsidiaries establishment  operation registered capital power attributable to the Company Principal activities
HRAL/
WEATER RIMBE  SEHE BRARMRRE/ERES RAREERE/ ZARAIN TEEH
2020 2019 2020 2019

Direct  Indirect Direct  Indirect
BE BE EE B

Yee Hop Engineering Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Engineering and
HK$14,800,001 HK$14,800,001 construction
BATR Bt ik EaR gl - 100% - 100% TEREZE

EH14,800001C  EH14,800,0017

Yee Hop Construction Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Construction contracting
HK$1,000 HK$1,000
BARE B i Lak Lak - 100% - 100% BEAE
751,000 7% %1,0007T
Y.H. Foundations Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Engineering and
HK$1,000 HK$1,000 construction
ERE i B Lak LAk - 100% - 100% 100% I REE
81,0007 71,0007

Full Tech Equipment and Philippines Philippines Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Provision of logistic services
Machinery Inc. PHP21,250,000 PHP21,250,000 to construction and

mining sites

Full Tech Equipment and FEE EEE £ 1R21,250,0003 £ 21,250,000 - 100% - 100% FEERERLRR RN
Machinery Inc. RENE RENE R

Shenzhen BGI Marine Sci & Tech Co., PRC PRC RMB 100,000,000 RMB 85,375,000 - 70% - 70%  Investment holding, research
Ltd* RIEREERRERAA and development and
(notes (a) and (c)) breeding, sales and

trading of aquatic
products

RIEREEHRARAT TE HE ARE ARE - 70% - 0% RESR HEREE-#
(HZaR@) 100,000,007 85,375,0007C EREEKER

Zhenjiang Kehua Fishery Development PRC PRC RMB 10,000,000 RMB 10,000,000 - 70% - 70%  Breeding and trading of
Co, W*EIRERLERER aquatic products
7] (notes (a) and (d)

B S BRERAA & HE AR #10,000,0007C A K%10,000,0007 - 70% - 0% BEEREEKER
(Wit k)

Hainan BGI Marine Sci & Tech Co.,,  PRC PRC RMB 10,000,000 RMB 10,000,000 - 46% - 46%  Research, breeding and
Ltd*BRERTENREERAR (note (b)) (note (b)) trading of aquatic
(notes (a) and (d)) products

BRENEENRERAA Gk HE ARH10,000,0007C  ARH10,000,0007T - 46% - 4% WE FEREEKER
(Wit ) (B#wb) (Wit )

BGI Aquatic Product (HK) Company  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,553,860 HK$1,553,860 - 70% - 70%  Trading of aquatic products
Limited (note (a))

ERKEER)BRLANZ0) FR B EH1,553,8607T 1,553,860 - 70% - 0% EBEKER
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45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

COMPANY (continued)

Place of

incorporation/  Place of

Name of subsidiaries

establishment  operation

OF THE

Issued and fully paid share capital/
registered capital

45. XA ETEKBE QT (&)

Percentage of equity interest/voting
power attributable to the Company

Principal activities

HRBARL/
HEARER R % SEHY BRARARREA/ERER KRAEERE/ZAREAL TEEH
2020 2019 2020 2019
Direct Indirect ~ Direct  Indirect
B k3 B k3

BGI Academy of Marine Sciences* PRC PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 - 70% - 70%  Research and development
RYMEXTERER on breeding and
(notes (a) and () cultivation of aguatic

species

RITEREEHER hE FE ARH1,000000C  AR1,000,0007T - 70% - 0% BEREREEKENE
(Wi @) R @)

Zhenjiang Huayou Ecological PRC PRC RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 - 70% - 70%  Breeding and trading of
Agriculture Sci & Tech Co., aquatic products
LA ETERERRENR
BR D F(notes (3) and (d))

ETERLREENRERAR E HE AK#10,000,000 A K%10,000,0007 - 70% - 0% BEREEKER
(Wi @) k(@)

BGI Zhenjiang Detection Co., PRC PRC RMB4,199,000 RMB4,199,000 - 70% - 70%  Provision of laboratory test
Ld EIERBAERAE services and sales of
(notes (a) and (d)) aquatic products

BIZEARYIBRAT PE HE ARB4199,000  AR#4,199,0007 - 70% - 70% REARVARBLHEE
(HitE@E@) KER

Jiangsu Yihua Food Co,, Ltd.*  PRC PRC RMB 10,350,000 RMB 10,350,000 - 70% - 70%  Processing and trading of
IHEZERMBRAA aquatic products
(notes (a) and (d))

IHEZERABRAA HE HE AR#10350,000C A K%10,350,0007C - 70% - 0% MIREEKER
(Wi @) k@)

Hainan Haichang Prawn Breeding PRC PRC RMB2,550,000 RMB2,550,000 - 35% - 35%  Breeding and trading of
Co, d*EEBEHELE (note (c)) (note (c)) aquatic products
BB Fl(notes (3) and (d))

BHEEUREEERAR  HE FE AR#2,550000C  ARH2,550,0007 - 35% - 35% MIREEKER
(K #@k@) (W) (W)

Notes: Wiat -

(@) The subsidiaries were acquired on 5 March 2019. Details are (@ HMBARN2019F3A5HKE - &
set out in note 42. BT IBEH I 542 o

(b)  The subsidiary is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of BGI Marine (b) WEBRARABERNEFIIEZEHRABN
with effective equity interest attributable to the Group of 46%. BT MAASBEENERRE

46% °

() The subsidiaries are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of BGlI (c) WMEBARAZEKNEFIZERBMN
Marine with effective equity interest attributable to the Group BT MAASBEENERRE
of 35%. 35% -

(d)  These entities are registered as a private limited company under (d) ZEERRERREEETLATLA

the PRC law.

* Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only.
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mEMBRRMHE

45, PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other
subsidiaries that are not individually material to the Group.
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are sales of
aquatic products and investment holding. A summary of
these subsidiaries are set out as follows:

45,

KRB EEMBLF @)

ARABEERE  LRIEXEE
HB AR T EFEAEENESR
REENRAE ARAEERE
}IEL\/\WEM-JLJ%Z\\jE}]n$| 1 E 5
FILE °

RBREMR AEEHAHAKEHE
mE@RNBTEANNHEMWHEQ
Al ZEMBRAANIERERE
EKREMPERERER - ZFHEL
A EHIWT

_I

Number of subsidiaries

MEARIRE
2020 2019
Principal activity  Principal place of FTEEE MU
FTEEK business
Investment holding - Hong Kong - & 2 2
KEZER — The British Virgin Islands - EEBEXE B
(the “BVI") (ZBELHES) 8 8
Inactive - Hong Kong - & 4 4
5B — The PRC - 1 -
~ The BVI -KBRAES 1 1
- Australia = BN 1 1
- Laos - EZ1B 1 1
18 17

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
subsisting at the end of both years or at any time during
both years.

BEMFERIMFERNTARE - K
BRARAMEZTENFENERE
% o
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45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group that has non-controlling interests
that are material to the Group:

Place of
Proportion of
ownership interest

incorporation/

establishment and Proportion of voting

45,

AATEEME AT 45

FRARHA SR BT S BEA
PE s ELES RS
DR ZEE:

Loss attributable

Name of principal place of held by non-controlling power held by non-  to non-controlling Accumulated non-
subsidiary business interests controlling interests interests controlling interests
EMAYL/
B E R FERBEREN FEREEREMN
WEARERE TEEXLH REERERLA REELH FERERELER At FERER
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
% % % %  HK$'000 HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT AETT BEBTR EET
BGI Marine The PRC 30% 30% 30% 30% (2,074) (1,337) 52,653 40,734
ERGF #
2020 2019
HK$000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE 140,212 120,176
Current assets MEEE 141,895 142,745
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (29,702) (34,637)
Current liabilities mEBAE (122,327) (107,143)
Equity attributable to owners RATRHEBANEE#ER
of the Company 77,425 80,407
Non-controlling interests* ETERER 52,653 40,734
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45,

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

45. XABEEM B AT (&)

Year ended Period from

31 March 6 March 2019 to

2020 31 March 2019

H £20205 201943A6HZ

3H31H 20194 3A31H

LLFE |

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Revenue g 197,301 8,609

Expenses X (206,313) (12,791)

Loss for the year/period FHRANER (9,012) (4,182)
Loss attributable to owners of the RAREBAEILEE

Company (6,938) (2,845)
Loss attributable to non-controlling  FEJ% A4 25 FE AL B 1B *

interests* (2,074) (1,337)

Loss for the year/period FHANER (9,012) (4,182)
Net cash inflows from operating KETEEMBRER

activities ANFE 1,593 2,686

Net cash outflows used in investing R&EEAMAIRER
activities F R (7,324) (369)
Net cash outflows used in financing BIEEEFTAIRE R
activities F (4,387) (19,074)
Net cash outflows WL T8 (10,118) (16,757)
* The amounts included net assets or loss attributable to non- ZEeBBPRBRERNEGENBRARIEE

controlling interests of subsidiaries of BGI Marine.

BRESEEFEERBIE -
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46.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2020:

46.

METHELEZABHE

TREBNAEEREZHELZA
BEEBFIE  ERASRIFRSE
BomMETBELZABABER
BRNBRERANEERERERR

BARERDRSNNAFEE -

B Z£2020F3831HLLEE :

Non-cash changes

FRLEH
Financing Finance costs ~ New lease ~ Exchange
1/4/2019  cash flows incurred arrangements realignment  31/3/2020
20194 MmE FEXE 20206
481R ReRE REME HEEzHE ELEE 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000
BETr BETn BETR B¥ETn BT B¥Tn
Bank and other borrowings BT R E M E R
(note 32) (Bt ##32) 49,843 147,804 - - (1,629) 196,018
Interest payable [ ANRAD)
(included in Accruals and (FTAESERAR
other payables) H A & 50R) 699 (5,920) 7,052 - (83) 1,748
Amount due to a director FER — R B 2R
of a subsidiary —REENNE
(included in Accruals and (GrAEEERR
other payables) Hin N 50E) 5,680 (195) = = - 5,485
Lease liabilities HERE 14,373 (7,061) 524 938 (376) 8,398
70,595 134,628 1,576 938 (2,088) 211,649
For the year ended 31 March 2019: #HE2019F3A31HIEFE :
Non-cash changes
FReE
Acquisition of
Financing Finance costs subsidiaries Exchange
1/4/2018 cash flows incurred (note 42)  realignment  31/3/2019
20185 BE FEE WEHBAR 2019%
4A1E ReRE  BEMKK (Wita2)  EREE  3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  E%Tn  BETn BETT AETr A%Tn
Bank and other borrowings R 17 % E i (& 3
(note 32) (Bt 7#32) 12,079 (31,563) - 69,555 (228) 49,843
Interest payable FER IS
(included in Accruals and (FTAESERAR
other payables) Hio R 5E) - (1,433) 1,433 702 3) 699
Amount due to a director ER—RB AR
of a subsidiary —REENNE
(included in Accruals and (FIABSERK
other payables) Hin N 58) 658 5,022 - - - 5,680
Obligations under finance BEMEEMT
leases (note 33) (i 5#33) 6,704 (5,644) 115 - - 1,175
19,441 (33,618) 1,548 70,257 (231) 57397
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMHE

47.

48.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the vyear, the loan receivable of approximately
HK$18,180,000 (equivalent to RMB15,576,000) was settled
by plant and machinery from the vendor.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 17 April 2020 and 27 April 2020, the Group has
further subscribed zero coupon bond instruments at the
issue price of GBP630,000 and GBP1,972,701 issued by the
Group's associate at cash considerations of approximately
HK$6,096,000 and HK$18,984,000 respectively. Details are
set out in the announcements dated on 17 April 2020 and
27 April 2020 respectively.

On 6 May 2020, the Company has entered into a guarantee
agreement in favour of the bank, pursuant to which the
Company has agreed to guarantee the liabilities of BGI
Marine owed to the bank in a sum up to USD1,650,000
plus any interests accrued thereon and other expenses of
the bank in enforcing the guarantee agreement. Details are
set out in the announcements dated 6 May 2020.

The wide spread of the novel Coronavirus in China since the
beginning of 2020 is a fluid and challenging situation facing
all the industries of the society. The Group has already
assessed the overall impact of the situation on the operation
of the Group and taken all possible effective measures to
limit and keep the impact in control. The Group will keep
continuous attention on the change of situation and make
timely response and adjustments in the future.

47.

48.

FEFBEERS

FR - EWE R KA %18,180,000
T (A8 & » A R #15,576,0007T) JA
BRI EREWEE -

REHBRENH
#2020F4 178 & 2020F4 278 -
AEBE—FSREHEBERRD
B % 77 89 3 77 {8 /630,000 5 85
1IN EHENTEEES R
RAE 5 B4 &7 %6,096,0007T & 78
#%18,984,0007T * BEAFHIE D AIEH R
KA T HH A20205E4 4178 12020
FA4H27BM RS ©

M2020F5H6H * AN R Bl 7] 3 —
MURBITATZ ANERDE
Bl ARREBEREBEAEKNEF
HERIBITHEBIEER  BEA
1,650,000 JT I FE 5T 7 B A KR 8R1T7
WITERBHEMEENEMER -
EHAFBH N B A202065768

AN

A TREEZE2020F R R EE
WEE O HHESOTSEBRTE
TERRIENRDE - REBBF
HAEEEBERIHEETYE I
BEREL— Y] /] BE B A 15 1 LABR I
REFEEE - AEBEBEERT
FR B - W R AR R KB E H B fE
MAEER -
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFPBHRE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mEHEE
For the year ended 31 March HE3IANEHLEEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB T BB T BB T BB T
Revenue I &= 980,053 600,288 539,295 498,278 704,393
Cost of revenue 1 & P AR (870,409) (484,009) (452,802) (419,821) (530,887)
Gross profit EF 109,644 116,279 86,493 78,457 173,506
Gain from changes in fair value of ~ £¥EEAFEEH I
biological assets less costs R i k=g DN
to sell 13,196 410 - - -
Other income and gain L ONE & 45,803 1,933 1,896 2,526 3,413
Administrative and other expenses 17 BR Jz E fth B &% (110,389) (65,583) (51,372) (52,504) (62,247)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAXZ (21,177) (1,286) - - -
Impairment losses of CREEREEE
financial assets (1,996) - - - -
Share of result of an associate SME—HEEAREE 1,175 (4) 76 - -
Finance costs BMEKK (7.576) (1,548) (1,173) (1,601) (1,603)
Profit before taxation bR B Al i R 28,680 50,201 35,920 26,878 113,069
Income tax expense FBRiAEY (6,174) (10,481) (5,768) (4,344) (18,803)
Profit for the year £ 79 % I 22,506 39,720 30,152 22,534 94,266
Other comprehensive (expense) FRNEM2E D) Ka
income for the year (12,016) (4,079) 3,792 - -
Total comprehensive income ERN2ENEEE
for the year 10,490 35,641 33,944 22,534 94,266
As at 31 March M3A31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETL BETL BETL BETL
Non-current assets FRBEE 299,638 264,863 108,104 56,358 71,443
Current assets REBEE 495,096 403,921 278,820 276,533 310,801
Current liabilities mEBAE (372,311) (268,980) (99,588) (73,460) (136,755)
Net current assets MBEEFE 122,785 134,941 179,232 203,073 174,046
Total assets less current liabilities EEBTBRRDAER 422,423 399,804 287,336 259,431 245,489
Non-current liabilities ELEN=R (37.373) 41,312) (6,556) (12,595) (21,187)
Net assets EEFE 385,050 358,492 280,780 246,836 224,302
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Glossary
HEAAR

In this annual report (other than the Independent Auditor's Report
and Financial Information), unless the context otherwise requires,
the following expression shall have the following meanings:

“2020 Financial Year”

“2019 Corresponding
Year”

TAGM”

"Articles”

“BGI Marine”

“BGI Marine Group”

“Birmingham Property
Project”

“Board”
"BV
"CG Code”

"Company”

“connected person(s)”

“Controlling
Shareholder(s)”

"Directors”

for the year ended 31 March 2020

for the year ended 31 March 2019

Annual
Company

general meeting of the

the Articles of Association of the
Company, as amended from time to
time

Shenzhen BGI Marine Sci & Tech Co.
Ltd, a company incorporated in the
PRC and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company

BGI Marine and its subsidiaries

a project for the development of a
residential property which consists 304
apartments situated at Windmill Street,
Birmingham, the United Kingdom

the board of Directors of the Company
the British Virgin Islands

the Corporate Governance Code

Yee Hop Holdings Limited, an exempted
company incorporated in Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the shares of which

are listed on the Stock Exchange

has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules

has the meaning ascribed thereto under
the Listing Rules and, in the context of
the Company, means each of Mr. Jim,
Mr. Chui and JJ1318

the director(s) of the Company

RAFHRA B AZBEN RS R TEE R

BRON - BRIEXE R BATE
BRABUTESE:

[2020F A |
[20194F 7 5

(RBFAE]

(R4

[EABE]

[EXBFEE]

MaREM%RE]

[E%g]
[REEZES]
[ % ERTH

[RA7]

[E%)

BRI 5

HZE202063831HILEE

HZE2019F38318LEE

ALARBREFAE

TRRABERAY £

3T

FUNEXRBENBEBERA
AR EEMKTSD
B UAKRDRNEENE
NGl
ZREFERENBARA
—AFENELEEE B
& AR B BA B F Windmill
Street #1304 A &
ARBEES
HBERIES
EERTH
EARREBAR RE2

BEEMRINERLER
DA ABBRBR A LS

ARLTHRAMETHHRE

BRFTRAIFME RS
BRARDRIME  BEXE
R HERIN318

KAAFER
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Glossary

EAAE

"GBP"
"Group”

HHK$H
“Hong Kong” or

“JJ1318"

“Listing”
“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”

“Mr. Chui”

“Mr. Jim”

“PHP”

“PRC”
"Prospectus”
“RMB”

“SFO"

THK"

British Pound, the lawful currency of UK
the Company and its subsidiaries
lawful

Hong Kong dollars, the
currency of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

JJ1318 Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI, is wholly
owned by Mr. Jim and is a Controlling
Shareholder

the listing of the Shares on the Main
Board on 18 December 2015

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

the main board of the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming (& 88), an
Executive Director and a Controlling
Shareholder

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin (Z#EE¥), an
Executive Director and a Controlling
Shareholder

Philippines Peso, the lawful currency
of the Republic of Philippines

The People’s Republic of China

the prospectus in relation to the
Shares Offer of the Company dated 8
December 2015

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the
PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong)

Annual Report 2019/20 “F %R

[5%4)
[R%&HE]
[7E%]

(&%)

[1)1318]

[Em)

[ Al

[ExE]

[ERELR]

[

(AR ER]

ARE]

(&R ARRD)

REAEERRE
NGNS LN

BRAEEREE

TEEERHITHE

11318 Holdings Limited * 7
EBERUBESAMALOD
A HEXEREHREBLA
BERERE

W 13 12015F12 A18H # £
R £

BRAEF LA

B A E R
IMROTAZFETESFR
HHEETA

REBALE RRTESR
B RR

JTFJI

ERELE RUTESR
R 3R

e
He

FREANEETEEER
R

FEARLME
ANRIBEA2015%F12 A8H
BRABRNBEENBRER
FEETEBARE

BREBIE N EZESRBE
{6k B
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Glossary
HERAAR

“Share Option Scheme”

“Shareholder(s)”
“Shares”

“Shares Offer”

“Stock Exchange”

“Yee Hop Engineering”

“YH Global”

“YH Global Group”

the share option scheme adopted by
the Company pursuant to the written
resolutions of the Shareholders of the
Company passed on 25 November
2015

holder(s) of the Shares
Company from time to time

of the

Shares issued by the Company, with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each

the public offer and placing of totaling
125,000,000 new Shares of the
Company at the offer price of HK$1.00
under the Prospectus

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Yee Hop Engineering Company
Limited (& LR BRAA) a
company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability and an indirect
subsidiary of the Company

YH Global Trading Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability and an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company

YH Global and its subsidiaries and
associates (other than members of BGI
Marine Group”

(B8l

[Hefn % &)

[ 22 Ff |

[&aIi]

& AR

[EARKEHE]

ARARERDABKRER
015FNABEMBRER
REREMOERE 2

ARABRDZTEREA

ARRFMBOIEREERE
0.017T K fix 17

BEBRERNREBBIE
TOOTARBERREA R
125,000,000 % A 8] 37 i 0

BB ERIMARAT

BAIRARLDA RER
EMKIHARAR LR
RARMEENBRF

ERRBKARRA  REA
AR IHERAR LR
RARMBEENERF

£AERRANBATNR
BELA (FOEEATEE
Bk ARA)
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